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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Group is a long established contractor in Hong Kong and is
principally engaged in the provision of foundation works (including
the construction of mini-piles, rock-socketed steel H-piles and driven
steel H piles, and other civil work, including site formation works,
and road and pavement works) and tunneling works (including pipe
jacking, hand dig tunnel and cut-and-over tunnel works) in Hong
Kong and overseas.

In late March 2021, the Group has diversified and expanded to
premises revitalisation and enhancement business by entering
two cooperation agreements which relate to premises situated in
Guangzhou, a first-tier city in the PRC.

The Group has also invested in an associated company for the
purpose of the development of the Birmingham Property Project. The
Birmingham Property Project consists of 304 residential apartments
situated at the Windmill Street, Birmingham, the United Kingdom.
As at 31 March 2022, 79.9% of the apartments have been sold and
the share of profits from the Birmingham Property Project for the
2022 Financial Year was approximately HK$3.6 million.

In 2021, after a comprehensive and prudent assessment of the
results from each business segment, the Company has disposed
of the Group’s breeding, sales and trading of the aquatic products
business through the disposal of the entire interests in BGI Marine.
The disposal enables the Group to lessen the Group's financial
burden on sustaining the continued operation of BGI Marine, which
would improve the Group's overall liquidity and profitability.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

RESULT SUMMARY

During the 2022 Financial Year, the Group recorded a consolidated
revenue from the continuing operations of approximately
HK$736.0 million, representing a decrease of 14.8% from the 2021
Corresponding Year. Gross profit from the continuing operations
of the Group amounted to HK$103.9 million, an increase of 4.1%
from the 2021 Corresponding Year. Profit attributable to owners
of Company from the continuing operations amounted to HK$34.6
million representing a decrease of 57% as compared to that in the
2021 Corresponding Year. Earnings per share from continuing and
discontinued operations was HK$0.08 for the 2022 Financial Year
comparing with HK$0.10 for the 2021 Corresponding Year. The
Group maintains healthy financial position with net current assets of
HK$241.8 million and net cash position at the financial year end.

Despite the challenges and difficulties, brought by the COVID-19
pandemic with the dedicated support of our staff and customers,
the Group has been awarded 15 contracts with original contract
sums of totaling HK$922.5 million and the outstanding contract
value (based on the original contract value) as at 31 March 2022
amounted to approximately HK$906.9 million.

OUTLOOK

When compared with other industries in Hong Kong, the
construction industry is less affected under the current economic
environment. To support the employment market, the Hong Kong
SAR Government has adopted expansionary fiscal measures which
include continuous investment in infrastructure projects. We are
cautiously optimistic about the construction market in the medium
to the long term.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

The COVID-19 pandemic has halted the economy of many countries
around the world with closure of borders and movement control
restrictions. Even with roll-out of vaccination programs, the recovery
of the economy and the confidence of customers take time. The
management is of the view that the Hong Kong economy would
be challenging with the new norm that the COVID-19 will not die
out in the short run, but is still cautiously optimistic about our core
business performance in the coming year. The Group will take a
cautious approach in its business planning to weather the current
unfavourable environment.

APPRECIATION

I would like to this opportunity to express my heartfelt appreciation
to the board members, management team and staff for their
dedication and their valuable contributions.

I would also like to thank our customers, subcontractors and
suppliers, other business partners and, most importantly, our
Shareholders of their continue support to the Group for the past
years.

Jim Yin Kwan Jackin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a long established contractor in Hong Kong and is
principally engaged in the provision of foundation works (including
the construction of mini-piles, rock-socketed steel H-piles and driven
steel H piles, and other civil work, including site formation works,
and road and pavement works) and tunneling works (including pipe
jacking, hand dig tunnel and cut-and-over tunnel works) in Hong
Kong and overseas.

In late March 2021, the Group has diversified and expanded to
premises revitalisation and enhancement business by entering into
two cooperation agreements which relate to premises situated in
Guangzhou, a first-tier city in the PRC. As at 31 March 2022, the
Group has entered into four cooperation agreements which relate
to premises situated in Guangzhou and the aggregate estimated
gross leasable areas after renovation and enhancement works is
approximately 76,000 square meters.

The Group has also invested in an associate company for the
purpose of the development of the Birmingham Property Project. The
Birmingham Property Project consists of 304 residential apartments
situated at the Windmill Street, Birmingham, the United Kingdom.
As at 31 March 2022, 79.9% of the apartments have been sold and
the share of profits from the Birmingham Property Project for the
2022 Financial Year was approximately HK$3.6 million.

On 28 January 2022, the Group completed the disposal of its 70%
equity interests in BGI Marine and the breeding, sales and trading of
aquatic products and related services business was duly terminated.
In accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
the Group’s breeding, sales and trading of aquatic products and
related services business will be presented as a discontinued
operation, and the comparative financial statements of this annual
report have been restated to reflect the impact of the disposal of
the equity interests of BGI Marine. The Group currently retains three
business segments, namely the foundation and other civil works
business, tunneling works business and premises revitalisation and
enhancement business.

For the 2022 Financial Year, the revenue from continuing operation
of the Group decreased to approximately HK$736.0 million (2021
Corresponding Year: HK$863.9 million), a decrease of 14.8%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

During the 2022 Financial Year, the Group has been awarded 15
contracts with original contract sums of approximately HK$922.5
million of which 12 contracts are for foundation works and 3
contracts are for tunneling works in the sum of approximately
HK$501.8 million and HK$420.7 million respectively.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total of 26 major contracts
on hands with the outstanding contract value in Hong Kong
(based on the original contract value) amounted to approximately
HK$906.9 million (as at 31 March 2021: HK$586.2 million) to be
completed.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

When compared with other industries in Hong Kong, the
construction industry is less affected under the current economic
environment. To support the employment market, the Hong Kong
SAR Government has adopted expansionary fiscal measures which
include continuous investment in infrastructure projects. We are
cautiously optimistic about the construction market in the medium
to the long term.

In the coming year, the Group’s will focus in premises revitalization
and enhancement projects in Guangzhou, a first-year city in the PRC.
After the launch of all these projects, the Group will be operating
4 commercial units or shopping malls with a total gross leaseable
areas of 76,000 square meters.

The Group will continue to lease premises whose asset value has
declined, improves their design, convenience and security, and
introduces environment-friendly features, based on "value-up
plans" that reflect local characteristics and tenant needs, in order to
scaling up the premises revitalization and enhancement business and
increase the operating revenue.

The COVID-19 pandemic has halted the economy of many countries
around the world with closure of borders and movement control
restrictions. Even with roll-out of vaccination programs, the recovery
of the economy and the confidence of customers take time. The
management is of the view that the Hong Kong economy would
be challenging with the new norm that the COVID-19 will not die
out in the short run, but is still cautiously optimistic about our core
business performance in the coming year. The Group will take a
cautious approach in its business planning to weather the current
unfavourable environment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT
The Group has placed strong emphasis on quality assurance systems
and it has strong commitment to works’ quality, safety, occupational
health and environmental management to ensure delivery of quality
works to the customers on a timely basis.

The Group has implemented a stringent management system to
regulate its works’ quality, safety and environmental management
standards, which complies with international standards. The Group
has met the requirements of ISO 9001, ISO 14001, ISO 45001, I1SO
50001 and OHSAS 18001 accreditation for our quality management
system, environmental management system, energy management
system and occupational safety and health management system
respectively.

Same as previous years, the Group has maintained accident rates at
the construction sites lower than the industry average.

During the 2022 Financial Year, the Group has received the
following awards from Hong Kong SAR Government departments,
public utility companies and industry organizations on recognizing
our Group's effort on promoting and maintaining our site safety:

° Merit in Non-Public Works Sites — New Works & RMAA
Works and CCSA-Merit by 27th Development Bureau
Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme

o Model Subcontractor Award by 27th Development Bureau
Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme

o Outstanding Award in Joyful@Healthy Workplace Best
Practices Award by Occupational Safety and Health Council
2020-2021

o Outstanding Rookie Safety Performance Award by the 20th
Hong Kong Occupational Safety and Health Award
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW FOR CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

Revenue

For the 2022 Financial Year, the Group recorded a consolidated
revenue of approximately HK$736.0 million, a decrease of
approximately 14.8% comparing with the revenue of approximately
HK$863.9 million for the 2021 Corresponding Year. The decrease
in revenue is mainly due to the combined effect of the decrease in
the revenue of foundation and other civil works by approximately
HK$175.1 million and the increase in the revenue of tunneling
works by approximately HK$47.3 million.

Revenue from the foundation and other civil works segment
decreased from approximately HK$769.4 million for the 2021
Corresponding Year to approximately HK$594.3 million for the 2022
Financial Year, a decrease of approximately 22.8%. The decrease
in the revenue of the foundation works was primarily due to the
completion of sizable projects during the 2022 Financial Year and
the fifth wave of COVID-19 took an enormous toll on Hong Kong
and severely affected the construction work progress in the first
quarter of 2022.

Revenue from the tunneling works segment for the 2022 Financial
Year amounted to approximately HK$141.7 million representing
an increase of approximately 50.0% from the 2021 Corresponding
Year. Despite the effect of the fifth wave of COVID-19, the increase
in revenue from the tunneling works was primarily due to the full
swing of several projects commenced in the previous year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The overall gross profit of the Group increased from approximately
HK$99.8 million for the 2021 Corresponding Year to approximately
HK$103.9 million for the 2022 Financial Year, representing an
increase of approximately 4.1%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFNWR DM

The gross profit generated from the foundation and other civil
works maintained at approximately HK$91.4 million and HK$90.5
million for the 2022 Financial Year and 2021 Corresponding Year
respectively. The gross profit margin in relation to the foundation
and other civil works segment increased from approximately 11.8%
for the 2021 Corresponding Year to approximately 15.4% for
the 2022 Financial Year as a result of the recognition of HK$30.5
million revenue as a settlement of a claim for a foundation contract
of which the associated costs were all expensed in the previous
year. If excluding the above settlement of a claim, the gross profit
margin in relation to the foundation and other civil works segment
would be decreased from 11.8% for the 2021 Corresponding Year
to approximately 10.8% for the 2022 Financial Year, which mainly
affected by the increase in overall construction cost.

Gross profit in relation to tunneling works increased by
approximately HK$4.2 million from approximately HK$8.9 million for
the 2021 Corresponding Year to approximately HK$13.1 million for
the 2022 Financial Year. The gross profit margin for the tunneling
works segment slightly decreased from approximately 9.4% for
the 2021 Corresponding Year to approximately 9.2% for the 2022
Financial Year as a result of the increase in overall construction cost.

Other income and gain

Other income and gain for the 2022 Financial Year amounted to
HK$9.6 million, comparing with that of HK$40.8 million for the
2021 Corresponding Year. The decrease in other income and gain
mainly due to absence of Government grants in the 2022 Financial
Year as compared to the receipt in the 2021 Corresponding Year of
a total of approximately HK$21.9 million Government grants under
the “Anti-epidemic Fund” and the “Employment Support Scheme”
which were set up after the outbreak of the coronavirus disease in
2019.

Selling and distribution expenses
Selling and distribution expenses for the 2022 Financial Year
amounted to HK$223,000. The selling and distribution expenses was
mainly marketing and promotion expenses incurred by the premises
revitalisation and enhancement business.

Administrative and other expenses

Administrative and other expenses for the 2022 Financial Year
amounted to HK$66.1 million, comparing with that of HK$68.6
million for the 2021 Corresponding Year. The decrease in
administrative and other expenses was mainly attributable to the
decrease in general corporate expenses such as travelling as a result
of cost control measures.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

Finance costs

Finance cost of the Group for the 2022 Financial Year was
approximately HK$7.1 million, compared to approximately
HK$4.8 million for the 2021 Corresponding Year. The increase in
finance cost was mainly attributable to the increase in interests
on lease liabilities contributed from the premises revitalisation and
enhancement business.

Share of result of an associate

Share of result of an associate relates to the Group’s 40% interest in
an associate for the purpose of developing the Birmingham Property
Project. The Group’s share of profit of an associate for the 2022
Financial Year was approximately HK$3.6 million.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses increased by approximately HK$1.4 million
from approximately HK$6.9 million for the 2021 Corresponding
Year to approximately HK$8.3 million for the 2022 Financial Year
as a result of the absence of non-taxable income such as the
Government grants, which resulted a lower effective tax rate.

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company from
continuing operations

The consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the Company
from the continuing operations amounted to approximately
HK$34.6 million for the 2022 Financial Year when compared to
approximately HK$79.5 million for the 2021 Corresponding Year, a
decrease of 56.5%.

Return on total assets for the 2022 Financial Year decreased to
3.9%, from 8.2% for the 2021 Corresponding Year. The decrease
was due to the decrease in profits for the year. Return on equity for
the 2022 Financial Year was 7.3% when compared to 20% for the
2021 Corresponding Year. The decrease was due to the decrease in
profits attributable to the owners of the Company.

Capital expenditure
The Group incurred capital expenditure, primarily on investment

properties, machinery and equipment and motor vehicles, of
approximately HK$43.5 million for the 2022 Financial Year, (2021
Corresponding Year: approximately HK$40.7 million) which was
financed by internal resources and borrowings.
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Liquidity and financial resources
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had bank balances and cash of

approximately HK$161.4 million (as at 31 March 2021: HK$71.1
million).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had bank and other borrowings of
approximately HK$58.8 million (as at 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$153.8 million) out of which approximately HK$34.6 million (as
at 31 March 2021: HK$126.2 million) were classified under current
liabilities.

As at 31 March 2022 the Group had lease liabilities of approximately
HK$237.1 million (as at 31 March 2021: HK$138.7 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had net current assets
of approximately HK$241.8 million (as at 31 March 2021:
approximately HK$131.8 million).

The Group's current ratio (which is calculated on the basis of current
assets over current liabilities) as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March
2021 was approximately 2.6 times and 1.4 times respectively. The
gearing ratio (which is calculated on the basis of total debt over total
equity. Total debt includes bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities) of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021
was approximately 62.4% and 65.9% respectively.

Capital commitments
As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s capital commitments relating

to the renovation work of investment properties and purchase of
machinery and equipment was approximately HK$41.2 million (as at
31 March 2021: HK$4.4 million).

Pledge of assets
As at 31 March 2022, the Group has pledged to other financial

institutions of pledged deposits, of approximately in total HK$30.9
million (31 March 2021: nil million) to secure the banking facilities
granted to the Group.

Segmental information
Details of segmental information are set out in the note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Annual Report 2021/22 “F 3R

RBEESRMKEER

R2022F3A318  NEBABRITEHR K
B4 AE816148 87T (R2021F34
31 - BETIAEET) o

MR2022%38318 AEEMRITREAM
BEH A B8 8H 8 T (H2021F3A4
310 4B ¥153.8F B L) EFHE
34,68 8Bt (N2021F3A31H : B
1262B8 L) ENEERBAEE-

R20229F3A31H  AEBMHEEAEY
BB 237.18 & T (R20219F3A318 -
138 7TEEB T °

M2022%3A318  AEEN BB EEF
EH ABEE24188 & T (7A202143 831
B : 48131888 T) ©

A5 B 72022938318 202143 831
BRARBLE(RADEERAREAE
MEESE) DRI AE26ER1.4E - A&
Bl 7202293 H31H k202143 A31HH
BERBERE (W NIREBBERIAER
BREMELETE - EHBERERITREE
HmEEAREESE) 2 B4 AE62.4% %
65.9% °

B EIE

MR2022%3A318 AEBEEBEIEEWE
B BRI T2 I B8 B M e iR ) B AN R
HRABMEL 288 T (FR2021F3A318 -
BEEEALEETT) °

EEKH

MR2022%3A318 - AEE A E b B
BEHA ELOBE3095 87T (2021F3 A
31H:ZEEETT) NEEETFR - BER
FAREERITREE R IF o

7 ERE
7 EE R FHIREN AR A M IS MR MRS

13




14

Yee Hop Holdings Limited 3% & 1ZX AR A 7

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

Foreign exchange risk management

Apart from the interest in an associate of which the underlining
functional currency is GBP, and the subsidiaries in the Philippines
and the PRC of which the underling functional currencies are PHP
and RMB respectively, the revenue, expenses, monetary assets and
liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar
(which is the presentation currency of the financial information),
same as the functional currency of the Group.

For the 2022 Financial Year, apart from the interest in an associate
in the United Kingdom and subsidiaries in the Philippines and the
PRC, there was no significant exposure to the foreign currency
rate fluctuations from the operations of the Group. The Group
did not maintain any hedging policy against foreign currency risk.
The management will closely monitor the exposure to the foreign
currency risk and will consider hedging significant currency exposure
should the need arise.

Contingent liabilities
Details of contingent liabilities are set out in the note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has 398 employees in Hong
Kong (as at 31 March 2021: 426), 65 employees in the Philippines
(as at 31 March 2021: 119) and 48 employees in PRC (as at 31
March 2021: 154). The remuneration package of the Group for
its employees includes salary, bonuses, other cash subsidies and
allowances. In general, employee salaries are determined based on
each employee’s qualifications, experience and capability and the
market remuneration rate. The Group has an annual review system
to assess the performance of our employees, which forms the
basis with respect to salary adjustments, bonuses and promotions.
Some in-house site staff are employed as daily workers and their
remuneration package includes salary and overtime allowances. The
employee remuneration expense and Directors’ emoluments from
continuing and discontinued operations (including salaries, other
benefits and retirement benefit costs) amounted to approximately
HK$208.4 million (2021 Corresponding Year: HK$231.9 million) for
the 2022 Financial Year.
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MATERIAL DISPOSALS AND SIGNIFICANT
INVESTMENT

Disposal of 70% Equity Interests in BGI Marine

On 16 December 2021, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (“SPA") with Shenzhen City Dabaihui Ocean Technology
Company Limited* (RIITTARBEERFREEEFRAA) (the
“Purchaser”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell and the
Purchaser agreed to purchase the sale equity interests (representing
70% of the entire equity interest of BGl Marine) at a total
consideration of RMB86 million. The SPA was subjected to reporting,
circular and shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing
Rules. The SPA was completed on 28 January 2022 and immediately
after completion, BGI Marine and its subsidiaries (the “BGI Marine
Group”) were ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company and the
financial results of the BGI Marine Group are no longer consolidated
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 16 December
2021, 7 January 2022 and 28 January 2022, and circular of the
Company dated 20 January 2022.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividends has been paid by the Group during the 2022

Financial Year (2021 Corresponding Year: Nil).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend to
the Shareholders of the Company for the 2022 Financial Year (2021
Corresponding Year: Nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and senior management of the Company commit to
achieve a high standard of corporate governance, to formulate good
corporate governance practice for improvement of accountability
and transparency in operations, and to strengthen the internal
control and risk management systems from time to time so as
to ensure to protect the rights of the shareholders and enhance
shareholder value.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG
code under Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the code provision of the CG Code during the 2022
Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix

10 of the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiries
with all Directors and all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the standards required by the Model Code during the
2022 Financial Year (the “CG Reporting Period”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall Accountability

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and in discharging its
corporate accountability. The Directors, individually and collectively,
must act in good faith in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders and fulfill their fiduciary duties by applying the required
level of skills, care and diligence to a standard in accordance with
the statutory requirements.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for formulating group policies and business
directions, and monitoring internal controls and performances. The
management has been delegated the authority and responsibility by
the Board for the operations of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board committees,
namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee.
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BEEEMAK
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Composition of the Board

As at 31 March 2022, the Board comprises nine members including
five Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and three
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The current Board members are: REEFERENT :

Name Present position "AE NS A

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin Chairman of the Board ERmELE BEEIE

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming Vice Chairman RERAALE  BlERE

Mr. YAN Chi Tat Chief Executive Officer BEESRE  TTHAHR

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick  Executive Director RIEHFTE  HTES

Mr. XU JunMin Executive Director REREE HTESF

Mr. WANG Jian Non-executive Director AR AE FEHITES

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu Independent Non-executive Director ~ Z#EJKSEE BIUIFENTES
Mr. YU Hon Kwan Independent Non-executive Director ~— FZEHGLE  BIUIERNITES
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny Independent Non-executive Director ~ EEGRS5E  BUIENTES

The composition of the Board has a balance and diverse skill,
experience and professional knowledge in construction business, as
well as finance, accounting and legal expertise appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Group.

The biographies details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report. There is no family relationship among the Directors.

As permitted under the Articles, the Company has arranged
Directors and Officers Liability Insurance in respect of any legal
actions which may be taken against Directors and management in
execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirement of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board and
with at least one Independent Non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Board is headed by the Chairman Mr. Jim Yin Kwan Jackin, with
the assistance of the Vice-chairman, Mr. Chui Mo Ming. The roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Yan Chi Tat, are
segregated and not exercised by the same individual.
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The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and effective running
of the Board and ensuring that all material issues are discussed by
the Board in a timely and constructive manner. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for the management of the Group’s business
and the implementation of the approved strategies of the Group. In
addition, each Executive Director is responsible for the management
of the different functions of the business of the Group.

With the support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman ensures
that all the Directors are properly briefed on issues arising from
Board meetings and be provided with adequate information in a
timely manner.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
or letter of appointment with the Company with a fixed term,
subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with the Articles
of the Company.

According to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
re-election. Each of the Non-executive Director and Independent
Non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement or
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years,
subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with Articles of
the Company.

Each of the Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors may terminate his appointment by giving a three-month/
one-month prior written notice to the Company or in accordance
with the terms set out in the respective service agreement or letter
of appointment.

The Articles of the Company provides that any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office until
the first general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting, and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee for overseeing specific
aspects of the Company’s affair under its defined scope of duties
and term of reference. The terms of reference of each of the Board
Committees are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. Details of each committee are discussed below.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee is currently made
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among other things,
to review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal
control and risk management systems of the Group.

As at 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee consists of three
members who are the Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, Mr. YU Hon Kwan and Mr. WONG Chi Keung
Johnny. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. LEE Luk Shiu.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had held
three meetings and performed following work:

o Reviewed the Group’s audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021 in conjunction with the Auditor and the
unaudited consolidated financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2021,

o Reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,
including the key audit matters of the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 which
are set out in the annual report of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2021;

o Reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed
their potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;

o Reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function
performed by independent professional adviser;

o Reviewed the risk assessment and internal control report and
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
system,;

o Reviewed the continuing connected transactions conducted by
the Group; and

o Considered and made recommendations on the
re-appointment of the Auditor of the Group, and the terms of
engagement.
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The members of the Audit Committee have a private meeting with
the Auditors, without the presence of the management, to discuss
matters in relation to the audit of the Group.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration Committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is currently
made available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are, among other things, to review and to determine the terms of
remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation payable
to the Directors and senior management.

As at 31 March 2022, the Remuneration Committee consists of
four members, namely Mr. YU Hon Kwan, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin,
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu. The Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. YU Hon Kwan.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has
held two meetings. The major work performed by the Remuneration
Committee included reviewing of the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management with reference to the remuneration level
of comparable companies, and responsibilities, performance and
contributions of Directors and senior management. No Director is
allowed to take part in any discussion about his own remuneration.

Details of the remuneration paid to Directors and the five highest
paid employees are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of remuneration of the members of senior management by
band for the 2022 Financial Year are set out below:
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. A
revised term of reference has been adopted on 31 December
2018 to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The revised
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is currently
made available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The primary function of the Nomination Committee is
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the management of the Board
succession. It also oversees the diversity policy of the Group.

As at 31 March 2022, the Nomination Committee consists of four
members, namely Mr. YU Hon Kwan, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin,
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu. The Chairman
of the Nomination Committee is Mr. YU Hon Kwan.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has
held two meetings. The major work performed by the Nomination
Committee included assessing the independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors, reviewing the rotation of the Directors for
the re-election at the AGM and reviewing the composition, the size
and the diversity of the Board in accordance with the board diversity
policy adopted by the Company.

Pursuant to the CG Code, a separate ordinary resolution will be
proposed at the AGM for Shareholders to consider and approve the
re-election of the retiring Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board adopted a board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognised
and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. While
all Board appointments will continue to the made on a merit basis,
the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of
the Company’s business. Selection of candidates will be based on
the Company’s Board Nomination Policy and a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, experience (professional or otherwise),
ethnicity, skills and knowledge and length of service.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises nine RAFHRAH ESgHNBESHEK -
Directors. The following tables further illustrate the diversity of the TRE-—THPEEAFRAPESTS K

Board members as of the date of this annual report: BMZ Tt
50-59 60 and above
Name of Directors EENR 50 -59%% 605 & M £
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERmEE L v
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming HEBEELE Vv
Mr. YAN Chi Tat BEELE v
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick BN v
Mr. XU JunMin RERLE v
Mr. WANG Jian TEREE V
(appointed on 19 April 2021) (R2021F4719H EZ(F)
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu I EE v
Mr. YU Hon Kwan FOBR A Vv
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FTEBEE v
Professional Experience
BELER
Aquatic
Engineering organism
and Accounting genomics
construction Law  and Finance research
KEEY
ER48
Name of Directors EEitg IRREE BE BHREE W&
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin BEBAE |
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming BREAEE {
Mr. YAN Chi Tat BEERE |
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick RIER T {
Mr. XU JunMin RER%E |
Mr. WANG Jian yig =yl {
(appointed on 19 April 2021) (R2021F4719A B ZH)
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu Fkirsk |
Mr. YU Hon Kwan REHEE i
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny THRgE {

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the  REZEZEE@BEBEETSZ LLBENE
Board Diversity Policy and report the Board annually. M WEFRESZER-




Corporate Governance Report

EEERRE

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Nomination Policy for the
Nomination Committee to consider and make recommendations to
Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint
as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

1. reputation for integrity;

2. accomplishment and experience in the business in which the
Group is engaged in;

3. commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

4. diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to race,
gender, age (18 years or above), educational background,
professional experience, skills and length of service;

5. qualifications which include professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

6.  the number of existing directorships and other commitments
that may demand the attention of the candidate;

7. requirement for the Board to have Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in Rules 3.08, 3.09 and
3.13 of the Listing Rules;

8. Board Diversity Policy of the Company and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for
achieving diversity on the Board; and

9. such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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Director Nomination Procedure

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of the Company and the
Listing Rules, if the Board recognises the need for an additional
Director or a member of senior management, the following
procedure will be followed:

1. The Nomination Committee and/or Board will identify potential
candidates based on the criteria as set out in the selection
criteria, possibly with assistance from external agencies and/or
advisors;

2. The Nomination Committee and/or the Company Secretary of
the Company will then provide the Board with the biographical
details and details of the relationship between the candidate
and the Company and/or Directors, directorships held, skills
and experience, other positions which involve significant time
commitment and any other particulars required by the Listing
Rules, the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and other
regulatory requirements for any candidate for appointment to
the Board;

3. The Nomination Commit tee would then make
recommendation to the Board on the proposed candidate(s)
and the terms and conditions of the appointment;

4. The Nomination Committee should ensure that the proposed
candidate(s) will enhance the diversity of the Board;

5. In the case of the appointment of an Independent
Non-executive Director, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should obtain all information in relation to the
proposed Director to allow the Board to adequately assess the
independence of the Director in accordance with the factors
set out in Rules 3.08, 3.09 and 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock
Exchange from time to time; and

6.  The Board will then deliberate and decide on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Company generally convenes four regular Board meetings per
year or more meetings when necessary. During the CG Reporting
Period, 18 Board meetings were held, inter alia, to consider and
approve the matters recommended by the Board Committees,
including the interim report and annual report, the continuing
connected transactions, subscription of bonds, to review and
discuss the financial operation of the Group and appointment of an
Executive Director. The table below sets out the attendance of each
Director at the AGM and the meetings of the Board and other Board
committees held during the 2022 Financial Year:
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Exgg2

ARB—REFARANAERE=TS SR
INEFERIEMERAE - REEER
BEME BrTskEEgeE A (H
TEE)ERAIEEEEZEEMER
MEE(BETPHBSRFR FHE@E
X5 RBES BT RTRASENMT
BEERZENTES - TREJIBLE
FHER2022F M BFERITHRRIBF
AREREFERAMEFEZE AN

B :

Audit Remuneration Nomination
AGM Board Committee committee committee
RRAFAE 28 ERZEE HMEEE REZREE
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERELE 17 18/18 NATER 2 20
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming BRRALE 11 18/18 NATER NATER NATER
Mr. YAN Chi Tat FEELE 17N 18/18 NATER NATER NATER
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick 23 %t 4 101 17118 NATER NAZ B NAT &
Mr. XU JunMin RERTE 11 16/18 NATER NATE NATR
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. WANG Jian (@ppointedon ST ELAE 171 12115 NATE R NA B R NATER
19 April 2021) (M2021F4R19BEE )
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTEES
Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FRkEE 11 18/18 33 0 W),
Mr. YU Hon Kwan RERE 4 11 1718 33 n m
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny THEEE 17 18/18 33 22 22

Formal notices of Board meeting have been given to all Directors
at least 14 days before the meeting, or reasonable time period as
allowed by the Directors. Notices and agenda of the Board meeting
are prepared by the Company Secretary as delegated by the
Chairman. All Directors are given opportunity to include any matters
which they believe to be appropriate in the agenda of the Board
meetings.

EEEeRNEAERENGREITH
PLORAREEETRTNAERRAANZXZ
PREFE - AFEFESHRBREREREH
EEgIREIRAANEARRE - 28
EEEARERLIMRER/AERN
ZERIKEINABEEERRHRE -
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Agenda and relevant information of Board meeting with adequate
background information and supporting analysis are made available
to the Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of the
Board meeting. All Directors are given separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management for further information
and enquiries. The Company Secretary and senior management
will attend all the meetings of the Board and Board Committees to
advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance and financial
matters.

Any material matters that would have conflict of interest between
the Directors/substantial shareholders and the Company will be dealt
with in the Board meeting. Pursuant to the Articles, a Director is not
entitled to vote on (nor is counted in the quorum) any resolution of
the Board in respect of any contract or arrangement or any other
proposal whatsoever in which he or any of his associates (including
any person who would be deemed to be an “associate” of the
Directors under the Listing Rules) has any material interest, except in
certain special circumstances. The Chairman of the Board meeting is
required to ensure that each Director is aware of such requirement
at the commencement of each Board meeting and declaration of
interest is properly made in the Board meeting where conflicts of
interest arise.

Directors have access to advices and services of the Company
Secretary and key officers of the Company in relation to the Board
procedures. Draft minutes of the Board/Board Committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient details. The matters considered by
participants of such meetings and decisions reached are forwarded
to participants for comments within a reasonable time after the
meetings and final versions of minutes of Board meetings and
meetings of Board Committee are kept by the Company Secretary,
which are open for inspection by any Directors at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice.

Board members are provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow the Directors to fulfill their duties properly.
Directors may seek independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense, if necessary, with the approval of the Board.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Chairman has held a private
meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Executive Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to keep abreast of their responsibilities
as a Director and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. The Company from time to time updates the
Directors on the latest regulatory and governance developments.

Directors are encouraged to participate in professional development
courses and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills relating to the roles, functions and duties of a Director
of a listed company. Directors are regularly updated on the latest
development on the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure their contributions to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Directors participated in
the following trainings:
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Types of training

EIER
Executive Directors HITES:
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERELA A B
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming RECBAE A A, B
Mr. YAN Chi Tat LEE SR AL A B
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick BRI A B
Mr. XU JunMin RERSLLE A B
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. WANG Jian ERE A A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES:
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FRIKFTE A B
Mr. YU Hong Kwan RIBMLE A, B
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FEBESE A B
A:  attending in house training sessions. A ZEQFIREEIIRE
B: reading newspapers, journals and updates distributed by the Group relating B: MEAEBRTHERSE  BEREEK

to the economy, general business and regulatory matters.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDITING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in preparing the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give
a true and fair view of the Group's state of affairs, results and cash
flows and in accordance with the relevant accounting standards and
principles and the disclosure requirements under applicable laws and
regulations in Hong Kong.

BIRIFRAR « MEREIEH ©
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2022, the generally accepted accounting principles
in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong
Kong Accounting Standards are adopted, with consistent use of
appropriate accounting policies, for making reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates. The consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2022 have been prepared on a going
concern basis. The reporting responsibilities of the Auditors are set
out in the Independent Auditors’ Report in this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy, pursuant to which
the Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the shareholders of the Company, subject to the Memorandum and
Articles of the Company and the applicable laws and regulations of
Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands, any other laws and regulations
applicable to the Company and the factors set out in the Dividend
Policy.

The Board shall also take into account the actual and expected
operation and financial performance of the Group; the retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company; the expected
working capital requirement and economic outlook for business
strategy and future expansion plan of the Group; the financial
and liquidity position of the Group; the financial covenants and
restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
lenders of the Group; the statutory and regulatory restrictions
and taxation implications; the general economic conditions and
other internal and external factors that may have an impact on
the business of the Group; and other factors that the Board may
consider relevant when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall
in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no
way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems and for reviewing
their effectiveness, particularly in respect of controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group'’s assets.
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The internal control and risk management systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance. The systems aim
to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks of failure in achieving the
Company’s objectives.

The Company does not establish an internal audit function. The
Group has engaged an external internal control consultant to
review various aspects of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group. The Board, through the Audit Committee,
has reviewed the result of the work of the external internal control
consultant in relation to the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems of the Group, including the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function. The Audit Committee
oversees the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group and reports any material issues to the Board.

Based on the result of the reviews as mentioned above, the Board
considered that proper internal control and risk management
systems are in place and implemented effectively.

The Group has implemented the management and quality assurance
standards in accordance with the standards of International
Organisation for Standardisation in respect of ISO 9001 (quality
management systems), ISO 14001 (environmental management
system) and ISO 50001 (energy management system). In addition,
the Group has implemented the occupational health and safety
management system in accordance with the requirements of ISO
45001 (Occupational Health and Safety) and OHSAS 18001 of
Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Specification. The
Group has met the requirements of the annual review conducted by
the external consultants.

The Group has engaged Registered Safety Auditors to conduct
independent safety and health audit in relation to the effectiveness,
efficiency and reliability of safety and health management systems
in accordance with the requirements under the Code of Practice on
Safety Management for various construction sites during the CG
Reporting Period. Improvements had been implemented according
to the recommendations of the Registered Safety Auditors.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to avoid any future competition between the Group and
the Controlling Shareholders, each of the Controlling Shareholders
has executed a deed of non-competition dated 25 November 2015
(the "Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the Company.
Pursuant to the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition, each of
the Controlling Shareholders has undertaken, among others, in
favour of the Company that he/it will not and will procure his/its
close associates not to engage in any business which may be in
competition with the business carried on by the Group from time to
time. The Independent Non-executive Directors have also reviewed
the status of compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders
with the Deed of Non-Competition and as far as the Independent
Non-executive Directors can ascertain, there is no breach of any of
the Deed of Non-Competition.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION
The remuneration paid or payable to SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited

and its affiliated company in respect of the audit services and

THERE
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non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2022 are as follows: R EHAT AR A 7 R H B E N T A B
ST
Fee paid/
payables
g ENER
HK$'000
Nature of Services BR# M E BT
Audit services BNz R
— consolidated financial statements of the Group ~ — REE2022F B B FE 4174 B 75
for the 2022 Financial Year EES 1,150
Non-audit services FEEIZ R
— Agreed upon procedures on interim report for  — 1% 7€ & /8 B 15 7R 4 2E A 55440055
the period ended 30 September 2021 HTBBE=20219F9A30H 1E
under HKFRS 4400 HEN T HRENERF 190

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey, the Company Secretary of the
Company, is the primary contact person of the Board for all
matters relating to corporate governance and board procedures.
All Directors have access to the Company Secretary to ensure that
Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. During the CG Reporting Period, he had taken relevant
professional trainings as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. The details of the biographical of the Company Secretary are
set out on page 38 of this annual report.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Group also recognises the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
enables Shareholders and investors to make appropriate investment
decisions.

All the members of the Board and Board committees and the
Auditor have attended the 2021 AGM to answer Shareholders’
questions. Circular and notice of the 2021 AGM have been
distributed to all Shareholders before the 2021 AGM in accordance
with the timeline requirement as laid down in the Listing Rules and
the Articles. All the resolutions proposed to be approved at the 2021
AGM have been taken by poll and poll voting results have been
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
after the 2021 AGM.

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Group
maintains a website where information on the Company’s
announcements, financial information and other information
are posted. Shareholders and investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong with any
enquiries.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

1) Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM")
Pursuant to the Articles 64 of the Articles of the Company,
an extraordinary general meeting can be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth (10%) of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing
to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company for
the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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2) Procedures for putting forward proposals at 2 RAREASREEZNERF

3)

Shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles of the Company or
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands for Shareholders
to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns together
with their names and contact information to the Board by
addressing them to the head office in Hong Kong at Units
1104-1106, Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong by post or email to
info@yee-hop.com.hk for the attention of the Chairman of the
Board. The Board will reply the enquiries and concerns as soon
as possible.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice and
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted an amended and restated Memorandum
and Articles of the Company (the “Constitutional Documents”)
on 25 November 2015 and effective upon the Listing. A copy of the
Company’s updated Constitutional Documents is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the CG Reporting Period, there is no change to the
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The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited has recently announced
various amendments to the Listing Rules to implement the proposals
under the “Constitution Conclusion Paper on Listing Regime for
Overseas Issuers” published on 19 November 2021.

The amendments to the Listing Rules have already taken effect from
1 January 2022 and include the introduction of one common set
of core shareholder protection standards (set out in Appendix 3 to
the Listing Rules) that will apply to all listed issuers to provide the
same level of protection to all investors. To conform with the core
shareholder protection standards, the Directors recommended that
the articles of association of the Company be amended. A proposal
on amending the articles of association and the adoption of a new
articles of association will be put forward at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and details of the proposed amendments will be set
out in the notice of the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jim Yin Kwan Jackin (&# &) , aged 60, an Executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board, a member of both the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Jim is one of the founders of the Group. He is also a
director of various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Jim has over 30 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Jim is responsible for formulating
corporate strategies and planning the business development of
the Group. Mr. Jim graduated from the University of Reading with
a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying and holds a
Master’s Degree of Business Administration in Management from
the Brighton University.

Mr. Chui Mo Ming (#RiXH83) , aged 69, an Executive Director and
the Vice-chairman of the Board. Mr. Chui is one of the founders of
the Group. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Chui has over 45 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Chui is responsible for the formulating the
corporate strategies of the Group. Mr. Chui has been a construction
supervisor member of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction
Managers since August 2003.

Mr. Yan Chi Tat (alias: Andrew) (EE&K#Z) , aged 55, an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Mr. Yan
joined the Group in October 2010. He is also a director of Yee Hop
Engineering.

Mr. Yan has over 25 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Yan is responsible for formulating
corporate and business strategies and operations of the Group.
Mr. Yan graduated from the South Bank University with a Bachelor’s
Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying. He is an associate of The
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and a professional associate of
The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. He has been a Registered
Professional Surveyor since July 2004.
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Mr. Leung Hung Kwong Derrick (R#¥) , aged 53, an
Executive Director. Mr. Leung joined the Group in August 2008. He
is also a director of Yee Hop Engineering.

Mr. Leung has been the Technical Director of Yee Hop Engineering
for its registration as a Registered General Building Contractor
and Registered Specialist Contractor in the foundation works
category with the Buildings Department since 2008 and 2011
respectively. He has over 25 years of experience in the engineering
and construction industry. Mr. Leung is responsible for formulating
the corporate business strategies. Mr. Leung graduated from the
National Taiwan University with a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in
Engineering. He holds a Master's Degree of Philosophy in Civil &
Structural Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
& Technology. He is currently a Registered Professional Engineer
(Geotechnical, Structural). He is a member of the Institution of
Structural Engineers and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.

Mr. Derrick Leung is an Independent Non-executive Director of Chi
Ho Development Holdings Ltd (Stock Code: 8423), the shares of
which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. The principal
business of Chi Ho Development Holdings Ltd is the provision of
renovation, maintenance and fitting-out works.

Mr. Xu JunMin (#2ER) , aged 50, an Executive Director. Mr. Xu
joined the Group in 2019 and was appointed as an Executive
Director on 25 October 2019. He is also a director and legal
representative of the BGl Marine, a former indirect subsidiary of the
Group. Mr. Xu joined the BGI Marine Group since February 2015.

Mr. Xu JunMin has over 20 years of experience in omics research
of aquatic animals, conservation of aquatic germplasm resources,
ecological and industrial aquaculture, import and export trade of
aquatic products. Mr. Xu JunMin holds a Master’s Degree in Animal
Nutrition from the Shanghai Ocean University (/88 K2) . He
is currently the Vice Chairman of the China Nutrition and Health
Food Association (Bl & FERER MW E), Member of National
Technical Committee 64 on Food Industry of Standardization
Administration of China (2BIRE @ TEETE(RMEZE S

Member of the Yangtze Rare Fish Standardization Commission of
the Fishery Industry in Jiangsu CT 8k & REEER IR AEERE
HliZ 8 &) and recognised as High-level Professional in Shenzhen.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wang Jian (CE#) , aged 68, a Non-Executive Director.
Mr. Wang joined the Group in 2021 and was appointed as a Non-
Executive Director on 19 April 2021.

Mr. Wang is a famous scientist specializing in human genomics and
has over 30 years of experience in genomics research which covers
human genomics, animal and plant genomics and microbiology.
Mr. Wang graduated from the Hunan Medical College (#FgEEE2
Bt) (currently known as “Central South University Xiangya School
of Medicine* (FRREIAREMRIEESF) ) in 1979 and earned a
Master degree in Integrated Medicines from the Beijing College of
Traditional Chinese Medicine* (dtZHEEZEE)  (currently known
as “Beijing University of Chinese Medicine* (dbFRFhEE &AL E) )
in 1986. From 1988 to 1994, Mr. Wang continued his studies
at overseas focusing on cell proliferation and differentiation as a
research fellowship at the University of Texas, the University of lowa
and the University of Washington.

Mr. Wang currently served as the chairman of BGI Genomics Co.,
Ltd. CRYIFEARERARMHGERZAR) (“BGl Genomics”) (a company
listed in the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300676), the
chairman and general manager of BGI Shenzhen CFIIIEERERAF
RAMAF) (a company incorporated in the PRC and the holding
company of BGI Genomics); and the chairman of MGI Tech Co., Ltd

CORYIFERBERERMNBRAE) (@ company incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Luk Shiu (alias: Vincent) (Z#&JK) , aged 64, an
Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee has about 30 years of experience in commercial accounting
and corporate finance. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He graduated
from the Hong Kong Shue Yan College (now known as Hong Kong
Shue Yan University) with a Diploma in Business Administration.
Mr. Lee has worked in the Stock Exchange for around 15 years
where his duties included regulating and monitoring Hong Kong
listed companies in relation to their compliance with the Listing
Rules and processing new listing applications. His last position with
the Stock Exchange was an Assistant Vice President of the Listing
Division. Mr. Lee was also a senior consultant of an investment bank
for 5 years. He is an Independent Non-executive Director of Huabao
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 336) and Hin Sang
Group (International) Holding Co. Ltd (stock code: 6893), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Yu Hon Kwan (alias: Randy) (&), aged 59, an
Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of both the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Mr. Yu has over 30 years of experience in the construction industry.
Mr. Yu graduated from the University of Reading with a Bachelor’s
Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying. He is a Member of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Mr. Yu is the General
Manager (Community Relations) of Henderson Land Development
Company Limited. Mr. Yu was a lecturer (non- clinical) in the
Department of Real Estate and Construction of the University of
Hong Kong.

Mr. Yu is a Justice of the Peace of Hong Kong and a New Territories
Justices of the Peace. He has dedicated a significant proportion of
his time in community service. Mr. Yu is currently the Chairman of
the Islands District Council, a member of the Development Bureau’s
Lantau Conservation Fund Advisory Committee, a member of the
Agriculture, Fisheries and Conservation Department’s Country
and Marine Parks Board, and a member of the Independent Police
Complaints Council of the Hong Kong SAR. He was awarded
a Medal of Honour in July 2015 in recognition of his long and
dedicated public and community service.

Mr. Yu is a Director of the Business Environment Council from April
2016 (formerly also a Director of the same Board from June 2011
to February 2015). He was also a Director of the Hong Kong Green
Building Council from January 2014 to February 2015.

Mr. Wong Chi Keung Johnny (E£7&3#&) , aged 63, an
Independent Non-executive Director, a member of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company.

Mr. Wong graduated from the University of London with a
Bachelor's Degree of Laws with Honours and holds a Master’s
Degree of Laws from the University of London. He is a solicitor of
the High Court of Hong Kong, a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of England & Wales and a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme
Court of the Australia Capital Territory, Australia. He is currently a
partner of Messrs. Lo, Wong & Tsui, Solicitors, handling general and
commercial litigations, conveyancing works, land acquisition and
land exchange, real estate development and financing.
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Mr. Wong has served as a member of the Provisional Regional
Council from 1997 to 1999, a member of the Tai Po District Council
from 1999 to 2003, a member of the Liquor Licensing Board
from January 2000 to January 2004, and a member of the Appeal
Tribunal Panel under the Buildings Ordinance from December 2000
to December 2004. He obtained the HKSAR Medal of Honour in
October 2002. Mr. Wong was also an appointed member of the
Yuen Long District Council from January 2008 to December 2011.
He was an Independent Non- executive Director of SkyOcean
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as Allied Overseas
Limited), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 593)
for the period from June 1993 to August 1997.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan King Yip (alias: Kelvin) (BRE#k%) , aged 48, Project
Director of the Group. Mr. Chan joined the Group in April 2006.
Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in handling engineering
and construction projects. Mr. Chan is responsible for the overall
project management. Mr. Chan graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree of Science.

Mr. Wai Aoting (alias: Paul) (Ef#) , aged 43, directors and
legal representatives of certain subsidiaries in the PRC and the chief
operating officer of the premises revitalisation and enhancement
business of the Group. Mr. Wai joined the Group in March 2021.

Mr. Wai has over 18 years of experience in real estate development
and revitalizing historic buildings. Mr. Wai graduated from the Sun
Yat-sen University (71 KX2%) with a Bachelor's Degree of Business
Administration in Marketing.

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey (33X 78) , aged 44, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Chong joined
the Group in November 2019.

Mr. Chong graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology with a Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration in
Accounting and holds a Master’s Degree of Business Administration
from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Chong is currently
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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Mr. Chong has over 20 years of experience in audit and finance and
is responsible for the financial management, internal control and
company secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Chong is currently
also serving as the company secretary of China Partytime Culture
Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1532) since May 2015 and an Independent
Non-executive Director of Taung Gold International Limited (stock
code: 621) listed on the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Wong Lok Man Vicko (E#&#) , aged 41, Environmental
and Safety Manager of the Group. Ms. Wong joined the Group in
November 2007.

Ms. Wong has over 17 years of experience in industrial safety
industry. Ms. Wong holds a Professional Diploma of Legal Executive
from the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education, a Diploma
in Occupational Health & Safety from the Open University of Hong
Kong and a Bachelor's Degree of Science in Environmental and
Occupational Safety & Health from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is a registered safety officer under the Factories and
Industrial Undertakings (Safety Officers and Safety Supervisors)
Regulations and a safety auditor. She is currently a chartered
building engineer of the Chartered Association of Building Engineer
and a full member of the International Institute of Risk and Safety
Management.

Ms. Wong has also obtained other relevant certificates such as
the Occupational Health and Safety Council Certificate for Safety
& Health Supervisor (Construction) in July 2002, the Certificate
of Occupational Safety and Health Trainer in February 2004, the
Occupational Health and Safety Council Combined Certificate for
Safety, Health & Environmental Supervisor (Construction) in June
2005, the Certificate of Site Audit Inspection Standards (Safety &
Roadwork Obligations) Course — Highways Department in 2010, the
Certificate of Occupational Health and Safety Council Fire Prevention
(Construction Industry) in March 2010, the Certificate of Supervision
of Tree Works Course in June 2011, the Certificate of Continuing
Professional Development for 1SO14001:2004 Environmental
Management System Introduction and Internal Auditing in October
2012, the Certificate for ISO45001:2016 Lead Auditor.

Mr. Chui Heung Wing (f#R[@%8) , aged 63, Project Director of the
Group. Mr. Chui Heung Wing served the Group from September
1997 to August 2016 and re-joined the Group in April 2019.
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He is currently the Authorised Signatory of Yee Hop Engineering
under its registration as a Registered General Building Contractor
in the foundation works category with the Buildings Department.
He has over 40 years of experience in the construction industry.
Mr. Chui holds a Diploma in Structural Engineering and a
Higher Certificate in Structural Engineering from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as the Hong Kong
Polytechnic) and a Bachelor's Degree of Civil Engineering from the
Washington InterContinental University and a Master of Science
Degree in Civil Engineering and Construction Management from
the Heriot-Watt University. He is a chartered building engineer
of the Chartered Association of Building Engineers. He has also
been one of the Authorised Signatories of the Registered General
Buildings Contractors and the Registered Specialist Contractors in
the foundation works category of the Buildings Department since
May 2008 and March 2013 respectively. He is a fellow member
of the Chartered Association of Building Engineers, a member of
the Australian Institute of Building, a chartered environmentalist
of the Society for the Environment. He has also obtained the I1SO
14001:2004 Environmental Management System Internal Auditor
Training at the Hong Kong Certification Services Ltd from September
to December 2005. He has completed the Lead Assessor course of
Quality Assurance from BSI Quality Assurance in June 1993 and a
visiting lecturer of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Institute
for Enterprise in July 2003.

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung (alias: Douglas) (# A% ), aged 64, the
Senior Vice President of the Company. Mr. Wu joined the Group in
October 2014 as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary and
re-designated as Senior Vice President in November 2019. Mr. Wu
has over 20 years of experience in accounting and corporate finance.

Mr. Wu graduated from the University of Bolton (formerly known as
the Bolton Institute of Higher Education) with a Bachelor’'s Degree
of Arts in Accountancy and holds a Master's Degree of Business
Administration from the University of Newcastle, Australia. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
an associate of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and an associate of
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey (3£ 3X8), the Company Secretary
of the Company. Details of his biography are set out in the
paragraph headed “Senior management” in this section. Mr. Chong
was appointed as the Company Secretary in November 2019.
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The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries comprise (i) provision of foundation and
other civil works and tunneling works in Hong Kong and overseas;
and (i) premises revitalisation and enhancement in the PRC. The
principal activities of subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note
48 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND RESERVES

The results of the Group for the 2022 Financial Year are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 71 in this annual report.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the 2022 Financial Year are set out in consolidated statement
of changes in equity and note 47(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividends was paid by the Group during the 2022

Financial Year (2021 Corresponding Year: nil).

The Board does not recommend a payment of final dividend to the
shareholders of the Company for the 2022 Financial Year (2021
Corresponding Year: nil).

RELIEF OF TAXATION
The Company is not aware of any relief of taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group for the 2022 Financial
Year is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 7 to 15 of this annual report.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's operation, financial conditions, business and prospectus
are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. The following
principal risks and uncertainties are identified by the Group. In
addition, there may be other risks and uncertainties which are not
known to the Group or may not be material now but could be
turned out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

1. The provision of foundation and other civil works and
tunnelling works are on project basis and non-recurring basis.
The future growth in revenue and financial results depend
on, among others, the success to secure new tenders and
contracts awarded.

2. The operations of the Group are mainly focus in Hong Kong,
which are affected by various factors, inter alia, the general
economic conditions in Hong Kong, general property market
in Hong Kong and government policies on the infrastructure
and property development and planning.

3. The demand of tunnelling services in Hong Kong is dominated
by a relatively small number of customers, mainly Hong
Kong SAR Government, public utilities companies and MTR
Corporation Limited. Though the Group has established long
and stable business relationships with the two electricity
supplies in Hong Kong, it is uncertain that our existing
customers will continue to provide us new contracts and the
Group will be able to secure contracts from new customers.

4. The financial performance of each project is subject to the risk
of underestimation of the project cost and the complexity as
well as the length of the projects.

5. The Group is required to obtain or maintain certain registration
and/or certificates under the laws in jurisdictions in which it
operates in order to carry on the business. It is uncertain that
all the required registrations, certificates or licences can be
maintained or renewed in a timely manner. Any changes to
the existing policies by the government authorities may have
significant impact on the ability of the Group to carry on the
existing business.
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The tenders which were awarded to the Group is based on
the estimated project costs (which include mainly wages and
construction material cost). The financial results of the Group
is subject to the risk of price fluctuation of material price and
the availability of the quality of construction materials will
always meet the required standards.

The construction business by nature is subject to the claims
and disputes with customers, subcontractors, workers in
relation to the substandard of works, completion of works
in time, labour compensations or personal injuries. The
sale of the Group’s aquatic products may be subject to
product liability claims, even though the Group is not directly
responsible for the product safety. Claims, recalls or actions
could be based on allegations that, among other things, the
products sold by the retail operations are misbranded, contain
contaminants or impermissible ingredients. Regardless of the
merits of the claims, the disputes and litigation will affect the
reputation of the Group in the industry it operates and in turn,
adversely affect the business operations and financial results of
the Group.

The inherent risk of the foundation and tunnelling business
is subject to the unforeseen ground conditions. The actual
ground condition may be different from the information
provided by the customers. The Group may be exposed to the
risk of cost overrun if the customers disagree to compensate
the Group for the additional cost incurred as a result of the
unforeseen ground conditions.

The Group is subject to the environmental regulations and
guidelines in the jurisdictions in which it operates, such as
Hong Kong, the PRC and the Philippines. Any changes in the
such regulations and guidelines may have adverse impact on
the operations and the financial results.

The results of the Group are affected by the trends in the
industries in which it operates, including the construction
(including the foundation and other civil works and tunnelling
works) and the sales and trading of aquatic products.
The change in the government budgets and spending in
infrastructures as well as the changes in customer tastes and
preference for aquatic products may have adverse impact on
the revenue and operation results of the Group.

10.
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The success and the growth of the Group is, to a large extent,
attributable to the continued commitment of the Directors
and senior management team. Profile of Directors and senior
management is set out on pages 34 to 40 of this Annual
Report. Any unanticipated departure of the Directors and
senior management team without appropriate replacement
may have a material adverse impact on our business operations
and profitability.

The subsidiaries of the Group operating in the PRC are
exposed to the following risks conducting business in the PRC:

o Under the PRC laws and regulations, the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to various dividend
policies. Limitations on the ability of the operating
subsidiaries in the PRC to pay dividends to the Group
and/or subject to higher withholding tax rate could have
a material adverse effect on the ability of the Group to
conduct business;

o The PRC government control over foreign currency
conversion and fluctuations in exchange rates may have
restriction on the PRC subsidiaries of the Group to access
foreign currency to pay dividends in foreign currencies
to the Shareholders and to obtain foreign exchange for
capital expenditure for the PRC subsidiaries.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 or any other natural disasters
or infectious diseases may severely affect and restrict the level
of economic activity in Hong Kong and the PRC which may
in turn have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial position and results of operations.

14. The Group’s premises revitalization and enhancement business

is subject to the regulatory environment and measures affecting
the property related industries in the PRC. In particular, the
Group's business performance primarily depends on the total
contracted and revenue-bearing gross leasable area and the
number of properties the Group manages, but the Group's
business growth is, and will likely continue to be, affected by
the PRC government regulations relating to the industries in
which the Group operates.

11.

12.

13.

14.

AEBHRIDRERBAEE LHF
IREERSREEEBEBNEE
FR-EERRAEEEERERR
REFIREBEIATA0H - RACHE & B
MEREE LR REREKEINE
B E BRI Al ge BRI 27
EEREMGENERNERNTHFTE -

AREBRPELLONBRRES
BlEaXBEEATRR

o WREFEAENER  AKH
RABNHERRAETE
HEREBER -+TEZEMNBER
7] A7) 78 5 R 1 B B B BE
K/ SRBBAERREMBH X
HR SIS sE S AR B RE
BN ERBATHZE

o PEIBUTEIMNE K I I KR
B A0 122 1) ] BEFR il AN S B O AP
B P 8 2 B BRSNS [7) B BRI
1N B B, Ko 2 ER S GE A S AR
BEMfBARMEARFR

COVID-19Ry 18 B s (E ] E b 5 78 K¢
E AR RITESRETEY
RIS S NP BB EE KT
BERA e AEENER - 5K
MG BEEBEABATNFE -

AEEOYEBCRABREREY
TETEEMEMABITEMNEER
BRER - BRI AEBNEHER
RE2RRRAKEEENAITD
KA HAEEENYEHE - EX
SENEBERI DL ATREES
A FBEHAH A REEETEDN
HRAREZTE -



Report of Directors

EEEWRE

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to various financial risks, including interest
rate, liquidity and credit risks. Details of financial risks are set out
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

Joint Venture Partner Risk

The Group conducts some of its business through an associated
company/joint operations in which it shares control with the joint
venture partner. There are uncertainties that the joint venture
partner will continue the relationship with the Group in the future or
their goals or strategies are in line with the Group. Furthermore, the
joint venture partner in the associated company/joint operations may
undergo a change of control or financial difficulties which may have
adverse impact on the Group’s financial conditions and operation
results of the Group.

Likely development in the Group’s business

The likely development of the Group is disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Business Outlook” in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

An analysis using financial key performance indicators
The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to the
business of the Group are set out in the “Business Review"” and
“Financial Review"” section in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

Annual Report 2021/22 “F 3R

Bt %5 [ B

AEEHEZEMBRRE  BEME R
BESREERR BRMFRBROFSE
R ANF RO E B HRERMEE

BETEASBARR
AEEZBHESEOXABAKFEF
HMEERR,/ BEEBETHDES - &
FHEEEMEELEAR ARKGEER
AEBRFHEIEBRIREAREE
—He s BE QR EEEBHEE
ERAB AR LS EEE Y E L5
REE - ZFB0 A B H AR BB FHIR
REEREERTHEE -

FEBEBHTRERE
AEENAEERBRERNAFRIEEE
AmE ORI EFRE] —& -

ERMBHARRRERNSN

BRAAREXBGHNREY HRERIIRER
FRAFERIEEENw RN —HAIE
O K [R5 E R AR AR & M SR

45




46

Yee Hop Holdings Limited 3% & 1ZX AR A 7

Report of Directors

EEEWRE

Important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the 2022 Financial Year

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Board is not aware
of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place
subsequent to 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report.

Environmental policies and performance

Environment protection is critical to the long term development
of the Group. The Group places importance in the management
practice so as to prevent pollution, reduce waste and enhance waste
recycling. The Group has adopted environmental management
practices in accordance to 1SO14001:2004 (Environmental
management system) and 1SO50001:2011 (Energy management
system). The Group promotes environment-friendly construction
worksites and implements appropriate facilities to improve the
environments of the construction worksites.

Relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and
others

The Group maintained a good relationship with its employees and
had not experienced any significant disruptions to the operation due
to labour dispute. The Group is committed to providing a safe and
healthy workplace for the staff and have arranged an annual safety
conference for staff of all levels to enhance their knowledge on site
safety.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
suppliers. The Group maintains close contact with the customers
and has conducted regular reviews of the requirements of the
customers and complaints. The Group will conduct appraisal of the
performance of suppliers on regular basis.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and risks of non-compliance with such requirements.
The Group has on-going review of new enacted laws and
regulations which may affect the operations of the Group. During
the 2021 Financial Year, there is no incidence of non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact
on the business of the Group.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 225.
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DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the 2022 Financial

Year amounted to approximately HK$102,000 (2021 Corresponding
Year: approximately HK$25,600).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the 2022 Financial Year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movement in investment properties of the Group during
the 2022 Financial Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of in share capital of the Company during the 2022 Financial

Year are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.
There were no movements in share capital during the 2022 Financial
Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction
in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the 2022 Financial Year, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed securities
of the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Law amounted to approximately HK$122.0 million.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the 2022 Financial Year, the Group’s five largest customers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 61.8% (2021 Corresponding
Year: approximately 70.3%) of the total revenue of the Group and
the largest customer included therein accounted for approximately
17.7% (2021 Corresponding Year: approximately 20.2%).
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For the 2022 Financial Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 48.0% (2021 Corresponding
Year: approximately 24.8%) of the total costs of revenue of the
Group and the largest supplier included therein accounted for
approximately 18.7% (2021 Corresponding Year: approximately
9.8%).

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors of the Company own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the five
largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the 2022 Financial Year and
up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming

Mr. YAN Chi Tat

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick
Mr. XU JunMin

Non-executive Director
Mr. WANG lJian (appointed on 19 April 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. YU Hon Kwan

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong
Derrick, Mr. XU JunMin, Mr. YU Hon Kwan and Mr. WONG Chi
Keung Johnny will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHIES DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 34 to 40 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors (except for Mr. XU JunMin) has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial
fixed term of three years commencing from the date of Listing and
has renewed for a further three years.

Mr. XU JunMin has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 25 October
2019, which may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the
letter of appointment.

Mr. WANG Jian has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 19 April 2021,
which may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the letter
of appointment.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered into
a service agreement with the Company under which each of them
is appointed for a period of one year commencing from the date of
the Listing and has renewed for a further three years and shall be
automatically renewed for such further period after expiry of the
renewal term.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save for those disclosed in this annual report, there is no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company’s subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries or its parent companies was a party and in which
a Director or Controlling Shareholders of the Company and the
Director’s connected party had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the 2022 Financial Year.

REMUNERATION FOR DIRECTORS

In compliance with the CG Code, the Company has established
the Remuneration Committee to formulate remuneration policies.
Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee and the
performance and results of the Group. Details of the remuneration
of the Company’s Directors are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of the Controlling Shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company has executed a Deed of Non-competition dated
25 November 2015 in favour of the Company, which contains
certain non-competition undertakings given in favour of the Group.
Particulars of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” in the
Prospectus.

The controlling shareholders have provided a confirmation to the
Company confirming of their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition during the 2022 Financial Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group under the applicable accounting standards during
the 2022 Financial Year are set out in note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of the related party transactions disclosed in note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted disclosable non-
exempted connected transactions or non-exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Group under the Listing Rules. To
the extent of the related party transactions constituted connected
transactions as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had
complied with relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The connected transactions of the Group during the year are as
follows:

The Cooperation Agreement and the Reimbursement
Agreements

On 31 March 2021, Guangzhou Qingchuang Ideal Commercial
Operation Management Co., Ltd.* (BN BAIEEREEELEE
BBR2AF]) (“Qingchuang Ideal”), an indirect non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a cooperation agreement
in respect of the premises situated at No. 4, Zhenxing Street,
South Gongye Avenue, Haizhu District, Guangzhou, PRC (the
“Premises”) for a term of 9 years and 4 months (the “Cooperation
Agreement”) with Shenzhen Shen Mengcheng Real Estate Co.,
Ltd.* (RINTTREMBHAERAFR]) (“Shen Meng Investment”),
pursuant to which Shen Meng Investment agreed to terminate
the former cooperation agreement (the “Former Cooperation
Agreement”) with Guangzhou Qingchuangshe Shangye Operation
Management Co., Ltd.* (EMBEIMAEELEERRAA)
("Qinchuangshe”) which as conditional upon Qingchuang Ideal
having entered into the Cooperation Agreement on the same terms
and conditions as the Former Cooperation Agreement.
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On 31 March 2021, Qingchuangshe (the former tenant of
the premises) and Qingchuang lIdeal entered into the deposits
reimbursement agreement (the “Deposits Reimbursement
Agreement”) pursuant to which Qingchuang Ideal agreed to
pay to Qingchuangshe RMB6 million, being the deposits which
Qingchuangshe has previously paid to Shen Meng Investment
pursuant to the Former Cooperation Agreement. Shen Meng
Investment shall return the Deposits to Qingchuang Ideal after the
expiry of the Cooperation Agreement.

On 31 March 2021, Qingchuangshe and Qingchuang Ideal entered
into the expense reimbursement agreement (the “Expense
Reimbursement Agreement”) pursuant to which Qingchuang
Ideal agreed to pay to Qingchuangshe approximately RMB2.3
million, being the sum of the rental from January 2021 to March
2021 and the renovation costs which Qingchuangshe previously
incurred pursuant to the Former Cooperation Agreement.

Qingchuangshe is indirectly owned as to 70% by Hong Kong Qing
Chuang Holdings Limited (the “HKQCH"), whereas HKQCH is
owned as to (i) 80% by Mr. Jim, an Executive Director, the Chairman
of the Board and a Controlling Shareholder and (i) 5% by Mr. Yan
Chi Tat, an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. Further, Mr. Jim is a director of each of Qingchuangshe
and HKQCH. Therefore, Qingchuangshe is a connected person of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In view of the facts that (i) Qingchuangshe, a connected person of
the Company and Shen Meng Investment, an independent third
party, entered into the Former Cooperation Agreement pursuant
to which Qingchuangshe leased the Premises; (i) Qingchuangshe
and Shen Meng Investment entered into the termination agreement
in respect of the Former Cooperation Agreement which was
conditional upon entering into of the Cooperation Agreement
between Qingchuang Ideal and Shen Meng Investment; and
(iii) Qingchuangshe and Qingchuang Ideal entered into the
Reimbursement Agreements in respect of the Former Cooperation
Agreement and the Cooperation Agreement, depending on the
opinion of the Stock Exchange, Shen Meng Investment may be
deemed to be a connected person of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. As a result, for prudence sake, the Board
has resolved to comply with the requirements of connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules regarding the
Cooperation Agreement and Reimbursement Agreements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder as if Shen Meng Investment is
deemed to be a connected person of the Company.
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As the highest applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
transactions exceed 5% but are less than 25%, the transactions
constitute (i) discloseable transactions of the Company which are
subject to the notification and announcement requirements under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules; and (ii) non-exempt connected
transactions of the Company which are subject to the notification,
announcement, circular and independent Shareholders approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 31 March 2021 and 29 April 2021, and circular of the
Company dated 3 September 2021.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has the following transactions with connected persons
during the year and the Company has fully complied with the
announcement, reporting and/or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (where
applicable):

(i)  The Group through its subsidiary (as tenant) entered
into a lease agreement dated 1 April 2022 (the “Lease
Agreement”) with Pioneer National Development Limited (as
landlord) (“Pioneer National”) to lease the premises at Units
1104-1107, Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for office use for a term
of three years commencing from 1 April 2022 at a monthly
rental of HK$78,000 (exclusive of rates, Government rent and
management fee payable by the tenant).

Pioneer National is owned as to 50% by Mr. Jim and 50%
by Mr. Chui, both are Executive Directors and Controlling
Shareholders of the Company. Pursuant to the Listing Rules,
Pioneer National is a connected person and transactions
contemplated under the Lease Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions since the Listing.
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(i)

The Group through its subsidiary (as tenant) entered into
three lease agreements (the “Land Lease Agreements”)
with Asia Time Development Limited (“Asia Time"), Hilton
Development Limited (“Hilton Development”) and Land
Treasure Development Limited (“Land Treasure”) (as
landlords) respectively to lease various pieces of land in
the New Territories, Hong Kong for a term of three years
commencing from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024 at an
aggregated monthly rental of HK$195,000 (exclusive of rates,
Government rent and management fee payable by the tenant).

Each of Asia Time, Hilton Development and Land Treasure
is owned as to 50% by Mr. Jim and 50% by Mr. Chui, both
are Executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders of
the Company. Pursuant to the Listing Rules, each of Asia
Time, Hilton Development and Land Treasure is a connected
person and transactions contemplated under the Land Lease
Agreements constituted continuing connected transactions.

Pursuant to HKFRS 16, the Group, if entering into a lease
transaction as a lessee, should recognise the right-of-use
assets on the consolidated statement of financial position of
the Group according to HKFRS 16. Under the Listing Rules, the
entering into a lease transaction by the Group as a lessee will
be regarded as an acquisition of an asset under the definition
of transaction in Rule 14.04(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.

As the Lease Agreement and Land Lease Agreements were
all entered into within a 12-month period and between
the Group and the same group of connected persons, the
connected transactions contemplated under the Lease
Agreement and Land Lease Agreements are required to be
aggregated under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As one
or more of the relevant percentage ratios in respect of the
transactions contemplated under the Lease Agreement and
Land Lease Agreements on an aggregated basis exceeds
0.1% but all are less than 5%, accordingly, all of the Lease
Agreement and Land Lease Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are subject to the announcement
and reporting but are exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(i)
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(iii)

On 31 December 2019, the Group through YH Global, an
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a Master Supply Agreement with BGI Marine, an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to
which YH Global Group agreed to sell and/or supply and BGI
Marine Group agreed to purchase aquatic products for the
period from 1 January 2020 to 31 March 2022. Please refer to
the announcement dated 31 December 2019 published by the
Company for details.

BGI Marine was owned as to 70% indirectly by the Company
and 30% directly by Mr. Xu JunMin, an Executive Director,
and pursuant to the Listing Rules, BGI Marine is a connected
subsidiary of the Company and the transactions contemplated
under the Master Supply Agreement constituted continuing
connection transaction.

As the relevant applicable percentage ratios with respect
to the transactions contemplated under the Master Supply
Agreement on an annual basis are more than 0.1% but less
than 5% and the annual consideration is expected to be more
than HK$10 million for the three months ended 31 March
2020 and the two financial years ending 31 March 2021
and 31 March 2022, the transactions contemplated under
the Master Supply Agreement are subject to the reporting
and announcement but are exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The sales to BGI Marine Group under the Master
Supply Agreement are subject to the annual cap of HK$15
million, HK$25 million and HK$29 million for the period from
1 January 2020 to 31 March 2020, the financial year ending
31 March 2021 and 2022 respectively.

The aggregate sales to BGI Marine Group for the period from
1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 under the Master Supply
Agreement was approximately HK$5.5 million.

(iii)
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ANNUAL REVIEW ON CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the continuing
connected transactions set out above have been reviewed by the
Independent Non-executive Directors who confirmed that the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
Auditor, SHINEWING CPA (HK) Limited (“SHINEWING"), has been
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
disclosed in item (iii) above in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. SHINEWING has issued an unqualified letter containing
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in item (iii) above in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Auditor’s letter
has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

DISCLOSURE UNDER LISTING RULE 13.21

On 8 January 2019, Yee Hop Engineering, as a borrower, confirmed
the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank offering a
revolving credit facility up to an aggregate amount of HK$20 million
and later revised to HK$25 million on 13 January 2020. Pursuant
to the terms of the facility, the bank reserves the overriding right to
modify and/or cancel the facility and the terms/conditions thereof
at anytime at its discretion. The facility is repayable upon demand
made by the bank. Details of the transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 January 2019 and 13
January 2020.
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On 18 February 2019, Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop
Construction, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of a
facility letter issued by a bank making available a facility of HK$20
million to both Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop Construction and
an aggregate of HK$250.61 million to Yee Hop Engineering only and
later revised to HK$15 million to the borrowers and an aggregate of
HK$35 million to Yee Hop Engineering only on 6 November 2020.
Pursuant to the terms of the facility, the bank reserves the overriding
right to modify and/or cancel the facility and the terms/conditions
thereof at anytime at its discretion. The facility is repayable upon
demand made by the bank. Details of the transaction are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 18 February 2019 and 6
November 2020.

On 27 March 2019, Yee Hop Engineering, as the borrower,
confirmed the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank making
available a credit facility up to an aggregate amount not exceeding
HK$20.88 million and later revised to HK$37.63 million on 10
February 2020. Pursuant to the terms of the facility, which has no
tenor, the bank reserves the overriding right to immediately modify,
terminate, cancel or suspend the facility and the terms/conditions
thereof at anytime at its discretion. The facility is repayable upon
demand made by the bank. Details of the transaction are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 27 March 2019 and 10
February 2020.

On 5 December 2019, Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop
Construction, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of a
facility letter issued by a bank making available credit facilities up
to an aggregate amount not exceeding HK$149.0 million and later
revised to HK$128.4 million on 13 November 2020. Pursuant to
the terms of the facility, which has no tenor, the bank shall have an
unrestricted discretion to reduce, cancel or suspend, or determine
whether or not to permit drawings in relation to, the facilities. The
facilities are subject to review at anytime and also subject to the
bank's overriding right of repayment on demand including the right
to call for cash cover on demand for prospective and contingent
liabilities. Details of the transaction are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 5 December 2019 and 13 November 2020.
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On 7 July 2020, Yee Hop Engineering, as a borrower, confirmed the
acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank offering a term loan
facility in an amount up to HK$15 million. Pursuant to the terms
of the facility, the bank shall have the overriding right at any time
and at its sole discretion to terminate all or any part of, or reduce
or decrease, the facility by prior notice to the borrower. The facility
shall be repaid in full within 36 months from the relevant date
of facility drawdown. Details of the transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 7 July 2020.

On 20 May 2022, Yee Hop Engineering and YH Qing Chuang
Limited, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of a facility
letter issued by a bank making available credit facilities for an
aggregated amount not exceeding HK$100 million. Pursuant to
the terms of the facility, which has no tenor, the bank shall have an
unrestricted discretion to reduce, cancel or suspend, or determine
whether or not to permit drawings in relations to, the facility. The
facility are subject to review at any time and also subject to the
bank’s overriding right of repayment on demand including the right
to all call for cash cover on demand for prospective and contingent
liabilities. Details of the transaction are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 20 May 2022.

As one of the conditions of the facilities set out above, the
Company has undertaken to the banks, among others that Mr. Jim
and Mr. Chui should, directly or indirectly, own no less than 51%
shareholdings in the Company or the Company shall maintain
ultimately controlled by Mr. Jim and Mr. Chui.

At the date of this annual report, JJ1318 and Mr. Chui holds
40.25% and 25.35% in the Shares of the Company respectively.
11318 is 100% beneficiary owned by Mr. Jim.

Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other
disclosure obligations under Rules 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and Chief Executive Officer in the shares or underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
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(a) Long position in Shares (@) RBRONHFE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
Number of Shares interests of our
Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest Interested Company
HEEEN AR T
EEnR B EEHE RHEE RESNBEDLL
Mr. Jim Interest in a controlled 201,250,000 Shares 40.25%

BEhAE corporation (Notes 1) 201,250,0000%

RERAEES (MFT1)

Mr. Chui Beneficial owner 126,750,000 Shares 25.35%
wgeE BEREAA 126,750,0000%
Mr. Xu JunMin Beneficial owner 27,000,000 Shares 5.40%
REREE E=mEA A 27,000,0004%
Mr. Wang Jian Beneficial owner 20,000,000 Shares 4.00%
TR AE EHEAA 20,000,0000%

(b) Long position in JJ1318, an associated corporation (b) REQRBERBNIBIBHNEFR
of our Company

Percentage of
the issued share

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest capital of JJ1318
Fr{&1)1318
EEHA B REntE ERITREAES
Mr. Jim Beneficial owner (Notes 1) 100%
ErE BERB A (HE1)
Notes: /]/7151-{ .
1. 1J1318 is beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Jim. Accordingly, 1. I3N8HEREERHA 2R -
Mr. Jim is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by JJ1318 E - BIEEEREEED - EXkLE
under the SFO. WRABRIBISEHENRD P HEE#E
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, Chief Executives
of the Company and/or any of their respective associates had any
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of part XV of the SFO) as at 31 March 2022
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED

CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors and Chief Executives
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which were required to
be notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company:

Number of Shares
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
interests of the

Name Capacity/nature of interest Interested Company

FEEEN KRB RE
=1 54 EntE RO E FEBoEs
JJ1318 Beneficial owner 201,250,000 40.25%

1J1318 EnEAA

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other
persons who have interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the registered required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed, at no time during the 2022 Financial Year was the
Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
Eligible Participants (as defined below) have made or may make to
the Group so as to motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group, and attract,
retain or otherwise maintain ongoing business relationship with the
Eligible Participants whose contributions are, will or expected to be
beneficial to the Group.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on 25 November 2015, after which no
further options will be issued. The total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall not in aggregate
exceed 50,000,000 Shares (10% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of Listing), unless approved by the shareholders in general meeting
(the maximum number of Shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time). No
option may be granted to any Eligible Participant which, if exercised
in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options already granted or to be granted
to such Eligible Participant under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant exceeding 1% in
aggregate of the Shares in issue as at the date of such grant. The
offer of a grant of share options shall be accepted when the offer
letter has been duly signed and a consideration of HK$1 in total has
been paid by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the Directors and ends on a date which is
not later than ten years from the date of the offer of share options.
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Eligible Participants include: (i) any Eligible Employees. “Eligible
Employees” means any employee (whether full time or part time,
including any Executive Director but excluding any Non- executive
Director) of the Company, any subsidiary or any entity in which the
Group holds at least 20% of its issued share capital (“Invested
Entity”); (i) any Non-executive Director (including Independent
Non-executive Directors) of the Company, any subsidiary or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support to
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (vi) any shareholder
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of
any securities issued by any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (vii) any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity; and (viii) any other group or classes
of participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group, and, for the purposes of
the Share Option Scheme, options may be granted to any company
wholly owned by one or more Eligible Participants.

The exercise price of options shares shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities (a “Trading Day"); (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five Trading Days immediately preceding
the offer date of the relevant option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share on the offer date.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the
Prospectus.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Company may grant
options to Directors and employees of the Group and other eligible
participants to subscribe for Shares not exceeding 10% of the
Shares in issue, 50,000,000 Shares.

No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme and
no option was exercised during 2022 Financial Year. There was no
option under the Share Option Scheme outstanding as of 31 March
2022.
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SUFFICIENT OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules since the Listing.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section in this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the 2022 Financial Year.

EQUITY LINK AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to share option
scheme, there is no equity-linked agreement that would or might
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that required the Company
to enter into an agreement that would or might result in the
Company issuing Shares has been entered into by the Company
during or subsisted at end of the 2022 Financial Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company has
been entered into or existed during the 2022 Financial Year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
The employees and remuneration policies of the Group during the
2022 Financial Year is set out in the subsection headed “Employees
and Remuneration Policies” on page 14 of this annual report. The
content is part of the report of the Directors.

AUDITORS
A resolution will be proposed in the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as Auditors of the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be
held in August 2022. The closure of the register of members of the
Company for determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM will be set out in the Notice of AGM which will be despatched
to shareholders of the Company in due course.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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311 Gloucester Road,

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YEE HOP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yee Hop
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “"Group”) set out on pages 71 to 224, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BAREZEIE
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HEEHREFERER -

Accounting for construction contracts BEESHANETEE
Refer to notes 5 and 29(a) to the consolidated financial statements BB A TR KR M 5 K29 & F
and the accounting policies on page 96. 9B M EETHEUR ©

The key audit matter
ARERER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAENETNNEEZSE

For construction contracts, there is considerable
judgment in assessing the appropriate contract
revenue and margin which in turn affect the
recognition of contract assets (liabilities). Revenue is
recognised over time. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured
based on input method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to
the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation by reference to the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated
total costs, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services, which
involves the assessment of the completeness and
accuracy of contract costs incurred and forecast costs
to complete.

RRESNME N HEZ AN KERAERS
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EEEREREMSIRBEHESTANBABR
Hobp R MEESHNARRIE T TR AN T
RE N EREE GG -

Our audit procedures were designed to test revenue
recognised during the year to ensure the Group’s
accounting policy on construction contracts is in
accordance with the standard.

BAPIRET B RAR P ORI B 5 A 1 R B0 M 5 DA B
R BEERENBRESOSTHRERHEN -

We assessed whether the construction costs recognised
were in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy and supported by the audit evidence available
through critically challenged the forecast costs to
complete, contract costs, and the completeness and
validity of provisions arising from customer disputes.
We assessed reliability of management’s assessment in
budget costs by considering the historical actual costs
and estimation of budget costs of completed projects.
BMERBEERERATINA AHKEARREE
F A E E R BB T B2 MG B DART ik P
RHOBEXNARLER BEEENSFBERKAT
FHEZBRIXF BMEBZRBETERKEK
ExXTHEBNEERANETANEEEEEEE
PRAE) R B AT 5E

We have assessed progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation under
input method by recalculating the revised estimate
of the progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation of the construction works
based on the latest budgeted costs and the total
actual costs incurred.
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ESEWREREGHNEERE
BLRGA B IRR W27 %29 A & 5
110E118E M2 BER »

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
Refer to notes 27 and 29(a) to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 110 to 118.

The key audit matter
BEREZBR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETNNERZSE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had trade receivables
and contract assets of approximately HK$98,779,000
and HK$107,879,000 respectively.

M202243A31H - ESENESBRURERELD
BE 5 RI#974%98,779,0007T & #5107,879,0007T °

The expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade receivables
and contract assets are estimated by the management
based on the ageing of customers collectively using
a provision matrix by reference to the Group's past
default experience of the debtor, an analysis of the
debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date.
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/e -

We have identified the impairment of the trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter
in view of the significance of the carrying amount
of trade receivables and contract assets and the ECL
estimation performed by the management involved
significant judgements and estimates.
ERNEFRURFBERENEERAENEZMUR
EREMETNRBEEEFRMGL Y REXRAE X
mEt BMEREESREFERENEENRE
RERERER -

Our audit procedures were designed to assess the
management estimation on ECL of trade receivables
and contract assets and challenge the reasonableness
of the significant judgements and estimates, including
use of significant unobservable inputs adopted in the
ECL estimation by the management.
BPNEFAEFEENEERBEHE S RIIEAR
BREENTRHMEEBBRMG  LHEARHE &G
ATMEEMRLER  ERCRAEREBERHNEE
BRMEGPRANEET AR H AR -

We have also assessed the appropriateness of the
methodology and reviewed the input data used by
the management with reference to the latest available
general economic data and the cash collection
performance against the Group's historical trends and
credit loss experience.
BAMEHEDERNEEE  TEEEEERA
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
By BT E

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Chui Yiu Cheong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chui Yiu Cheong

Practising Certificate Number: P07219

Hong Kong
30 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GaeBEakAtEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 EZE2022F3A318ILFE

2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 BT T BT T
(Re-presented)
(B#FZ75)
Continuing operations BEKEXR
Revenue W as 5 736,003 863,865
Cost of revenue W Z5 A A (632,069) (764,088)
Gross profit EH 103,934 99,777
Other income and gain H At U A K Uk 2k 6 9,597 40,829
Administrative and other expenses 71 M E B &2 (66,087) (68,592)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HEAX (223) -
Impairment losses of financial assets 4 & & 2 Bl {E &5 18 10 (2,437) (559)
Share of result of an associate Db — B E AR ELE 3,574 19,024
Finance costs & B AR 7 (7,101) (4,804)
Profit before taxation B 356 A g 7 41,257 85,675
Income tax expense FriSfim X 8 (8,251) (6,894)
Profit for the year from continuing 48 & & ¥ 755
operations F i K 33,006 78,781
Discontinued operation ERIEER
Loss for the period/year from BRIEEBHEBEAR,FRX 9
discontinued operation E518 (16,141) (40,511)
Profit for the year F N A 10 16,865 38,270
Profit (loss) for the year attributable AR &% A A EIHER
to owners of the Company: = (B8) ¢
— from continuing operations —REFBEEER 34,562 79,456
— from discontinued operation —REBRILERS 4,950 (30,139)
Profit for the year attributable to RRTHER NEIEERRF
owners of the Company 39,512 49,317
Loss for the year attributable to FEIERE R EIEFNETE
non-controlling interests:
— from continuing operations —REFELSEED (1,556) (793)
— from discontinued operation —REERIEER (21,091) (10,254)
Loss for the year attributable to IR R E R FNEBE
non-controlling interests (22,647) (11,047)
16,865 38,270
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEeEakAEtEZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z=202243A31HIEFE

2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BtaE BT T BT T
(Re-presented)
(BEFZ7))
Other comprehensive (expense) Hth2H (B X%) W3
income
ltems that may be reclassified HEgngEmosBzEm
subsequently to profit or loss: HE :
Share of exchange reserve of an Dih—EEBE AR ZER
associate f#E (3,493) 6,882
Exchange difference arising on BMEBINEEEED
translation of foreign operations PE X =% 3,583 10,933
90 17,815
Total comprehensive income FNEEMEBE
for the year 16,955 56,085
Total comprehensive income LT EBEEGEFAEE
(expense) for the year Wz (BASE) 4858
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company S YNEIEZ= DN 38,172 64,702
— Non-controlling interests — JE PR R (21,217) (8,617)
16,955 56,085
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Earnings per share from continuing R B 5B L E15H
operations BRAT
Basic and diluted ERREE 14 0.07 0.16
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Earnings per share from continuing KB #HEELEE L
and discontinued operations BRIEFEBHTREF
Basic and diluted BERREE 14 0.08 0.10
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e TR R R

At 31 March 2022 7202243 H31H

2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt BT T BT
Non-current assets IEMENEEE
Property, plant and equipment YIE - HEES KRG 15 72,273 206,674
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 16 7,171 3,910
Investment properties WEMEE 17 268,904 134,857
Goodwill [EES 18 = 8,242
Other intangible assets HEtEpEE 19 - 2,050
Interest in an associate R — & R EH 20
e 75,601 89,685
Biological assets EYEE 22 - 6,111
Financial asset at fair value AV EFABEDN 23
through profit or loss CREE - 993
Other non-current assets HibIERBEE 24 460 460
Prepayment for acquisition of WHESE M B B E M TE
non-current assets and long RIE R REFR
term deposit 30 12,929 40,631
Pledged deposit E}EHW? 30 30,870 =
Loan and interest receivable BWER &ﬂ 28 18,421 10,753
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIEE E 25 1 806
486,640 505,172
Current assets MEEE
Inventories eSS 26 = 30,258
Biological assets EYEE 22 = 5,295
Trade receivables g 5 W IE 27 98,779 142,658
Amounts due from joint FEW & & IR 35
operations 3,093 -
Contract assets BHEE 29 107,879 115,373
Deposits, prepayments and Bzé% SEANE DS 30
other receivables H b W FIE 20,123 50,831
Tax recoverable Al Uy [E] 7 18 - 1,313
Other current assets HibmE & E 24 - 43,927
Bank balances and cash RITEHRMES 317 161,357 71,138
391,231 460,793
Current liabilities Vi IR=NE
Trade and retention payables 2 F M HIER 32
FEfTIRE & 71,548 137,827
Contract liabilities oM=K 29 = 5,722
Accruals and other payables J'EEJFEJEH &Eﬁﬂ 33
FE T FRIE 25,012 36,237
Lease liabilities ﬁ‘ﬂ‘ﬁi'ﬁ% 16 13,906 8,319
Bank and other borrowings RO RHEMEE 34 34,578 126,224
Amount due to a related JE —FRI R E R R Y 35
company FKIH - 9,847
Tax payable JEAFRIR 4,423 4,781
149,467 328,957
Net current assets mBEEFE 241,764 131,836
Total assets less current liabilities BERBRABAMG 728,404 637,008
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

At 31 March 2022 7202243 H31H

2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt e BT T BT T
Non-current liabilities FRBEE ‘
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 34 24,242 27,607
Deferred income PRIEU A 36 = 24,846
Long service payment obligations RHBR TS © & 37 673 583
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 223,161 130,416
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIEEFE 25 6,150 9,747
254,226 193,199
Net assets BEFE 474,178 443,809
Capital and reserves BEAR R
Share capital fi& 7 38 5,000 5,000
Reserves e 468,340 392,099
Equity attributable to owners RARHER AEEER
of the Company 473,340 397,099
Non-controlling interests AR = 838 46,710
Total equity BT 474,178 443,809

The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 224 were FNEULENEEVBERRITITAESES
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 20226 A308 #t i R 4 2% - W B

June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by: THATRERZ:
Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin Chui Mo Ming
BB BRE B
Director Director

EE EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEERRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z=202243A31HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EARBE AR
Non-

Share Share  Merger Exchange Other  Retained controlling

capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Total  interests Total

REx ROEE AfRE EIRG HtRGE REE B FERER @it

HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000

E8Tn BBTn  BMTn BRTn BETn B¥Tn  B¥Tn BETR BETR

(Note 3) (Note b)
(fita) (o)

At 1 April 2020 202054718 5000 112,583 14808 (10,228) 1124 209,110 332397 52,653 385,050
Profit (loss) for the year EnET (B8) - - - - - 9317 49317 (1041 38210
Share of exchange reserve HME-HEERAZ
of an associate B3 - - - 68 - - 688 - 6882
Bichange difference arising ~~ AEFSHNEREEY
on translation of foreign BHES
operations - - - 8,503 - - 8,503 2430 10,933
Profit loss) and total EREFH (B8) R
comprehensive income 2ENG (%) 88
(expense) for the year - - - 15,385 - 49317 64,702 (8,617) 56,085
Capital contribution by FRRERLE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 2674 2,674
At 31 March 2021 202137318 5000 112,583 14,808 5,157 1124 258427 397,09 46,710 443809
Profit (lss) for the year EnET (Bi) - - - - - 39512 39512 (2647) 16,865
Share of exchange reserve HE-HEERAZ
of an associate B3R - - - (3493 - - (349 - (349
Exchange difference arising ~~ AEBHNERELY
on translation of foreign EizE
operations - - - 2,153 - - 2,153 1430 3,583
(Loss) profit and total ER(EE)EHR
comprehensive (expense) 2E(FER) hHES
income for the year - - - (1,340) - 39512 38172 207 16955
Capital contribution by FERERLE
non-controlling interests - - - - 40761 - 40761 31,599 72,360
Redlassiication upon HERBLAM
disposal of subsidfiaries Exip] - - - (269) (40767) 40761 (2692)  (56254)  (58946)
At31 March 2022 R202283431A 5000 112,583 14,808 1125 1124 338700 473,340 838 474178

'
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REREZBER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z=202243A31HIEFE

Note a:

Note b:

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the issued capital of subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to a group reorganisation over the consideration
paid for acquiring these subsidiaries.

Other reserve represents i) the difference between
additional capital contribution of approximately
HK$72,360,000 (equivalent to RMB60,000,000) made
by an independent investor to a subsidiary, FIIIZE Y&
JFEYEEERAE and an increase in non-controlling
interest of approximately HK$31,599,000 (equivalent to
RMB26,761,000) during the year ended 31 March 2022,
and ii) the difference between the carrying value of the
additional equity interests of the subsidiary acquired and
the consideration paid of HK$116 during the year ended
31 March 2016.

Biita -

Kiazh -

B O 1 IE IR IR 5 B E A AT
#1822 7] A9 B 177 AR A [E] (6 4 51
WEZEHBELAIBENLEZ
EHE o

H 1 (7 15 #51)# £22022F3 531
HIFFEAN—ZBIKEE 7 —
BT B 1 5l 2 )5 ¥ £ &
#EH R LA 1EH 88 9) 1 B 495
#%72,360,0007T (18 2 KA K1
60,000,0007T) £2 3 12 % #E 2 12 101
415 #31,599,0005T (1HE KA K
#£26,761,0007T) 2 [ A9 = 8+ K&
iNE F20164F3 531 H 1 F/Z Ak
FENT B 2 7] BB S| AR HE Y B [E (B £
B EEE 11670258 »
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

2022 2021
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K E B
Profit (loss) before taxation Br AT A (E518)
— Continuing operations —FERE R 41,257 85,675
— Discontinued operation —BRIFER (97,176) (40,806)
(55,919) 44 869
Adjustments for: RUATIEE EH T
Bank interest income IRITF B U A (797) (429)
Loan interest income B3 A EMU\ (1,048) (208)
Provision for long service payment ARG B E 90 67
Finance costs Bl & AR 7R 11,074 10,158
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAREENE 5,952 5,797
Net unrealised exchange loss (gain) REIRIE K EE (Mes) 96 (8,762)
Loss (gain) from changes in fair value EMEERNFERLEER
less cost to sell of biological assets (U 2= ) B SEE A AR 5,989 (8,623)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — R A ) A e as (4,307) =
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair i’”‘$1ﬁ FFABER
value through profit or loss TRIEEMND T EER - 102
Gain on disposal of plant and o R R R A Uk e
equipment (1,390) (126)
Government subsidies Eﬁlﬁﬁﬁb (4,978) (27,162)
Share of result of an associate Sl — B E QR ELE (3,574) (19,024)
Interest income on bonds ﬁﬁﬁ Tf?%Zﬂ BUYA (621) (7,274)
Loss on write-off of property, plant ME Y% - R RREBE
and equipment - 9
Amortisation of intangible assets m A ERE 150 913
Impairment losses of financial assets SREEREEE 11,560 1,481
Impairment loss of goodwill AR AR 8,334 7,346
Impairment loss of property, Wz - R RREN
plant and equipment REEE 9,505 =
Impairment loss of other intangible Hithmp & ERREEE
assets 173 -
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets FRAEEEMNRERIE 111 -
Depreciation of property, Wz - e RREN
plant and equipment e 38,593 39,817
Operating cash flows before movements LEEEHRINLE
in working capital REME 18,993 38,951
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERAEm) 9,420 (8,787)
(Increase) decrease in biological assets A& E (L) B (4,157) 19,318
Decrease in trade receivables B 5 W IERE (8,175) 12,082
(Increase) decrease in deposits, e - i‘:ﬁﬁ?ﬂﬁ&ﬁ‘r&
prepayments and other receivables FEWERIE ($E00) Bk 4 (2,112) 5,385
(Decrease) increase in trade and “”%)Eﬁ KB K JE A+
retention payables REE O )& (10,902) 34,596
Increase (decrease) in accruals and FEETE & H AT 508
other payables 20 Ot 2>) 9,888 (11,451)
Increase (decrease) increase in EHaEEmoRd)
contract liabilities 1,454 (16,684)
Decrease in contract assets EHEERD 7,494 41,152
Cash generated from operations Fd %éiﬁ?ﬁ@fﬁé 21,903 114,562
Income tax paid Eﬁﬁﬁ SH (2,927) (1,502)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 42 E BT8R & 558 18,976 113,060
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTREBR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

2022 2021
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Net cash inflow from disposing HEWRERRBNERSRA

subsidiaries R 85,688 =
Redemption of zero coupon bonds ELZTEESH 44,452 43,137
Repayment from loan to an associate BEE AR EEER 14,165 =
Repayment from an associate TERS & N AR X 10,953 =
Proceeds from disposal of e REEN

plant and equipment Fri5 I8 2,487 1,550
Interest received 2B 797 429
Purchase of an investment property REIREMSE (33,298) =
Placement in pledged deposit T?)\ETEETW?/%’( (30,870) -
Advance to an associate #3 % fE Bt & N A (21,690) =
Advance to joint operations BRTEEER (3,093) =
Purchase of plant and equipment E%ﬁ%%%&?&ﬁ (10,157) (39,694)
Advance of loan receivable JEU B FRE TR (6,896) (11,104)
Prepayment for acquisition of g 3Fmb§b BE

non-current assets SEEN B /TA (5,811) (33,513)
Purchase of zero coupon bonds BETSEL - (25,086)
Settlement of construction payable Z*ﬁtifﬁ”ﬁlﬁ%%%%&

for prior year's acquisition of FEENREEE R

plant and equipment - (2,287)
Proceeds from sales of technical B BT E A

know-how FTiS 38 = 21,856

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING RAZHAF (A RS

ACTIVITIES FRE 46,727 (44,712)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES bR B

Capital contribution by FEIEREREE

non-controlling interests 72,360 2,674
New bank and other borrowings raised EEEMBITREMEE 62,562 87,597
Government subsidies received B U B T 47 B 5,042 24,690
Advance from a director of a subsidiary kg —HEM B AR

—HRESHNRK 1,306 2,106
Repayment of bank and other EERITIEMEER
borrowings (83,903) (133,886)
Interest paid on bank and other MIRIT R E A B AT
borrowings B F) B (10,191) (8,666)
(Repayment to) Advance from BEIE A o) (ﬁ}a )
a related company RRHB K (9,847) 2,729
Repayment to lease liabilities Ei?gﬁf%ﬁ & (4,538) (6,115)
Interest paid for lease liabilities REEBEZNHFE (3,781) (342)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING BMEZBME (FTA)

ACTIVITIES REFE 29,010 (29,213)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRREEFEBYIEIMFHE

CASH EQUIVALENTS 94,713 39,135
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FUNRERBAREFEY

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 71,138 31,079
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HINGE B 3= B S 2 (4,494) 924
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRNBeRECEEY

AT THE END OF THE YEAR, represented (ASRITRBRRE 2R T)
by bank balances and cash 161,357 71,138




Annual Report 2021/22 %R 79

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R Rk Y R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

1. GENERAL 1. —REH

Yee Hop Holdings Limited (the “Company") was incorporated EeERAERAR ([RA27]) K
as an exempted company with limited liability incorporated in 20152 A 128 R IEH E B 5% 01
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Act, Chapter 22 (Law F228 N Ak (1961F F3fff © K48
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands ERET) RHEEHESFMMA T
on 12 February 2015 and its shares are listed on The Stock i E A 9 74201512 H18R £ &
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18 December 2015. Its BERSMABRAR LT H&EHK
ultimate controlling parties are Mr. Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin and R RERBEERFRRALE
Mr. Chui Mo Ming (the “Controlling Shareholders”). The ([ERBRER]) - ARaNEMHE
address of the registered office of the Company is Windward 3, F& b HE AWindward 3, Regatta Office
Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands, and its principal place of business is located at KY1-1108, the Cayman Islands + iy &
Units 1104-06, 11/F., Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam TEEEMBMUNB B NEERLE
Lok Street, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong. AT195% Fg & 7 R 0 11481104-06
The Company is an investment holding company while the Kpal B —BREZRAF  mE
principal subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision EMBARIEEREL BB RIER
of foundation and other civil works and tunneling works B B R At + AR T2 DA R B
in Hong Kong and Philippines, premises revitalisation and BIR MEECRALGGIEYE
enhancement (formerly known as sub-leasing of premises). D) c RE E2022F38310 IEF
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the subsidiaries of the E-ARANBARTMRFEAR
Company also engaged in the research and development and HRE (PR RERERERE
breeding, sales and trading of aquatic products and related EoHERESURBERE %
services in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"”) which BB N AFEEE20229F1 A28H 5%
was discontinued in current year upon the completion of the PR &R IIZE G ERHE AR QA
disposal of Shenzhen BGI Marine Sci & Tech Co. Ltd*ZIIIZE ([FEXEHE]  EREWB AR
AEERR AR AF("BGI Marine”), which together with BIEXEFEER]) ((HESE] &
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “BGI Marine R FEIBE AR TIOR3 B A
Group”), on 28 January 2022 (the “Disposal”), details BEESEES SN T

are set out in notes 9 and 43. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 48.

Other than those subsidiaries established in the PRC and the BRRPEMFEREXZAMNE R A
Philippines whose functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB") (BB AARB(TAR
and Philippine Peso (“PHP”) respectively, the functional W) RIFEEELR ([FERELR]))
currency of the Company and other subsidiaries is Hong Hh - RRBREAMMMEB QR ATEE
Kong dollars (“HKS$"”). For the purpose of presenting the B RABE(BY%]) -2 EE
consolidated financial statements, the Company and its FmEms AR RENBA
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) AIUAT AR IAEE])RABEE

adopted HK$ as its presentation currency. REZHE -




80

Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 %A A R A &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z=202243A31HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)")

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time,
the following amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the”HKICPA"”) which are
effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 April 2021:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, — Phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior periods
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated

financial statements.

* English name for identification purpose only.

EAHITIRERMBRS
ZA| ([FBHKEHREER ]
EEIES

RAFE  AEBEHERNEANUT
HESSTMAE ((EBEFEHA
) BMMAL N ANEE2021F4 71
HRAZVBRFEERZEETE
B BREER((EBUKREE
Al :

BB HEHEXER] Covid-19487
Fe (BRI 4A) HEESR
BV HHREER FIREEHRE —
FEoW - BB FZRE
HEB|ZE39%: - F

78 B 755 2R 25 22 R
FE7 - BB

R R F A5

NEBT RS

B 1657 (&

RIAN)

RAFERARET AV HRE
EABAHRERBEHRARE L
MBERBRRMRRE HZEHma M
BHREMBIBEBEFTALBEERY
= .

* EXEHEHRBF -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRS(S)") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

ERHFIREBMBERE
A (BB HREER )
EHE:NE))

© PB4 18 1 5k A 3 2 57 R4 R A
BT E B EREER
AL EIZARA AT BAE
W oK A F B M R TS AT B S B

effective. TR 2ER o
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related BRUBEE R & RIAEET
Amendments? LRNE175%

Amendments to Reference to Conceptual Framework? BEMBRERD PRESER M
HKFRS 3 F35% (B F)

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets ERRBmERN REERABE QAR
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its F10RRAEEE AELECHEER
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture® ?TZEE!'K%;ZS?E EEE N

5

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Current ENC R HEENIEATE LI

HKAS 1 or Non-current and the related E15% (BETX) MBARBEEZES
amendments to Hong Kong 5% < HEEE 5T (2020
Interpretation 5(2020) Presentation F)BBRE 25—
of Financial Statements — BRAHITARER
Classification by the Borrower BEEREHER
of a Term Loan that Contains a ETDE
Repayment on Demand Clause?

Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting Policies? ARG ER BHHR L RE
HKAS 1 and HKFRS F1RREBY
Practice Statement 2 BmEENER

w5 F25%
(B3TA)

Amendments to Definition of Accounting Estimates? AL I ZER]
HKAS 8 F85% (B A)

Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and Nl E-RHEANEH
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single F125% (BRIA) BERAEM

Transaction? BRI

Amendments to Property, plant and Equipment: B g ER WE - MERRE

HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use? F16% (BFTA)  ERTERBAN
P15 SRR

Amendments to Onerous Contracts — AL BERO—EIEON
HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract? EXVEACCH P %X

Amendments to COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions EEPBHRELEDN 2021568308 %
HKFRS 16 beyond 30 June 2021" F165% (BFTAR)  COVID-1947 7

HEES

Amendment to Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018 — BRMBREER BAMBREER

HKFRSs 2020 cycle? (BT ) 2018F £2020F 1)
R

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. 1 EQZ;()N FARVB 2 ERBZ FEHE

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 2 EQ2§225E1 R1Bskz &R FEHHE

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 3 R2023F1A1B Sz & RE 2 FE B

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be Ko

determined. 4 T BBz BFA 2 FE AR AR

AAREEEY  RTIXAEES) -
J& PR B Al 3 5T SRR AE RT B8 B 75 3
SEA T GHAK E 2 XE R
RRERERTZE °

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except
as described below, the application of other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
results and the financial position of the Group.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRS(s)") (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related

amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments to HKAS 1 affect only the presentation
of liabilities as current or non-current in the statement of
financial position and not the amount or timing of recognition
of any asset, liability, income or expenses, or the information

disclosed about those items.

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification
is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability, explain
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at
the end of the reporting period, and introduce a definition
of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the
transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other

assets or services.

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current to align the corresponding wordings with no

change in conclusion.

The amendments are applied retrospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application

permitted.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 March
2022, the application of the amendments will not result in
change in the classification of the Group's liabilities.

ER#HITIREBHERE
A ([EBMBEHRELER )
EHE:NE))
EHEH &R S5 (BT &) —
BEESEARBRERDUR
EHREESE ZEBGT
(2020%)
EAEEABIR BT Ry SN
BRRERRDBERIERD ARG
225 CAPEAMEE  BFE -
WASRZ s BRCENER &
BE%SEA 2 HBEER -

ZEEBFRFRERERBSHR
FHEZENDBARBAFERBE
B HAERAESBEIXERERLE
BEITERTESEEHEN A
Hi - Mt g R B R E ST R4 B
TFEZERN - BZIERT IS AlEE ]
MEE UWRBERTEETEKR
T BREITR HbMBEEXRKE
BEXHHF -

BN EERIEAE RS ERRD
BERFRDAELET  THE
BRIBESHE TS - SR
ARH-HABRTE -

ZEIEFTBE2023F1 18k 2 %5
Mz FEHBEYER B A
REFER -

RIEAREBEHET2022638318 2K
EEaE ERAZSBITEELY
AEFEEBEHEZEE -
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISEDHONG 2. FEAH:TIREEMEHRE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS R ([BFAMBHREER])
("HKFRS(s)") (continued) {&R] & (&)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice ERETTEREIREREBHME
Statement 2 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies HEAEBREE2R
(BRTAR)— S BEZHE
ZEEBTERBEBGHEREIRE
e BERRBENRTE - ZFEE]
NTERGHBREN | BRIEXRY
FTER] - WS BERE R B
BHmEPEmEmER—oE
B AR EBEHeTE KUK

The amendments change the requirements in HKAS 1 with
regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The amendments
replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to WMERTEGAERBEZSWHRE
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose EHAIRTE - BlZ et BRERB
financial statements make on the basis of those financial SN

statements.

FE G ERIF 1R FBEN
RET WEBHIFEARS H
EFHEFEENEFBRRER
BHFEAXAEEARE BARHEER
7 B EHFRIREOEE - AIE
THEBTRE S BRERIA
EEBEXN - AM LIHFMAEEK
Ry HtEFHIGFABNES

The supporting paragraphs in HKAS 1 are also amended
to clarify that accounting policy information that relates
to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions is
immaterial and need not be disclosed. Accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or

conditions is itself material.

Guidance and examples were provided to explain and
demonstrate the application of the “four-step materiality
process” described in HKFRS Practice Statement 2. The
application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group's
significant accounting policies. The impacts of application,
if any, will be disclosed in the Group's future consolidated

financial statements.

BREMANGBERX -

BEMBREERNE LR E H25F
REHETEEEEMED - ARER
e MR EERERE] 2.
A-BAZEETBEMTEHAR
BHBRAKERRELTERTE
BREFEASETIEGFIBRRLZ
BE-EHEATE (WA)KRA
BRASENGEEMBEHRRP TUR

= o
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISEDHONG 2. FEAH:TIREEMEHRE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ZA([EBTHHREED D)
(“HKFRS(s)") (continued) CHENE))

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting ERETHERIESH (BFTA)
Estimates S ZER

The amendments to HKAS 8 introduce the definition of BB EAERZEFTSIAIG
‘accounting estimates’. The amendments clarify the distinction EHAETINES - ZFEFIEEEE
between changes in accounting estimates and changes in B SR ETBRRED CHNE
accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, they RILA R S5 ERAYIE o b 4N - HHINEB
clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to ER AR &0 g AR A G
develop accounting estimates. et a o

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods ZEEFTBE2023F1 A8 22 A
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes 2 FEMEAER  WiEARZS
in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates RN BBEENGABERE
that occur on or after the start of that period, with earlier FRe A ES TAATRTE
application permitted. A o

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related EEBGERE125; (BFTR)
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single BE-RZEENEBREERAE
Transaction Y IR #E B4 18

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition ZEBITHREDT B ERF125
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in BSR4 RER BB B RELER
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies BEEZHRAHBEEE FHITH
to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal BRARUEERRELEESERM
taxable and deductible temporary differences. MAMBEREE LIRS °

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are AR EFEBENEHEEECHE
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group currently applies REMs  ASEBREHEEREE
HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and liabilities as MEBERERSTESERE12
a whole. Temporary differences relating to relevant assets and FeHRTE - HEBEERBEEH
liabilities are assessed on a net basis. ZEREFEFEMBE -

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will ERZEFEE % RNEE K EGRE
recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable REEENEEGGHEBNMAR
that taxable profit will be available against which the MERERGEREZHERELER
deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred TH & B (W 7] BE 7 FE SR Jm 1) BT f F)
tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences AT IR T R ZER) RIETE
associated with the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities. HEaE-

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods ZEEFTBE2023F1 A8 & H
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application WM FEWREABER ATRE
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected B HAERZEBITTEHAR
to have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated SR EEMBRREEEMEKR
financial statements as the net temporary differences relating vE RARHEHEERBESR
to relevant assets and liabilities are insignificant. B2 FERERBIFERK -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. Details of fair value measurement
are explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s
returns.

3.

BERETHEE
HAEVBBRIERBREESAMA
SRMNEEM B RELEARE -
o AV BBRREBEELEHA
RPMBRARER EMAA (L
WA REFE QAR E B
BARTE -

REMBRERIDBELKARE
HERBEREPRRBAFEFENSE
FTEBMIARR -

B kAR — RIS B R IRTS B
PR EBHATETE -

RPEATHELEERTERRE
BEFXZHEEEMBRAER
BEMXNZER MARZER
ELRERBEMSHEET AR
BERMERAE RFEFEFHE
RTIXFAEETHRERDEE -

ETEEBRIN X -

REEE

FAVBBREBARARERF
P4 ) B B8 N EL OB X R RO BE S R
7= o i BB 2 R A UUE R T 348
EXPREHRARE M EREA
KBS BT BREREYH
B AEREEEMBHREAKYH
ZMBRARMPBRERIELEEH
o ARERESE NS EEAT -
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(IR ERRITEREEIUTE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group'’s voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

° any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

BEREFTHE®

REE¥E ()
MEAKRERREHRNRERR
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i)
derecognises the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities
of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date
when control is lost, (i) derecognises the carrying amount
of any non-controlling interests in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost (including any components of
other comprehensive income attributable to them), and (iii)
recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest, with any
resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss in profit
or loss attributable to the Group. When assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity,
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets and liabilities
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to
retained earnings as specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

BEREFTHE®
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in
profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's interest in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method.
Under the equity method, interest in an associate is initially
recognised at cost. The Group's share of the profit or loss and
changes in the other comprehensive income of the associate is
recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income
respectively after the date of acquisition. If the Group’s share
of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, which determined using the equity method together
with any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate, the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

If an associate uses accounting policies other than those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
adjustments are made to make the associate’s accounting
policies conform to those of the Group when the associate’s
financial statements are used by the Group in applying the
equity method.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the interest, any excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate is
recognised as goodwill and is included in the carrying amount
of the interest.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Interest in an associate (continued)

After application of the equity method, including recognising
the associate’s losses (if any), the Group determines whether
it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss
with respect to its interest in an associate. The Group assesses
whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an
associate may be impaired. When an objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the interest (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the interest in an associate. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.

When the interest ceases to be an associate upon the Group
losing significant influence over the associate, the Group

discontinues to apply equity method.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associate are recognised in consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors’
interests in the associate. The Group’s share in the associate’s
gains or losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of

the parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Interests in joint operations (continued)

The Group, as a joint operator, recognises in relation to its
interest in a joint operation:

o its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly;

o its revenue from the sale of its share of the output
arising from the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by
the joint operation; and

o its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interests in joint operations in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity enters into a transaction with a joint
operation in which the group entity is a joint operator, such as
a sale or contribution of assets, the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with the other parties to the joint
operation and the Group recognises gains and losses resulting
from such a transaction only to the extent of the other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity enters into a transaction with a joint
operation in which the group entity is a joint operator, such
as a purchase of assets, the Group recognises its share of the
gains and losses until it resells those assets to a third party.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated

impairment loss.

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and

development expenditure

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the

following have been demonstrated:

- the technical feasibility of completing the intangible

asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

- the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or

sell it;

- the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

- how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

—  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or

sell the intangible asset; and

- the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its

development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition
criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense

in the period in which it is incurred.

BEREFTHE®

RERRNRE
A M B 2 R RO 4R B 4 A AR R EHRL
EBEBERARBSBHERRKIIE

BVEE
AEBE R ETE R E-HRX S

BEREZBUTHASRFIEHRE -
FEERE (AAFEBWFAERER)
EENABETLEERTHR

- BREREEETAHERIL
B ZEMAIATIE

—  FERRINAERS S ZET
BEZER:

- ARENERAHEZBVEE:

- %EBEREESELAEMNRE
BN zmE T

- BARERIM BHEEEMER
STRZETVEEZMRE  LE
ARHEZETLEE &

— BEAEAEREVEERME
HIR G HOFA S ©

NHEENETLEEZVISERS
BMOBAEBEEARANTA LEER
BERMELNS LA - WAL E
NERELEMEFEER TR Al
MBEXHEEEENEANBRAME

7
e

MREHRAINEELHRERS
i e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Intangible assets (continued)
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is

regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with
finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over

their estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised

in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Biological assets

Biological assets are living animals including fishes, crabs
and shrimps involved in the agricultural activities of the
transformation of biological assets into agricultural produce
for sale or into additional biological assets. Biological assets
are measured at fair value less costs to sell at initial recognition
and at the end of each reporting period while agricultural
produce harvested from the biological assets are measured
at fair value less costs to sell at the point of harvest, which is
deemed as the cost at that date when the agricultural produce

becomes inventory or additional biological assets.

A gain or loss arising on the initial recognition of a biological
asset at fair value less costs to sell and from a change in fair
value less costs to sell of a biological asset is included in profit
or loss for the period in which it arises. A gain or loss arising
on the initial recognition of agricultural produce at fair value
less costs to sell is included in profit or loss for the period in

which it arises.

Subsequent expenditure relating to producing and harvesting
biological assets are charged to expense when incurred and
costs that increase the number of units of biological assets
owned or controlled by the Group are capitalised in the

carrying amount of the biological assets.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using the first-in,
first-out method. Net realisable value of inventories represents
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

. Step 5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially same.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of

the following criteria is met:
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e The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the o EFERASKERELORRFEIK
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the MERAREBRELYFTIRE ZF
Group performs; fnll

e The Group's performance creates and enhances an asset e AEBERBABIENMATFER
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with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the BRI WEREFPREAESHNE
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service. an 3k AR 75 2 158 Tl M s 1R R o
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Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on

behalf of third parties, discounts, sales rebate and sales related %Ei - HERNRESHER
taxes. 15 o

Contract assets and contract liabilities BHEERSHNER

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration EREERASERNTEPEELRS
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has EE M AR ARERE 2 #EF (&
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transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional

right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required R BpEREER  EREDH
before payment of that consideration is due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

e  Construction contracts
° Sales of aquatic products

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a
construction contract when the contract relates to work on
an asset under the control of the customer and therefore the
Group’s construction activities create or enhance an asset
under the customer’s control.

Revenue from the contract is recognised over time. The
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is
to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation by reference to the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs that
best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services. When the outcome of the contract cannot
be reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only to the
extent of contract costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Construction contracts (continued)

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated
to exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under
the contract, then a provision is recognised in accordance
with an onerous contract. An onerous contract exists when
the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs
of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the
contract and the net cost of continuing with the contract.

The Group's construction contracts normally include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the construction
period once milestones are reached. These payment schedules
prevent the build-up of significant contract assets. The Group
also typically agrees to a one to two years retention period
for 5% to 10% of the contract value. This amount is included
in contract assets until the end of the retention period as the
Group's entitlement to this final payment is conditional on
the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a
certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

Sales of aquatic products

Revenue from sale of aquatic products is recognised at the
point when the control of the goods is transferred to the
customers (generally on delivery of aquatic products and
acceptance by the customer). The Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits ranging from 10%
to 100% of total contract sum as part of its credit risk
management policies and this has resulted in a contract
liability at early stages.

Research and development services

Revenue from service income from marine creatures’ gene
sequencing is recognised at the point when the terms of a
contract with the customer is satisfied and control of the
completion reports is transferred to the customers (generally
on delivery of completion reports). Under these contracts, the
Group renders gene sequencing services in accordance with
the customer’s specification on certain marine creatures.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Service income

Revenue from service income from provision of administrative
services to its joint operations is recognised over time. As a
practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration
from a customer in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group's performance completed to date,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice. The service income recognised
in profit or loss is included in the other income and gain line
item.

Variable consideration

For the consideration promised in a contract includes sales
rebates, the Group estimates the amount of consideration to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the promised goods to a customer.

The Group estimates an amount of variable consideration
by using either the expected value method or the most likely
amount method, depending on which method the Group
expects to better predict the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Sale and leaseback transactions
The Group acts as a seller-lessee

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by
the Group as a seller-lessee. For a transfer that does not satisfy
the requirements as a sale, the Group accounts for the transfer

proceeds as other borrowing within the scope of HKFRS 9.

Leasing
Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,
at inception of the contract, as appropriate. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease
liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is
the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option) and leases of low
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits

from the leased assets are consumed.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease

liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed

payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the

commencement date;

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under

residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding

adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the

revised lease payments using revised discount rate.

o the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is

used).

o a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised

lease payments using a revised discount rate.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an
obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of
the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under HKAS
37 "Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”.
The costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless

those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the

commencement date of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term upon exercise of purchase
option, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the
related depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to
property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The right-of-use
assets that meet the definition of investment property are
presented within “investment property”.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine
whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with
respect to some of its machineries. Leases for which the
Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease,
rather than by reference to the underlying asset. If the head
lease is a short-term lease to which the group applies the
exemption described above, the sublease shall be classified as
an operating lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of exchange translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interest as appropriate).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z=202243A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over
a joint arrangement that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of
a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint
arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or

loss.

Borrowing costs
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group's net obligations in respect of long service payment
to its employees on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is
the amount of future benefits that the employees have earned
in return for their services in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method,
discounted to its present value and reduced by entitlements
accrued under the Group's retirement plans that are attributed
to contributions made by the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period
the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

BEREFTHE®

EHREMRAESER
BETIEBHIR GRS LR A
MR X T RBRIRE A S BEPTIR
HREBRGOHE) ZEFE - TR
KR RERT VR A T LARER o

REHEERNERNABERAR
BEERE AR REERRET

THEAE -

BEMRHESRNERNAER
AEEEPREBERS B ESR
PRt RIEEL MG RKR 2
MEREE o

BiIH
P11 B4 B9 3 42 B 0 7 BB R AT
BB -

B A A T TR AR 4 R R R 04 A 5
H-BRHBNBINEABRER
Hfth 2 T U 58 2R P SR A TRR B AT i
M REERERBEN T EEE
b S E A R S AT FR M 2 IR B -
IR B8 B 7R AR B s I PR HUR A 18
B-AEENAHRBARERAR
EREMREHEMKBEEBMONR
1

BREMBERGEEMBEHRRNEER
BERE B R EERB S P
HERENERZRER - BTN
HAEE-RIMBEERVEREZE
R -BETHEEE—RRRAA
BEER1S B SR T i A A S AT 8 A )
0B iy £ BRI BA P B AT 0BV B
ZHER WERERMDNTHER
—HEAFEERRB SN KNG E T
MRHHMEBEERBEMES
AT EERAMELCHBEEERE

& o



Annual Report 2021/22 %R 107

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in an associate, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of each reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition and over the lease terms due to application
of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress
as described below), are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between
the leasehold land and the building elements in proportion
to the relative fair values at initial recognition. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

(continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are

ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
(including properties under development for such purposes).
Investment properties include leased properties recognised
by the Group as right-of-use asset and leased out under

operating lease.
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Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
development are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under development.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash,
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the cost of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. The classification of
financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial
asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's
business model for managing them. The Group’s financial
assets are classified as financial assets at amortised cost and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.

(i)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit
impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(continued)
(i)  Amortised cost and effective interest method (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting
for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased
or originated credit impaired financial assets, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the "Other income and gain" line item (note
7).

BEREFTHE®

SRTA(E)

THEE (&)

BB HK A B2 A E (BEFT
A)(#)

() BHEKARERNEZEE)

TRMEENHRENASERE
EENRERARRASEERR
M8 INEERERAEA
RAENVREEEHSE L
BT ZER A R #EEH - WHL
EAEBEEREETAE - &/
BENEEABERTREE
EAE R B (F L S R
SHRAS o

SERILE K AT ENER
TAMmME  MEBRARBER
MEXHER - HRBEIRE
EERESREENIINSE
BE NMBRANGELZET
BERNXERREREEDN
FEEAR BRERELEE
RAEH S BB ERIN - HRR
BRECERENEREE
BRZ T BE E R R AR
AEBRNEERNBZWA - 1
REBERNBREHAR  284E
FEERENERTANEER
RBANE SRMEETHF
EERRE MIRBRZEBE
ERNREABERBERN XE
R BN -

MW AR EEZR Tt A
[HUW AR BB (&
7)



Annual Report 2021/22 %R 113

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial asset at FVTPL

Financial asset that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) is measured at FVTPL.
Specifically, investment in equity instrument is classified as
at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity investment
that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration
arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial
recognition.

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss to the extent it is not part
of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the other gains
and losses line item. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in note 40.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost,
contract assets as well as financial guarantee contracts. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other financial assets measured at amortised cost, the
Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL,
unless when there has a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly

since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its

debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the same debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with
the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not
available, the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of
assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the credit
risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contract,
the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either

of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the

debtor; or

° information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate

that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data

about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)

that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial

asset because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. As for
the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the
holder, the debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
The Group's financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-trading,
or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period,
to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXREBE®

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued) eI A

Financial guarantee contracts B BERER

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the MBEREAN R —EEREITAE

issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder BHEENZK NEEREABREE

for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make ERAELRBEBEIENKAX

payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt REBRIEMEEBRNER -

instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a group entity are SEEERBTNIBERGOND

initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated as BRENTEE - Bz (W 3EET

at FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset, RIEATEFAEZBWIFRNE

are subsequently measured at the higher of: EUBEE) RN TREETE

e the amount of the loss allowance determined in e REEBUMBHMEEAFSR
accordance with HKFRS 9; and ETHNEBERESE K&

e the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, e VITHRSER(WMER)RE
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with Wz R IBUR P sR 1) 25T
the revenue recognition policies. HeR o

Derecognition of financial liabilities HIFER T RIE &

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only BEHEEAEBEMNETHER &

when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or H MR ARB A RIEERS

they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of BAE-ERLEEISAA BN

HEHAE N MENKE (BRERD
EBRIRCEEXCDAERE) Z2HE
M ERN B ER

the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is
material). When some or all of the economic benefits required
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of
the receivable can be measured reliably.

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets (other than goodwill)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation can be identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the CGU) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or the CGU) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions and value in use of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill
and other intangible assets for the purpose of impairment
assessment, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability
at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics of
inputs, as follow:

Level 1 —  Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 —  Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.

Level 3 —  Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT 4. BRESTTHE RMETTH
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BRAZNEERER
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which REERARSE &5 B (P 3%
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are M) ARARERAREERAE
required to make judgement, estimates and assumptions BRTEME ~ FT s & 2 DA R 4R
about the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and U BHRERE B EED HE - (A5
expenses reported and disclosures made in the consolidated RER®Z - et REARKZIRRBE
financial statements. The estimates and associated assumptions wEe R H ﬁﬂ RAEMBHEERED-
are based on historical experience and other factors that are BERER A RIRNZEMET o
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on et R BRRIEFEEEERN -
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are WIS E] B B Z BME - Al st
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if fI%ETAE"%uH’Eﬁf T EAR R
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the S ARHE ET R B AN AR MR R AR
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current EyNES uT,HHF'EJ&ﬂiPK,HﬂF%Ew

and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies ERAEBERNE R E

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those RARARIEENEATEE SN
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the F2MERY R 2 BERAE (R
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's T30 BAGN - AR B TEAR G B B R
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect KER CHREREATE AR
on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the FI o

consolidated financial statements.

Classification of joint arrangements EERENDE

Yee Hop-Amain JV and Amain-CW Yee Hop JV are joint Yee Hop-Amain JV}&Amain-CW Yee
operations as the Group have joint control of the arrangements Hop WEBEE XK RAALSHE
and have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, HE BT LR =S AR5
relating to the arrangements. Pursuant to the respective FRZYMHEEZARNEEE
contractual agreements regarding each of these joint BEAEEE BBEAHELFSaLER
arrangements, all major decisions and the decisions regarding HRNEBEAME MBERATE
the relevant activities of these joint arrangements require R EEELHNBRBEBRRTE
the unanimous consent of all parties to the arrangement. HEAKLZHEE T —HRAE AL
Accordingly, the directors of the Company concluded that the AAREERARIEBHEERH

Group has joint control over the joint arrangements. WA LR -
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Classification of joint arrangements (continued)

The directors of the Company also assessed whether these
joint arrangements are joint operations or joint ventures under
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. After considering the rights and
obligations of parties to the joint arrangements with reference
to the structure, the legal form of the arrangements, the
contractual terms agreed by the parties in the arrangements,
and the relevant facts and circumstances, the directors of the
Company concluded that all of the Group's joint arrangements
should be classified as joint operations under HKFRS 11 as
the relevant joint arrangement document specify that the
parties to the joint arrangements have rights to the assets and
obligations to the liabilities relating to the joint arrangements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Accounting for construction contracts

The Group recognises revenue according to the management’s
estimation of the total outcome of the project as well as
the percentage of completion of construction works under
the input method. When determining the total budgeted
costs, management makes reference to information such as
current or recent offers from subcontractors and suppliers and
estimation on material costs, labour costs and other costs for
the completion of the projects provided by its internal quantity
surveyors. Notwithstanding that the management reviews and
revises the estimates of both contract revenue and costs for
the construction contract as the contract progresses, the actual
outcome of the contract in terms of its total revenue and costs
may be higher or lower than the estimates and this will affect
the revenue, cost and profit recognised.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT 4. ARG HE RMEETH
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BAEZEREERIR (450
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment loss on trade receivables, contract assets, ESERRE aHEE &S
deposits and other receivables, pledged deposit, loan REMERE - SEFER
to an associate and loan and interest receivable m—REBE A ARERURERE
MR WA 2B R E BB
The impairment provisions for trade receivables, contract ZBORKFHE 6HEE BER
assets, deposits and other receivables, loan to an associate and HaEWHRIE m—HEEQRE
loan and interest receivable are based on assumptions about KA K B W B SR K E MR B/ R (B
ECL. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions BEENHBHEEEEORRE -
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, RNEBEREE R EBRIBN RE R
based on the number of days that an individual receivable REARREBRBERRNESE
is outstanding as well as the Group's historical experience KE RBIEEER - A HEED
and forward-looking information at the end of the reporting ZEBRREEBRETENG A
period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates could Be-ZERRNMETNECA Y
materially affect the result of the assessment and it may be HHEREEEATE AREBLY
necessary to make additional impairment charge to the profit THBEREHBEINRES D - B
or loss. At 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of trade 2022F3A318 - B S EWRKE -
receivables, contract assets, deposits and other receivables, BREE R R HAME W RIE -
pledged deposit, loan to an associate and loan and interest EERER M- HABREAFE
receivable are approximately HK$100,896,000 (2021: A K B U B R K IR B A BR
HK$147,849,000), HK$107,879,000 (2021: HK$115,373,000), 18 7 5l 4 & 7 %100,896,0007T
HK$28,217,000 (2021: HK$31,536,000), HK$30,870,000 (20214 : & #147,849,0007T) °
(2021: nil), HK$7,362,000 (2021: HK$21,527,000) and 78 #107,879,0007T (20214 : &%
HK$19,256,000 (2021: HK$11,312,000) respectively, net 115,373,0007T) * /& #28,217,000
of accumulated loss allowance for ECL of approximately 7T (20214 : % #31,536,0007T)
HK$2,117,000 (2021: HK$5,191,000), nil (2021: nil), 7 ¥30,870,0007T (20214 : &) -
HK$156,000 (2021: HK$112,000), nil (2021: nil), nil (2021: 7B #57,362,0007C (20214 : B ¥
nil) and HK$835,000 (2021: HK$559,000). 21,527,0007T) K& & #19,256,000

JC (20214 : % #11,312,0007T) °
MEREEBEEBBZRTEERE
2 B #78 #2,117,0007T (20214 ¢
7 #5,191,0007T) ~ & (20214 :
) - 35 #156,0007T (20214 : i
#112,0007T) * £ (20214 : %) -
7 (20214 « #&) K& 835,000
(20214F : B #559,0007T) °
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Impairment loss on interest in an associate

In determining whether the Group’s interest in an associate
is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount.
Impairment assessment had been carried out at the end of
the reporting period on the interest in an associate with
reference to the investee company’s financial performance,
financial position and cash flows of the underlying investment
and comparable industry information. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, no impairment is considered
necessary. As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount
of the Group's interest in an associate is approximately
HK$68,239,000 (2021: HK$68,158,000).

Impairment loss on financial guarantee contracts
The directors of the Company use their judgement in selecting
an appropriate valuation technique for the guarantee
contracts, and assumptions included the probability of
default by the specified counterparty and an analysis of the
counterparty’s current and future financial position.

As at 31 March 2022, the contingent liabilities from the
guarantees in respect of performance bonds in favor of its
clients amounted to HK$50,790,000 (2021: HK$47,795,000).
Further details about the guarantee contracts are set out in
note 42.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment
over their estimated useful life and after taking into account of
their estimated residual values, using the straight line method.
The estimated useful life reflects the directors’ estimate of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group's property, plant and
equipment. The residual values reflect the directors’ estimated
amount that the Group would currently obtain from disposal
of the assets, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal,
if the assets were already of the age and in the condition
expected at the end of its useful life. As at 31 March 2022,
the carrying values of property, plant and equipment are
approximately HK$72,273,000 (2021: HK$206,674,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets in respect of the cash-generating unit
relating to breeding, sales and trading of aquatic
products and related services

Determining whether goodwill, other intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount
which was the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value
in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill,
other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets had been allocated. The value in
use calculation required the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at
28 January 2022, the gross carrying amounts of goodwill,
other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets were approximately HK$15,775,000 (31
March 2021: HK$15,588,000), HK$4,077,000 (31 March
2021: HK$3,944,000), HK$147,256,000 (31 March 2021:
HK$112,304,000) and HK$626,000 (31 March 2021:
HK$2,198,000) respectively, net of accumulated impairment
loss of HK$8,334,000 (31 March 2021: HK$7,346,000),
HK$173,000 (31 March 2021: nil), HK$9,505,000 (31 March
2021: nil) and HK$111,000 (31 March 2021: nil). Details of
the recoverable amount calculation were disclosed in note 18.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Fair value of biological assets

As described in note 22, the directors of the Company used
their judgements and estimates in determining the fair value
of biological assets. The fair values were determined with
reference to the market-determined prices of items with
similar age, breed and genetic merit. The carrying amount
of biological assets as at 31 March 2021 was approximately
HK$11,406,000. During the year ended 31 March 2022, such
biological assets were disposed of through the disposal (Note
43). Details of the assumptions used were disclosed in note
22. The directors of the Company believe that the chosen
valuation techniques and assumptions were appropriate in
determining the fair value of biological assets.

Allowance for inventories

The management reviewed the inventory ageing analysis on
a periodical basis in order to determine whether allowance
need to be made in respect of any obsolete and defective
inventories identified, and estimated the net realisable
value based primarily on the latest sales unit prices, sales
contracts and current market conditions. As at 31 March
2021, the carrying amount of inventories was approximately
HK$30,258,000. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
inventories were disposed of through the disposal (Note 43).
No allowance for inventories was recognised for both years.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WaEkoiHER
Revenue W =
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: REBOFERNREDTAT -
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(Re-presented)
(B#FZ75)
Revenue from contracts with ERMKREERE155
customers within the scope of HEANEFEHWE
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major BEZEMIRGEZED
products or services lines DI
— Construction revenue under —HEREMIARTE
foundation and other civil works BTN 7 BERE 594,277 769,396
— Construction revenue under —BBIREBETCRE
tunneling works gy 141,726 94,469
736,003 863,865
Set out below is the reconciliation of revenue from contracts TREFNKRBEEFFAFILEN 2
with customers with the amounts disclosed in the segment WaEESBERAEE BN

information. B -
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W@k DIBER 50
(continued)
Revenue (continued) Wk (48)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B E2022F3A31HLFE
Segments
PaN:
Foundation
and other Tunneling
civil works works Total
WE R H A
TARIR BEIR st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BT EETR

Types of goods or service Ema R ER
Construction revenue under WEREMEIARTREETZ

foundation and other civil works EEM 594,277 - 594,277
Construction revenue under BRIETRIE T 2 BE W

tunneling works - 141,726 141,726

Total revenue from contracts with HEPMIIV AL Bls

customers 594,277 141,726 736,003
For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Re-presented) HE2021F3A31BIEFE (EFM2
51)
Segments
7 8B
Foundation
and other Tunneling
civil works works Total
HEREA
TARIRE B & THR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT EETT BETT

Types of goods or service Emi RS EE
Construction revenue under WEREMEARTRETZ

foundation and other civil works EHEW 769,396 = 769,396
Construction revenue under BETRET 2 E2E W

tunneling works - 94,469 94,469

Total revenue from contracts with HEEMITY AN Bl
customers 769,396 94,469 863,865
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEKDHER @)
(continued)
Revenue (continued) Yz (&)
Disaggregation of revenue by timing of recognition R [ TE 5 B W 25 5
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Re-presented)
(BEFZ7)
Over time BE B 736,003 863,865
Transaction price allocated to the remaining RENEFIHMERTEAERE
performance obligations for contracts with ZRZER
customers
As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of transaction R2022%3A318 B EXRETT
price allocated to the performance obligations that are (B RBEIT) CBRABEZRS
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) is approximately HK$907 ERAE S4B B07E Bt (2021
million (2021: HK$586 million). The amount represents G BEES86E B IT) c XS RRIETE
revenue expected to be recognised in the future from HHBERESABRROWE - K
construction contracts. The Group will recognise this revenue SEERNEERESONBHNET
as the relevant performance obligation on the construction ZERRE (FAET R AR R5ZE 321 A (2021
contract is satisfied, which is expected to occur over the next F:NRENER) AEE) BRZW

5-32 (2021: 12-22) months. = e
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment information

Information reported to the chief executive officer (“CEQ"),
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods sold and services provided. The
directors of the Company have chosen to organise the Group
around differences in goods and services. No operating
segments identified by the chief operating decision maker
have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments
of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group commenced
to engage in the business of premises revitalisation and
enhancement segment, with the objective to generate rental
income from sub-leasing of its premises in the PRC and it is
considered a new operating and reportable segment by the
chief operating decision maker. No sub-leasing agreement
was signed during the year ended 31 March 2022. Operating
segment regarding the breeding, sales and trading of aquatic
products and related services business was discontinued in
the current year. The segment information reported does not
include any amounts for this discontinued operation, details
which are described in note 9 and note 43.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are as follows:
1. Foundation and other civil works;

2. Tunneling works; and

3. Premises revitalisation and enhancement (formerly
known as Sub-leasing of premises).

5.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoIBER @)
(continued)
Segment revenues and results DEB U S I A
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results INTREF2HREEDEE D H
from continuing operations by reportable and operating AEERERBELEEBHRE R
segments. EED o
For the year ended 31 March 2022 §§2022ﬂ53}§ 31ALEE
Continuing operations R
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other  Tunneling and
civil works works enhancement Total
B R H A MEELR
TAIE BBEIR F & @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BETT BETT BETT
REVENUE g
External segment revenue HNER 2 BB UK 594,277 141,726 - 736,003
Segment profit (loss) 5805 7 (&518) 91,411 13,087 (564) 103,934
Share of profit of an associate DG — B &N B e A 3,574
Unallocated income RABEA 9,597
Unallocated expenses KOBEREX (68,747)
Unallocated finance costs RAOMELE B AR (7,101)
Profit before taxation B AT A 41,257
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WmkoEER @)

(continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued) DEBUE K A& (E)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Re-presented) HE2021F3A3MBLEFE (BEFHZ2
3)
Continuing operations REREED
Foundation and Tunneling
other civil works works Total
Hh 2 e E A
TARTRE B & TR R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BB
REVENUE =
External segment revenue HNER > ZB Uk 2 769,396 94,469 863,865
Segment profit 2 B 7 90,482 8,918 99,400
Unallocated income Ko BEWA 40,829
Unallocated expenses AABFX (68,774)
Unallocated finance costs ROBREKA (4,804)
Share of profit of an associate DG —EEE 2 EEF 19,024
Profit before taxation B B0 BT A 85,675

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note
3. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss
incurred from) each segment without allocation of certain
administrative and other expenses, certain selling and
distribution expenses, directors’ salaries, finance costs, share
of profit of an associate and other income and gain. This is
the measure reported to the CEO for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

RED NS BEREME3M
AEEEFHREMER - 280 (B
B RSN HELEDAE TITHR
HifAx ETHERDHHAX
EEHe BMEXA -DEBRER
B A DA R LAt A R R s B9 1B O
TRTERECE)E A (SRS M ER) - 1t
DEHEETERNERKRRAGM
AT AEE 2| A -
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WaEkoiHER @
(continued)
Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

ITHEERAER
TH AR EEET 2B REE D B
HHMEERAEA

Segment assets TEHEE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(Re-presented)
(EFHE)
Foundation and other civil works WEMEAMEARTE 196,191 209,843
Tunneling works BriE TR 47,736 36,712
Premises revitalisation and WEFL TR
enhancement 318,307 134,857
Total segment assets DEBEELTE 562,234 381,412
Assets relating to BRORIEEBHEE
discontinued operation - 285,970
Corporate and other palREMRDEEE
unallocated assets 315,637 298,583
Total assets BEMTE 877,871 965,965
Segment liabilities SEBEE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Foundation and other civil works RN H M AR TE 76,846 81,409
Tunneling works BriE TR 10,035 5,417
Premises revitalisation and MR R IR
enhancement 231,562 134,857
Total segment liabilities HEPBELRTE 318,443 221,683
Liabilities relating to FHERIEEBNEE
discontinued operation - 112,373
Corporate and other NARHEMARDEEE
unallocated liabilities 85,250 188,100
Total liabilities afE®E 403,693 522,156
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoIBER @)
(continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) PHEERAR(E)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and MERDHRIAMRDFBEDEE
allocating resources between segments: REBME :

1. All assets are allocated to operating segments, other
than interest in an associate, amount due from joint
operations, loan to an associate, financial asset at FVTPL,
certain plant and equipment, other non-current assets,
loan and interest receivables, bank balance and cash,
tax recoverable, certain deposits, prepayments and other
receivables, other current assets, certain right-of-use
assets and deferred tax assets. Assets used jointly by
reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the
revenues earned by individual reportable segments; and

2. All liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other
than certain trade payables, certain accrual and other
payables, bank and other borrowings, tax payable,
long service payment obligations, amount due to a
related company, certain lease liabilities and deferred
tax liabilities. Liabilities for which reportable segments
are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to segment
assets.

BB E R R BRAE
EBRE - A E QB REH
MER RAFEFABED
CREE BETHSINRE
HFERBDEE  BRER R
MECRITERRES AT
EHE & TEE ANKEA
RE A EWGRIR - iR B &
EETERREERRTER
HEEIN MEBEEEANET
REDE - 2D AR L
R EEZRRER R 2% D
FER W E DA R

BRETEZRNREA  ET8
B R E MRS RIR - R]IT
REMES  BARE K5
RIGE AL BNBEERRR
R ATHERENMEEKRA
BEI IBEREADE TR
B ER o KA 2 W #B A F A&
EORBEZRROBEEMNLD
DEC e
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Other segment information Hitt 7 # & H
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
andother  Tunneling and
civil works works enhancement  Unallocated Total
HEREf NEELR
IAIR  REIR A& OB @
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
BeTn  BRTn  BETn BETn BETx
Year ended 31 March 2022 BEANEIANBLEE
Continuing operations EEaeey
Amounts included in the measure of AEEHES BEARAPEEN
segment profit or segment assets: 8
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 1,174 2,563 - 16,306 30,083
Additions to non-current assets FEFRDEE 4,065 1375 127,926 9,786 143,152
Amounts regularly provided to the chief ~ RHETELERRERHETEE
operating decision maker but notinduded ~ EHEAPRAAI PEENLE:
in the measure of segment profit or
segment assets:
Bank interest income BIMERA = = = (669) (669)
Loan interest income EFHEMA - - - (1,048) (1,048)
Interest income on bonds EHMEWA = = = (621) (621)
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment, net ~ HERERRE UG FE - - - (1,390 (1,390)
Share of profit of an associate HME-HBE QR ZEH - - - (3574) (3,574)
Finance costs HERA - - - 7,101 7,101
Income tax expense AR - - - 8,251 8,251
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WaEkoHER @
(continued)
Other segment information (continued) Hitb o BER (8)
Continuing operations FFERE R
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
andother  Tunneling and
civil works works  enhancement  Unallocated Total
HWEREM ER I

TATR REIR i il #;
HKS000  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HK$'000
E¥TL  EBTn  ARTn RMTR AETR

Year ended 31 March 2021 (Re-presentec) HENNEIRALEE (EHET)

Amounts included in the measure of AREHEADERD
segment profit or segment assets: ABRENEE:
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH 12,521 2873 - 13,426 28826
Additions to non-current assets TEERDEE 18,394 5,984 134,857 1,550 160,785

Amounts regularly provided to the chief ~~ EHETELERREARM
operating decision maker butnotincluded ~ BF BIEEIEA A

in the measure of segment profit or FHRENLR:

segment assets:

Bank interest income RITHEHA - - - (383) (383)
Loan interest income EFHEMA = = = (208) (208)
Imputed interest income on bonds EHHERIBMA = = = (6272) (6,272)
Interest income on bonds EEMEWA = = = (1,002) (1,002
Government subsidies B - = = (21,888) (21.889)
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment, net ~ HERERRIENE 28 - - - (126) (126)
Share of profit of an associate Mi-RBEA AR - - - (19,024) (19,024)
Impairment of financial assets SREENE = = = 1,481 1481

Finance costs BARK - = = 4804 4,804

Income tax expense FEREY = = = 6,894 6,804




140 Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 %A A R A &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z=202243A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoIBER @)
(continued)
Other segment information (continued) Hitb o BER (8)
Geographical information 1 7B & HY
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, the PRC REBERES  PRKFEREES -

and the Philippines.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external ERASEREIINETEFP M ED
customers is presented based on the location of the BRIREEFMEME®R - BEAX
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current assets EEFERBDEENER NREED
is presented based on the geographical location of the assets. HWEVESWR -

Year ended Year ended

31/3/2022 31/3/2021

BZE2022%F B ZE20214F

3A31HLLEE 3A31HIEFE

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

(Re-presented)

(EFZ7))

Revenue from external customers R B NSRBI R

Hong Kong aBE 726,938 853,502
The Philippines JEEE 9,065 10,363
Total HEt 736,003 863,865

Non-current assets*

ERBEE
At 31/3/2022 At 31/3/2021
720225 R20214F
3A31H 3A31H
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BB T
Hong Kong A 155,943 158,998
The PRC F 272,247 297,077
The Philippines JFEE 21,794 29,281
449,984 485,356
* Non-current assets exclude those financial instruments and deferred 3 IRBEETBRZEEMIAR
tax assets. BLEHIBEE -
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEKDHER @)
(continued)
Information about major customers FEEFNER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year RBEFEAAEE R KT RIB
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are BI0%HF P WM
as follows:
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Company A’ ~AEA 126,691 213,599
Company B' A FIB' 102,998 161,324
Company C' ~ac 109,947 154,977
Company D' NGIIDL N/AT 38 F? 142,088
1 Revenue from both foundation and other civil works and tunneling v KE U E R E At ARTEREET
works segments. 25 P E Was o
2 The revenue from that customer was less than 10% of the total 2 REEHEREZETP RS DR

revenue of the Group during the reporting period. REEBUEER10% °
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 6. Ht AR WKz
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(Re-presented)
(BFZ75)
Continuing operations BELSEER

Bank interest income RITHEUA 669 383

Gain on disposal of plant and 3R R R e
equipment 1,390 126
Government subsidies (note 1) RIS #Bh (H7aE1) - 21,888
Insurance claim REgEE(E 541 576
Sundry income FEIFUA 3,589 1,934
Imputed interest income on bonds BEAFHERSWRA - 6,272
Interest income on bonds BEHF B WA 621 1,002
Rental income from equipment REREWRA 246 413
Exchange gain M 5 M E - 8,027
Loan interest income (note 2) BER B WA (F5E2) 1,048 208
Service income (note 3) BRF WA (H7523) 1,493 =
9,597 40,829

Notes: Hiat -

1. For the year ended 31 March 2021, government subsidies 1. HE2021F3A3MB LFE - BUS
amounting to HK$21,074,000 (2022: nil) was received under the Bh 4 #21,074,0007T (20224 « &)
Employment Support Scheme and HK$814,000 (2022: nil) was B R gt F 5+ 81 U E & 7 #5814,0007T
received from Construction Industry Council as the Anti-epidemic (20225 : ) B B2 EHE R REIE
Fund to support eligible construction company to overcome the RIEES  LEPEEREERA
challenge from outbreak of COVID-19. 7 ARCOVID-19/R B A5 SR R BR &S, -

2. The amount represented loan interest income from loan receivable 2. ZeERRKE —HABLIAZE
from a related company (note 28). WERWERF B WA (FzE28) °

3. The amount represented service income from joint operations. 3. ZEERRKEEEEE 2 RIBBA -

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. WMERAE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(Re-presented)
(EFHZE7)
Continuing operations BELSEER
Interests on: PN
— bank overdraft and bank borrowings —RITBEEZRRITEE 2,484 4,670
— other borrowings —HEmEE 918 -
— lease liabilities —HEaE 3,699 134
7,101 4,804
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8. FTEFHBxX

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Re-presented)
(BEFZ7))
Continuing operations BREKSEXER
Current year taxation REFZHIA
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFEH 9,954 5,525
Over-provision in prior years: T BEEE :
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFEH = (67)
Deferred taxation (note 25) RIEBIIE (K75225) (1,703) 1,436
8,251 6,894

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021,
Hong Kong profits tax of the qualified entity of the Group is
calculated in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The profits of other Group entities in Hong Kong
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.
Accordingly, provision for PRC EIT for the PRC subsidiaries is
calculated at 25% on the estimated assessable profit for the
year. No PRC EIT has been provided for the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021 as the assessable profits are absorbed
by unrecognised tax losses.

Under the Philippines National Tax Law, the tax rate of the
Philippines subsidiary is changed from 30% to 25% since
11 April 2021 following the effective of Corporate Recovery
and Tax Incentives for Enterprises (CREATE) Act. Accordingly,
provision for the Philippines Corporate Tax for the Philippines
subsidiary is calculated at 25% (2021: 30%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year. No Philippines Corporate Tax has
been provided for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021
as the Philippines subsidiary did not have any assessable profits
subject to Philippines Corporate Tax.

* Translation of Chinese name for identification purpose only

BER-_BHESHEEHE 28K
CENEBE2EBE THEAHFE
iR A8.25% M@ BH2EBE LW
EmHF B RE A16.5%  H =2
20224 202153 A31B IEEE -
AEBAERBERENEEINEHR
B_RHESHEEEGEFTE - T
BRAEHRBHREENANEEE
EANEMEENENSEERR
16.5% ) B — B BT o

BREPEARELMBOEMESR A
(¥R EHZED NOCEMBHE
BERiEG PENBRAAMNMRES
25% c At G BB AR A
HEMESHBERFANGBTER
TR A BI25%FT & - i 220228 &
2021F3A318 IEFE  ARERM
m A ERABRIEEEBRIK &
IR B TSR B -

BEFEEERRB L FRENE
DA RE(DEE TR TS BE
7£) (CREATE) %2 B2021%F4 8118 #
H30%% W 525% ° Atk - gL IE=2
EWBARINIERELERBED
BFE N EREGE T A25% (2021
F:30%) st E - mARFERENE
AR EEFAMMFERELER
B R B K B L AL E2022F K
20213 A31B I FE W ETIRIERE
B -

* XA BEEEEREG
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 8. FrEBIBAX ()
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit $¢ﬁ$ﬂlﬁﬁ'ﬁiﬁﬁiﬁ$é\¢§ﬁﬁ&ﬁ\{ﬁ
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss 2 TH U 55 2% P 81 bR 250 A& A ¥ BR 20
and other comprehensive income as follows: N
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Re-presented)
(BEFZ7)
Continuing operations HEREER
Profit before taxation B A S 41,257 85,675
Tax calculated at the domestic income 1% & H AT 1575 % 16.5%
tax rate of 16.5% FFERRIE 6,808 14,136
Tax effect on share of result of an AME—HBERAREE L
associate Mg & (590) (3,139)
Tax effect of income not taxable for ~ & H EBERTWA Z
tax purposes MG E (443) (5,775)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible {7 5 E A A] FE 2 HH 2
for tax purposes Mg 2 1,773 536
Over-provision in prior years BEFERERE - (67)
Utilisation of tax loss previously not B BT KRR
recognised TIEE 18 (124) -
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised ~ RIERTLIEE BN E L E 2,233 2,939
Effect of two-tiers profits tax rates MBRFERR RS EO B
regime (165) (165)
Tax effect of deductible temporary AERZAUNRERER 2
difference not recognised ﬁlﬁ - - - 92
Effect of different tax rates of REM AR E 2 B
subsidiaries operating in other RARIWEERE#B 2
jurisdictions or subsidiary subject to MEBARTRME 2 Z2E
statutory tax rate (1,221) (1,603)
Effect of tax exemption granted (note) ERFHEE % 2 522 (ffat) (20) (60)
Income tax expense for the year NEEZFEFEX 8,251 6,894
Note: Tax exemption represents a reduction of Hong Kong Profits Tax Kiat - TS E % B R 20214F/20224F 2020
for the years of assessments 2021/2022 and 2020/2021 by 100%, FROVFERRFEEHR100%E B
subject to a ceiling of HK$10,000 (2021: HK$20,000). FSH - ER A %10,0007T (2021

& B%20,0007T) °
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DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 16 December 2021, the Group entered into a sale
agreement to dispose of an indirect subsidiary, BGI Marine,
which BGI Marine Group carried out all of the Group’s aquatic
products business. The disposal was effected in order to
re-deploy the Group’s resource on other business development
opportunities with better outlook and prospects and develop
the Group's existing business. The disposal was completed on
28 January 2022, on which date control of BGI Marine passed
to the acquirer.

The loss for the period/year from the discontinued operation
is set out below. The comparative figures in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
have been restated to re-present the sales of aquatic products
as discontinued operation:

BRIEER

20215128168 » KEB T H
e LEMBENBAREKNE
FMEANSFEEREHAEAEE
FrEKEXK ETHERATH
AEENEREFTALZEHEMAS
FEEEMAIENEBEEKS
VTEEEEMNREES ZBELE
B 202245 1 A28H R M E A G+
MIEHEERZ AR FUREER -

ERIEEBOBHE FEEBEESH
wr-FERaEME2E KSR
TR FERLED - KE
HEEMZIEC R LLET -

For the period For the

ended 28 year ended

January 2022 31 March 2021

B E20225F HZE20214F

1H28H LLHAE 3HA31HILFE

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BB T

Loss of BGI Marine for the period/year % X/ ¥R EIM,FEEE (94,087) (40,511)
Gain on disposal of BGI Marine HEEFFH KR

(note 43(a)) (Bt7t43@)) 77,946 -

(16,141) (40,511)
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9. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 9.

The results of BGI Marine for the period from 1 April
2021 to 28 January 2022, which have been included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, were as follows:

B IEER @)

AT BEXEFNR2021F4818 &
2022F 1 A28H HAM M ¥4 (BT A
GEBEERHEMERMEER)

For the period For the
ended 28 year ended
January 2022 31 March 2021
#HZ20226 HZE20214F
1A28H LM 3A31HIEEE

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue U % 92,048 192,588
Cost of revenue L EIp PN (84,762) (171,716)
Gross profit EA 7,286 20,872
(Loss) gain from changes in fair value A& E QA FEZH >
of biological assets less costs to sell (E518) Uh #5888 & A AR (5,989) 8,623
Other income and gain H AU A K Wz 9,507 5,259
Administrative and other expenses TR R B b 2 (58,734) (36,415)
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HEAX (18,027) (25,523)
Impairment loss of goodwill FEREEE (8,334) (7,346)
Impairment losses of financial assets & B & E R EEIE (9,123) (922)
Impairment loss of property, M - R RBEREER
plant and equipment (9,505) -
Impairment loss of other HtEmp EEmEEE
intangible assets (173) -
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets {3 FR # & E R {EE 18 (111) =
Finance costs = PN (3,973) (5,354)
Loss before taxation bR AT E 1B (97,176) (40,806)
Income tax credit Frigfiig & 3,089 295
Loss for the period/year HAR,EE B R (94,087) (40,511)
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9. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 9. BRIEEK®@
For the period For the
ended 28 year ended
January 2022 31 March 2021
HZ20225F B ZE20214F
1H28H L #E 3A31HILFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loss for the period/year from REDRIEEBH
discontinued operation includes R FEBEReE
the following: THEIE
Staff costs B TR A
Salaries and other benefits e MHE MR 17,507 19,512
Retirement benefit scheme RIRAEFIFT B K
contributions 997 1,039
Total staff costs (excluding directors’ 8 T4 A (EHE &R IN
... Temuneration (note 71)) | (Wa11) 18504 20,551
Impairment losses on financial assets: < Bh & EE Bl (&5 18 -
— trade receivables — 8 ZEWGIR 8,678 815
— other receivables — H b JE WK IE 445 107
Total impairment losses on TREERBEHBESE
_ financialassets 9123 922
Amortisation of intangible assets BAESE
(included in cost of revenue) (GF AU Z R AN) 150 913
Depreciation of property, M - B REETE
plant and equipment 12,878 14,615
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 1,624 2,173
__Total depreciation and amortisation & RMms@E 14652 17.701
Cost of inventories recognised as an W R AFH X HWF EK A
expense 70,195 155,222
Research and development expenses TR &5 Sz AR 85 2
recognised as an expense (note (i) (B aE0) 14,164 16,345
Loss on write-off of property, MY - e R ERIEEBE
plant and equipment - 9
Government subsidiaries (note (i) TR 468 B (AT (7)) (4,978) (5,274)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary s — B A R AR e (4,307) -
Fair value loss on financial asset TABZEREEN
through profit or loss ~NTEEE - 102
Bank interest income RITHEWA (128) (46)
Sundry income I A (94) (41)
Other income and gain o N & (9,507) (5,259)
Interests on: A
— bank borrowings —RITIEE 2,888 3,826
— other borrowings —HiEE 1,003 1,320
— lease liabilities —HEAR 82 208
Finance costs AL A 3,973 5,354

147
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9.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

Notes:

(i) The BGI Marine Group's research and development costs are mainly
expenditures incurred for the formulation, design and evaluation
of various aquatic products. Management assessed that those
internal projects are in the research and initial development stage,
and did not capitalise any of those expenditure as an asset, of
which approximately HK$14,164,000 (2021: HK$16,345,000) was
recognised in cost of revenue

(ii) Government grant was received from the PRC government
authorities for the Group’s construction on laboratories of which an
amount of approximately HK$4,978,000 (2021: HK$4,575,000) was
transferred from deferred income to profit or loss for the year ended
31 March 2022. Other government subsidies of approximately
HK$699,000 (2022: nil) were received from the PRC government
authorities for development of agriculture business without
unfulfilled conditions during the year ended 31 March 2021.

During the year, BGI Marine Group contributed approximately
HK$24,445,000 (2021: HK$1,083,000) to the Group's net
operating cash inflows, paid approximately HK$10,637,000
(2021: HK$21,675,000) in respect of investing activities
and paid approximately HK$5,700,000 (2021: received
approximately HK$27,607,000) in respect of financing
activities. The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of
BGI Marine Group at the date of disposal are disclosed in note
43(a).

9.

BRIEE®E@®
Hiat -

(i) ERXEFEENHARERAERANE
ZARME - B REBESEKER
EAEMSH -  EBE T H%ERNIE
BENARRNLSHERE B E
ERENZELHAREE &P
#4976 #14,164,0007T (20214 : B &
16,345,0007T) R AR KA ©

(iy  BUTH B A B T BB ATEFPT AT Uk ER
ARASEERZEL HP&EZ
2022F3A31H L FEE BELEWRA
8 A 18 25 4975 #4,978,0007T (2021
4 #5#4,575,0007T) © b ERAT
B 47 #6699,0007T (20224 « &) B
rh B B 7 B P9 & BUA R B 22021483
A3BLFERREEEL BIE
AR K I o

FAN - ERXREBFEBAELAEERN
KERESRAFHEBENBE
24,445,0007T (20214 : 1,083,000
) BRI EBEEE XN B
10,637,0007¢ (20214 : 21,675,000
L) BB EEE Z NN B
5,700,0007T (20214F : U 5| 4978 #&
27,607,0007T) c EREGFEEZE
EXBEREEBHNEEENR
B zT43(a) ik 3E o
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10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

10. EFE&EA

FEa M TR TS TFER

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Re-presented)
(EFHE)
Continuing operations HREREXER
Staff costs E TR
— Salaries and other benefits —EHeREMmET 171,917 192,761
— Retirement benefit scheme —RIRAE R8I 30
contributions 7,738 8,714
— Provision for long service payment —REIRE S BEE 920 67
Total staff costs (excluding directors’ 8 T4 K (BEE=ES
___remuneration (note 1)) (Hraz1n)eesn) 179,745 201,542
Impairment losses on financial assets: & @b & & B & 18 :
— loan and interest receivable —EWE A E 276 559
— trade receivables —Z Z WA 2,117 =
— other receivables — H b B W FRIE 44 -
Total impairment losses on TREERBEBEESE
__ financialassets 2,437 559
Depreciation of property, M - MR RERETE
plant and equipment 25,715 25,202
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 4,328 3,624
__Total depreciation and amortisation  #7#& Rfisaess 30043 28,826
Auditor’s remuneration =AD& 1,115 1,100
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EERTHAR N
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2021: BB AR R AL (20214F )\
eight) directors and the CEQ of the Company were as follows: ) EERITHAHMOFHHAOT
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE2022F3A31BLFE
Non-executive
Executive directors (E0 Independent non-executive directors director
ynEs ks BUfdES FifEes
Mr. Jim Yin Mr. Leung Mr. Wong

Kwan, ~ Mr.Chui HungKwong, — MrXu  MrYan Mr. Lee Mr.Yu  ChiKeung,  Mr.Wang

Jackin -~ Mo Ming Derrick JunMin ChiTat  LukShiu  Hon Kwan Johnny Jian Total
ERRAE ARBRE BERRE BERRE ERERE FRAAE REMRE ISERE  IRRE B3t
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
ABTn  EMTr BT EMTr BRTn EMTn BRTn EMTr BMTn ERTn

(note (v))
(Rf3E()
Emoluments paid ?ﬁ%ﬁf@ MJT\E?‘A%]K{?H;]
o receivable AAMBLA TR
inrespect of a 2R
Person's services as
a director, whether
of the Company
or s subsidiary
undertaking
Fees 2k - - - - W W W - m
Oferemouments; M
Salares e 2400 116 1230 59 1.3% - - - -
Discetionarybonus ~ BARTEAL 460 45 199 - 434 - - - - 158
Retirement ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ'%}ﬁ%\
benefit scheme
contributions 203 137 8 113 131 - - - - 667

Total it 3083 2268 1512 19 yll) yll) yIl) - 10176
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Annual Report 2021/22 F ik

1. EERITHERFHN @

Year ended 31 March 2021 BZE2021F3A31B IEFE
Executive directors (€] Independent non-executive directors
WEE et BUNTES
Mr. Leung
Mr. Jim Yin Mr. Chui - Hung Kwong, Mr. Xu Mr. Yan Mr. Lee Mr.Yu  Mr. Wong Chi
Kwan, Jackin -~ Mo Ming Derick JunMin ChiTat Luk Shiu- HonKwan ~ Keung, Johnny Total
ERERE RRAAE PEXEE RERTE BTERE TRARE REMEE TTERA %3
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EUTr  AETr  A%Tn  AETn  RETn AETrn AETn  EETn AETo
Emoluments paid WE—E M%E\Q%g
of receivable AAMSLA
in respect of a ESCAEK
o 3
Person’s services as
a director, whether
of the Company
or its subsidiary
undertaking
Fees e - - - - - 240 20 20 70
Other emoluments; RAEH:
Salaies i 200 176 1230 63 13% - - -
Discetionary bonus~~ EVIAAEAL 400 400 120 - 400 - - - 130
Retirement @Wﬁﬂﬁgugi\%\
benefit scheme
contributions 105 65 49 85 N - - - 375
Total it 2,905 2,181 1399 758 1827 210 240 210 9,790

Notes: Kiat -

(i) The discretionary bonus is based on the individual performance of (i) BBEATBEBEESZAARER
the directors and the Group’s performance and profitability and the REBZRBERENEE N RE AT
prevailing market conditions. SEETE ©

(i) ~ Mr. Yan Chi Tat is also the CEO of the Company and his (i) BEEXETDRADRRRITHELE
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by TR EXHBENGTNRERERE
him as the chief executive. ETBABFTIRMHOZER -

(i) Neither the CEO nor any of the directors waived any emoluments (i) MRMEFEA - PBETHREEREM
for both years. BEERETAME -

(iv)  No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors and CEO vy RMEFERN  NREBEWERAQF
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the AMEERITRERKIFERMES
Group or as compensation for loss of office for both years. ERMAREBE R IMAREBFKH

BRI SKAE RIS o
(v Mr. Wang Jian is appointed as non-executive director on 19 April ()  SERBEAN2021F48198EET A

2021.

FEHITEE -
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12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 12. ZEFMA L
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEBLEESFMALF  HAF
Group, four (2021: four) of them were directors or the CEO PMA (20214 : (U AN) BARBIEER
of the Company whose emoluments are included in note 13 FITHAH BENHFHERER
above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2021: one) ESCH 13 e g — & A £ (2021
individual were as follows: F = AN)BFMT -
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Salaries, allowances and e M REMBEF
other benefits 1,219 1,214
Contributions to retirement RIRFEFIET B30
benefits scheme 67 67
1,286 1,281
His emoluments were within the following band 1% 2 N To B 7 DA T 43 &
2022 2021
No. of No. of
employees employees
ES®E BEHE
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 741,000,001 78
75 %1,500,0007T 1 1
13. DIVIDENDS 13. K2
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no interim B 2£2022%F K2021F3A31H IEF
and final dividend has been proposed or paid. & - 8RR SOR N H ROR B AR

B o
1SN
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Annual Report 2021/22 “F 3k

14. BRER

a) From continuing and discontinued operations
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per
share attributable to the owners of the Company is

based on the following data:

a)

REFERKEXEBRER
T3

RABHEE ABEHERER
NS B TR T 51 SR 5t
g

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Earnings Z R
Earnings for the purpose of ARGt EEREREFT
basic earnings per share Eopebil 39,512 49,317
Number of shares RO E ‘000 ‘000
Weighted average number ARGt EERERZT K T IR T
of ordinary shares for the EFHEBRER
purpose of basic earnings per
share 500,000 500,000

b) From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per
share attributable to the owners of the Company is

based on the following data:

b)

REFEKERY
RRBEE ARG THRE
7R K HSE B A TR AR T 51 8
BETHE

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Earnings &R
Earnings for the purpose of ARETEEREARRNH
basic earnings per share 27 39,512 49,317
Less: (profit) loss for the year B REBERIEERD
attributable to owners of the RATHE AERER
Company from discontinued CaAl) g8
operation (4,950) 30,139
Profit for the purpose of basic ~ AR ERBHFBELCLER
and diluted earnings per share BB REAR KR T K
from continuing operations il 34,562 79,456
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #£2022F3A31HItFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
c¢) From discontinued operation

Basic and diluted earnings (2021: loss) per share for the
discontinued operation attributable to the owners of
the Company is HK1 cent per share for the year ended
31 March 2022 (2021: HK6 cents per share), based
on the profit (2021: loss) for the year ended 31 March
2022 from the discontinued operations of approximately
HK$4,950,000 (2021: HK$30,139,000) and the
denominators detailed above for both basic and diluted
earnings (2021: loss) per share.

The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings
per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares
outstanding during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

14. BRER @

)

RECKRIEER

HE2022F3831HILFEE®
RATER ANBHERIEER
R ZREAREERF (2021
F E8) AEE1(L (20214 -
BREBe) - HREEZ
2022F3A31BIEEEXRAED
BIEEB®RF (20219F « B
18) #9755 #4,950,0007T (2021
£ : $51#30,139,0007T) A Kk
MR EAR R EEEF (2021
F BB MFLNSEFE -

MR E 220229 %2021F3A31H 1t
FEVETMABTENNRTE
LTER EREBEERFSENERE
KEF -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W15 - BERRE

Ownership
interests in Machinery
leasehold land Leasehold and Motor  Construction
and buildings  improvement equipment vehicles in progress Total
HELHE
BEH
fERE: HENERE  HERRE RE ERIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI BRI BRI AR BETT
cost A
At 1 April 2020 M202064A18 37,788 16,199 324,038 26,757 4,094 408,876
Additions HE - - 26,205 12,853 636 39,694
Disposals HE = = (300) (2,018) = (2,318)
Write-off ik - - (138) - - (138)
Exchange realignment B 5 R 1,340 3318 7,886 127 372 13,043
At 31 March 2021 M2021E3A31H 39,128 19,517 357,691 37,119 5,102 459,157
Additions HE 24 = 4,436 4,365 1314 10,139
Disposals HE = = (4,127) (2,737) = (6,864)
Disposals through BRLERBAF

disposal of subsidiaries & (#7i24303))

(note 43(a)) (40,572) (20,090) (78,852) (1,135 (6,607) (147,256)
Exchange realignment 5 HE 1,420 573 (143) (10) 191 2,031
At 31 March 2022 M2022F3A31H = = 279,005 38,202 - 317,207
ACCUMULATED ZHTERAE

DEPRECIATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2020 202054418 1,507 4418 184,636 20,388 = 210,949
Charge for the year FRMB 2,99 2,786 29,347 4,690 = 39,817
Eliminated on disposals &5 13 - - (300) (594) - (894)
Eliminated on write-off il 5# ¥4 - - (129) = = (129)
Exchange realignment kS 488 434 1,752 66 - 2,740
At31 March 2021 12021434318 4,989 7,638 215,306 24,550 - 252,483
Charge for the year FRMB 2,825 2,095 29,864 3,809 = 38,593
Impairment loss RERBRRESE

recognised in profit

or loss 3,300 850 4712 28 615 9,505
Eliminated on disposals &% - - 4127) (1,640) = (5,767)
Disposal through BRHENBAA

disposal of subsidiaries & (47i#43(a)

(note 43(a)) (11,416) (10,863) (26,359) (895) (615) (50,148)
Exchange realignment ERAE 302 280 (312) @) = 268
At 31 March 2022 2022634318 = - 219,084 25,850 - 244,934
NET CARRYING VALUES ~ BRfIF(E
At31 March 2022 #202263A318 - - 59,921 12,352 - 72,273
At 31 March 2021 M202153A310 34,139 11,879 142,385 13,169 5102 206,674
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equipment as the Group obtained ownership of the underlying
leased assets upon settlement of entire lease liabilities.

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking into account
of their estimated residual values, over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

Ownership interest in
leasehold land and
buildings

Leasehold improvement

4.75% - 10% per annum

Over the shorter of the term of
lease or 3 years
Machinery and equipment ~ 20% — 33.33% per annum

Motor vehicles 20% — 25% per annum

The leasehold land and buildings are located in the PRC under
medium-term lease.

Details of impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment related to the operating segment in breeding, sales
and trading of aquatic products and related services are set
out in note 18.

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W15 - B|ERRE @
(continued)
Note: et -
(i) Certain right-of-use assets were transferred to property, plant and (i) HRASEREE2HHERER

RSHEBEEEEENMBERE  MET
ERRAECEREDE HHENR
1

Liix - #BERRERE THERA

BB REGFARBEERRR
HINMAFHER FRANE :

HELHRETFTH SF4T5%E

HHEER 10%
HEWHERE RS F
—EREE
A % 7% FF20%=E
33.33%
RE FFE20%E25%

FHENETOHEE L T
RHE -

SUKERE - #ERH DRI
BB OEEDBEBODE 13
AR R AR RN 18 -



Annual Report 2021/22 %R 157

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z=202243A31HIEFE

16. LEASES 16. A E
(i) Right-of-use assets () EREEE
31/3/2022 31/3/2021
2022%3H31H 202143A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Motor vehicle AE 593 785
Buildings gF 6,578 3,125
7,171 3,910
The Group has lease arrangements for motor vehicle, REBETE - WRAEYE -
office properties, site offices and storage area. The lease HWERAERGTHREERE
terms are generally ranged from two to eleven years. ZH - HBA—RNTIMET—
The lease payments are fixed. F -HENRRBEERS -
Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 HE2022F3A31ALEFE
March 2022 amounted to approximately HK$9,786,000 FTRHEEERERNEBK
(2021: HK$311,000) and nil (2021: HK$1,000,000), due 9,786,0007T (20214 : B ¥
to new leases of office properties and motor vehicle. 311,0007%) M 48 (20214F : &
#1,000,0007T) * HAFEE
BFERAEME -
(i) Lease liabilities (i) HEAE
31/3/2022 31/3/2021
2022%3H31H 2021F3H31H
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TR AR¥ETT

Non-current IERED 223,161 130,416
Current s 13,906 8,319

237,067 138,735
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16. LEASES (continued) 16. HE )
(i) Lease liabilities (continued) (i) HEAEB®E)
Amounts payable under lease liabilities HESEEMNE
31/3/2022 31/3/2021
2022%3H31H 202143A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Within one year —FR 13,906 8,319
After one year but within two —FUEMEUAR
years 20,410 9,678
After two years but within MER ERFENUAR
five years 64,288 34,340
After five years REMRE 138,463 86,398
237,067 138,735
Less: Amount due for settlement 38 : 1218 A A 2 £
within 12 months (shown WEZENEEE
under current liabilities) (RRBEETYIR) (13,906) (8,319)
Amount due for settlement after FA 1218 A 12 ZI| HA
12 months WARBHNEER 223,161 130,416

As at 31 March 2022, included in lease liabilities was
an amount of approximately HK$6,649,000 (2021:
HK$357,000) due to a related company. During the
year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered into a
number of new lease agreements in respect of renting
office properties (for its own use and sub-lease purposes)
and motor vehicles and recognised lease liabilities of
approximately HK$94,628,000 (2021: HK$135,168,000)
and nil (2021: HK$1,000,000) respectively.

The controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr. Jim Yin
Kwan, Jackin, has beneficial and controlling interest in
the related company.

MR202243A31H - HAEARE
PEEEMN —HHREQIAN
FRIE 4975 #£6,649,0007T (2021
£ B #357,000L) - B E
20293A31BIEEE A&
EnHERAZEWE (BEAK
EHRAR) MBI ZEN
HMEWZ UHPBERAEES
& 4975 #94,628,0007T (2021
£ B #135,168,0007T) M &
(20214 : %1,000,0007T) °

AREHERRREREEE
REBERRHEAEm MER
1

Ik

o
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16. HE ®)
(i) RIEREINSE

16. LEASES (continued)

(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the total
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
HK$9,248,000 (2021: HK$13,052,000).

On 28 January 2022, right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of approximately HK$515,000 and HK$663,000
respectively were eliminated through the Disposal,
details are set out in note 43(a).

Restrictions or covenants on leases

As at 31 March 2022, lease liabilities of approximately
HK$237,067,000 (2021: HK$138,735,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of
HK$7,171,000 (2021: HK$3,910,000) and investment
properties of HK$268,904,000 (2021: HK$134,857,000).
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Year ended Year ended
31/3/2022 31/3/2021
BZE HZE
202243A318 202143H31H
IEFE IFFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREEF T
Depreciation expense on ERAREEED
right-of-use assets: TERX :
— Motor vehicles — B 192 215
— Buildings —BF 5,760 5,582
5,952 5,797
Impairment loss on right-of-use {5 FA 1 & = KR (B 518
assets (note 18) (H1:£18) 111 =
Interest expense on lease HEAECFERX
liabilities 3,781 342
Expense relating to FHEHEENRY
short-term leases 929 6,595
(iv) Others (iv) HEfw

B E2022F3A318LFE -
HERSRHBEAOEE
9,248,0007T (20214 : B
13,052,0007C) °

20221 H288 » 9 R4 A
75 #515,0007T & /& #663,000
THEREEENRTBEGRE
BBBHEEEEY  FI5H
RHFEF43(@) ©

HERH L EZE
MR2022F3A31H » 9B
237,067,0007T (20214 : B
138,735,0007T) MHE & F &
@ 7% #7,171,0007T (20214 :
7 #3,910,0007T) B9 48 B8 (& B
& N B 268,904,000
(20214 : #%134,857,0007T)
MIEE—HER - BRHA
ABENHEEEENERES
AN - T 15 3 W0 £ e 00 AT (] 2
#oHEBEETSEAEBERN
AR o
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BREWEE

Leased properties
under development

MEPHEEWE
HK$'000
BT
COST BN
At 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 720204 818 M202143A31H =
Additions NE 134,857
At 31 March 2021 MR202143 8318 134,857
Additions NE 127,926
Exchange realignment RS 6,121
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3 8318 268,904
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2 ENMRE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 7202094 A 1H LA %2021
and 2022 }20224F3A31H =
NET CARRYING VALUES BRHEFE
At 31 March 2022 MR202243 8318 268,904
At 31 March 2021 M202143 8318 134,857

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recognised
additional an investment property amounted approximately
HK$127,926,000 (2021: HK$134,857,000) which representing
right-of-use assets and renovation costs of approximately
HK$94,628,000 (2021: 134,857,000) and HK$33,298,000
(2021: nil) respectively. The investments properties were leased
and were under development (renovation) during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 and up to the date of this
report. Under the lease agreements, the Group is permitted
to sub-lease the properties to others. While it is the Group’s
intention, the properties were recognised as investment
properties. The properties were located in Guangzhou. The
Group commenced to engage in the business of premises
revitalisation and enhancement segment, with the objective to
generate rental income from sub-leasing of its premises in the
PRC.

H EZ2022%F3A31BILEE - K
EEERAFTEBEEDENBE
127,926,0007C (20214 : B
134,857,0007T) ' BlIE AEEE R
B3 AL AN 95 Bl 49 7 #94,628,0007T
(20214 : & #134,857,0007T) K&
#33,298,0007T (20214 : #) - B
HZE2022F K2021F3A31HIEFE
UERBEEAREBE  REMER
WA IEERME (EE) - RERAE
e AEBEESLENEST
FA - BEUHABAEENER
BZEVERRAEEEVE - HFE
MENREMN -ANEERBREY
EELRAGOHNER B2
BASHERTEMYENESHA
UA °
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 17. REY =X @)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 NEBEMIREYHERR2022563 4318
March 2022 was approximately HK$510,341,000. The fair 7R~ B 4 A7 #510,341,0007T °
value has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by ZATERBEARGESETH
the directors of the Company. The valuation was determined HESL - HEKKEHIN] 5T
by establishing the market value of the properties on an “as-if" EMEEYMENTE LEE MR
completed basis with appropriate deduction on construction BEXNARBEFNEEER K
costs and professional fees to be incurred. Details of the BN RERERFIEE N X o

valuation techniques and assumptions are discussed below.

The following table gives information about how the fair TRIBHBN A EE2022F3 A31
values of the investment properties as at 31 March 2022 are BEEMENRAFENER FRIZ
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs Frfse A &9 i (B B 9ir g ) -
used):
Relationship of key
Significant Range of input and significant
Fair value Fair value as at Valuation unobservable unobservable unobservable
hierarchy 31 March 2022 technique input input input to fair value
#2022 EEH EATENBR
3A318M TIER TIEE BAEREEN
NFEER NVE HERE BAEHE BAE FUBERAEZEHR
Investment properties  Level 3 Approximately Residual Estimated costs From approximately The higher the
HK$510,341,000  method to complete HK$8,183,000t0  estimated costs to

approximately  complete, the lower
HK$16,804,000  the fair value
REWE E=8 #71510,341,000T FlgA CEERLES H75%8,183,000LE T TRRAKAMS -
0%%16,804,000 ATEMIE

The above investment properties are depreciated on a PR EMER T FRUERE
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: FHRITE ¢
Leased properties under  Over the lease terms of ranging REREEME KNTFI1021245F

development from 10 to 12 years H 5 BA
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18. GOODWILL 18. BHE
HK$'000
BT T

COST DN
At 1 April 2020 72020F4A1H 14,810
Exchange realignment ME H I8 778
At 31 March 2021 202193 A31H 15,588
Eliminated through disposal of FHRHEMNE R A MmEH

subsidiaries (note 43(a)) (H1:£43(a)) (15,775)
Exchange realignment b H S 187
At 31 March 2022 202293 A31H -
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT Z5HRE
At 1 April 2020 72020F4 318 -
Impairment loss recognised EHERMEER 7,346
At 31 March 2021 720213 A31H 7,346
Impairment loss recognised FNHERHREEBE

during the year 8,334
Eliminated through disposal of 738 & B A &) i K 5

subsidiaries (note 43(a)) (H5t43@)) (15,775)
Exchange realignment b H SR 95
At 31 March 2022 720223 A31H -
NET CARRYING VALUES BRESFE
At 31 March 2022 7202293 A31H -
At 31 March 2021 7202193 A31H 8,242
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18. GOODWILL (continued) 18. & (&)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has HREAANS  AEBESEZRE
been allocated to an individual cash-generating unit and FIREELEN  WIEKERNE
representing the operating segment in breeding, sales and - HENRE S RIEERGEE
trading of aquatic products and related services. The carrying D E o M2021F3H31EEEMERER
amount of goodwill as at 31 March 2021 is allocated to this BEREEZEN - NELE20223 A4
unit. During the year ended 31 March 2022, such goodwill BIHIEFE ZBECBBLES
was disposed of through the Disposal (note 43(a)). B & (FifEE43@)) o

For the purpose of impairment assessment, property, plant RBEFTEMES EL£ERESTROY
and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets X HMELRRE BREEEREA
(including allocation of corporate assets) that generate cash BEE (BREEEENDSR) UK
flows together with the related goodwill and trademark are HEANEEREETERERNEEN
also included in the respective cash-generating unit (“CGU"). ReEFBNU(REELEBM]) -
As at 28 January 2022, the directors of the Company 72022618288 » AARIEEYHH
performed an impairment assessment of this cash generating mE BEMEEEE WE ERR
unit comprising goodwill, other intangible assets, property, BEARFRAEEEAKNO LIRS
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying EEBAETRERN G RIERE
amount before impairment of approximately HK$15,755,000, 7 BRI 1B 5 Bl 4974 #15,755,00077T
HK$1,909,000, HK$106,613,000 and HK$626,000 (31 75 #1,909,0007T * & #106,613,000
March 2021: approximately HK$15,588,000, HK$2,050,000, gL & A& #626,0007T (202143 A
HK$112,115,000 and HK$2,198,000) respectively. 318 : #97%8¥15,588,0007T * /5 #&

2,050,0007T * 7 #112,115,0007C &
75#2,198,0007T) °

The recoverable amount of above CGU was determined with TR eELEEMMATKRESET
reference to a value-in-use calculation of the related CGU. SEEBRSELEMEABER
That calculation used cash flow projections based on financial HETFT ZiEFRAERARFE
budget approved by the directors of the Company covering EMANETFYBRRENRSTRE
a five-year period, with discount rate at 10.44% (31 March A BAER DR R ETF10.44%
2021: 11.03%) per annum respectively. Cash flows beyond (2021438318 : 11.03% ) ° B i@
the 5-year period are extrapolated using a 0% (31 March SEHIRIR 2 M E1%0% (202143 A
2021: 0%) growth rate. Key assumptions include the expected 318 - 0% ) WREHE - FEM/HK
growth in revenues and operating margins, estimated BREREREENBERNERER
compound growth rates, selection of discount rates and HETEEERE - MBERMEEN
the COVID-19 impact. Management prepared the financial KCcovD-1am - EREDRE
budgets reflecting actual and prior year performance and REEER R E—FHEEURTISE

market development expectations. RIEHNMEESR -
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18. GOODWILL (continued) 18. BE (©)

Since the prolonged unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic and
the associated anti-epidemic measures extended globally had
further disrupted the supply chain of the aquatic products, the
budgeted growth rates have been revised to 7% (31 March
2021: 7-8%) and are based on management expectations
taking into consideration the COVID-19 impact, and where
considered appropriate, with adjustments made with reference
to industry reports which are more conservative for the
purpose of goodwill impairment test.

As a result, the recoverable amount of this cash generating
unit was less than its carrying value, therefore the Group has
recorded an impairment loss for goodwill, other intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$8,334,000 (2021: HK$7,346,000),
HK$173,000 (2021: nil), HK$9,505,000 (2021: nil) and
HK$111,000 (2021: nil) during the year ended 31 March
2022.

R & HA & 52 4% A 5 /9 COVID-19%
BARBENZRNRERE—F
BELTKEMMMHEEZ REE
#ERBEIENRAE7% (202163 F31
BH:78%) WENREEEEHZE
EEICOVD-19MFE MR ABEE
MER T 2ETERSE (HEHER
BEARME EARST) ETHE -

At ZBEEEEEMHAIRE &
HERAREERE BRAEER
HE2022F3A31B It FE&EH
2 HMEFREE W KER
BEBARFERAEEENRERSE
2 Bl 497 8,334,000t (20214 :
7 #7,346,0007T) ~ B #173,000
gC (20214 : #&) - ##9,505,000
gL (20214 : #&) KA %110,0007T
(20214F : 48) -
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. Hib B EE
Customer
Patents  relationships Total
=7 EFB#% et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
COST A
At 1 April 2020 20204 81H 2,132 1,369 3,501
Exchange realignment ME W S 270 173 443
At 31 March 2021 202143 HA31H 2,402 1,542 3,944
Disposals through disposal % i H & [} B A 7

of subsidiaries i & (K75243(a))

(note 43(a)) (2,483) (1,594) (4,077)
Exchange realignment IE 5 & 81 52 133
At 31 March 2022 7202293 A31H - - -
ACCUMULATED Rt ORE

AMORTISATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2020 72020F4A1H 165 720 885
Charge for the year F AR 170 743 913
Exchange realignment ME W S 17 79 96
At 31 March 2021 202143 A31H 352 1,542 1,894
Charge for the year FAHBR 150 - 150
Impairment loss recognised & 52 KI5 (B & 18

(note 19) (Btat19) 173 - 173
Disposals through disposal i i (& [} /& 2 7]

of subsidiaries i & (K72%43(a))

(note 43(a)) (747) (1,594) (2,341)
Exchange realignment ME W S 72 52 124
At 31 March 2022 7202293 A31H - - -
NET CARRYING VALUES FREH{E
At 31 March 2022 7M20229F3A31H - - -
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3A31H 2,050 - 2,050

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such BT EENERFHAER %

intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the EmPEENATHRIZERESH

following periods: 4y -

Patents 5 — 15 years, shorter of the =7 SEISF(BRTEH
remaining contractual life and B AGEt R
estimated useful life FH . AR E

Customer relationships 1 -2 years PR 12245

Details of impairment assessment of other intangible assets are Wi A N e A ]

set out in note 18. FF18°
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

20. R—EBE QR Z2ER

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Cost of investment in an associate Rn—EEEARZ
— unlisted TWERA—FFELT 44,462 44,462
Share of post-acquisition profit and DR W 18 5 F
other comprehensive income Em 2wl 23,777 23,696
68,239 68,158
Loan to an associate (note) m—EBE QB ER (W E) 7,362 21,527
75,601 89,685

Hiet - m—BEE AR BERAERER &
ERA - TEr R R ESH B RATTE
BARREE - REBER R —EHE
AR BROEEREREN2E
AEHEEEBENSENE - REZE
2022F &2021F3A31H IEFE I &
HRREEE -

Note: Loan to an associate is deemed capital which is unsecured,
non-interest bearing where settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur in the foreseeable future. The Group measures the loss
allowance for loan to an associate at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL. No impairment loss was recognised during the year ended 31
March 2022 and 2021.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had interest in the
following material associate:

202249 &202143A31H * A& E
RTANEBBE QB EAER

Proportion of ownership
interests or participating
Form of Country of Principal place  Class of shares indirectly held Proportion of voting
Name of entity entity registration of operation  shares held by the Group power indirectly held ~ Principal activity
AEERREEL
Gl L3687 Bk
ERZR ERE HARER IREEME  FEROER Rt REELA E:3 3
2022 201 2022 2021
Perfect View Enterprises Incorporated Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary 40% 40% 40% 40%  Property development
Limited ("Perfect View") 5L it 4 L@k NEER

ERLFARAT

/N
(R%))
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 20. RA—REBE QT Z*Eﬁﬁ &)
The summarised financial information prepared using HKFRS BRAAREEMEE AR RIRER
in respect of the associate of the Group is accounted for using AEEZE%%?%EX?%?&%EE'J%@
equity method is set out below: W BB ZEH 0T
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current assets MENEE 31,338 76,939
Non-current assets FERBEE 186,328 314,874
Current liabilities mEia & (28,546) (24,374)
Non-current liabilities FEMBEE (18,522) (197,043)
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
BZE HZ=E
2022%3H31H 202143A31H
IEFE LEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Revenue W g 164,190 482,073
Profit for the year F N F 8,935 47,561
Other comprehensive (expense) AEEHEMEE (AR W=
income for the year (8,732) 17,205
Total comprehensive (expense) rEEEE (FX) KamBE
income for the year 203 64,766
The reconciliation of the summarised financial information 275 2 B 78 B2 B A B
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in the NElZ ERREENERSTIAT

associate is set out below:

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Net assets of the associate B NR 2 BEFE 170,598 170,396
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7858 B A B 7= B 5 1

interest in Perfect View ALl 40% 40%

Carrying amount of the Group's REBNRERERD
interest in Perfect View BREE 68,239 68,158
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 20. R—EBE QAT 2D (&)
As at 31 March 2022, the directors performed an impairment 2022638318 EEHE RS
assessment of the interest in Perfect View and determined that ETRENG  TETETRZE
it is not impaired based on the estimated recoverable amount ELFREBEFERKRMGF TKE
with reference to a value-in-use calculation of Perfect View. CRHRETRE - ZtEERANES
That calculation used cash flow projections based on estimated MBARERZBEARIEFESL
future cash flows expected to be generated by the associate B (T R RIF S % - WHEA EEEE$
and applied a discount rate at 10.53% (2021: 9.71%) per 7T|J #10.53% (20214F : 9.71% ) £
annum. The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation RenshmtBENEREBRNE
related to the estimation of cash flow included gross margin MNEEZEBREBEENERARE -
and discount rate. Gross margin represents budgeted EFNEEEEENE - EDERB
gross margin, which is based on past performance and the EXEREREBHMSERNPE
management’s expectation for the market development. The P62 FA & B 3R 3R 2 A A A - Bk
discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market B AT % E AR R 1T R E A g A AT
assessments of the risks specific to the relevant industry. - EREERREMNZERINGE
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in AEEAEEHITITEERNEL
any these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount BamEEERAETKES5E -
of the interest in Perfect View to exceed its recoverable B E2022%F &20214F3A31H IEF
amount. During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no B - I ERERREREE -
impairment loss was recognised.

21. INTERESTS IN JOINT OPERATIONS 21. REEXB 2 ER
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had interest in the following MN2022E3A31H » AEBR T E
joint operations: EEBHBRER

Country of Principal place of ~ Class of shares Proportion of participating Proportion of voting
Name of entity Formof entity ~ registration operation held shares held by the Group power held Principal activity
R4 BV RLES ITEERY  FRRGEH AEEEEZ SR ALA BERZELA EEE 4]
2022 2021 2022 2021
Yee Hop-Amain )V Unincorporated ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong na 0% i (Note]) 66.67%  nla(Note)  Construction
#izE B B el iR TER B
() ()
Amain-CW Yee Hop )V Unincorporated  Hong Kong Hong Kong nfa 2% na(Noteil 50%  n/a(Noteii)  Construction
FEE (3] 3 TER TER MR BE
(Histi) (i)
Notes: Htat -
The entity is incorporated on 4 November 2021. i EERN2021F 11 A4B ML -
i The entity is incorporated on 25 October 2021. i ZEEEM2021F10A258 MK L -
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22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 22. EYEE

Nature of the Group’s agricultural activities

The biological assets of the Group are live aquatic products at
various stages of development, including fish seedlings, fishes,
crab seedlings, crabs, shrimp seedlings and shrimps, which
are classified as current assets. Biological assets also include
breeding stock, which are used to produce future live fishes,
crabs and shrimps and classified as non-current assets of the
Group. The quantity of live fishes, crabs, shrimps and breeding
stock owned by the Group at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

AEERFXEBNMNE
AEENEMEERIBARDE
EZNERESEROERKE &
RAYHE B B5 8 RER
B-EMEENERERESR A
REFLEHBERIDERAEE
MERBEE - AKERBFSHKR
BRENEHRREBRIREENHNE
L

As at As at

31 March 2022 31 March 2021

7M2022%63H318 202143 H31H

Kg Kg

F= T

Live fishes EER — 148,064
Breeding stock RE&E — 60,405
- 208,469

Live crabs AR - 1,041
Live shrimps A B IR - 869

The Group is exposed to risks arising from environmental
and climatic changes, commodity prices and financing risks.
The Group diversified the geographical location of farms to
mitigate the adverse climatic conditions such as droughts
and floods. The Group established effective internal control
procedures and policies to comply with environmental
regulations and relevant laws. The biological assets were
disposed of through the Disposal as set out in note 43(a).

AEEHBREMRIERECHAESE
MR EmES R EER - R
SESRBSOMIBAE - M5k
EHEXEETHRIEGEMS - AR E
ARILA AR B2 7 R BR AT
EREMOILEBEEIZ - EMEE
ERBM TN L EREREM
HE e
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22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

22. EYEE&E)

Carrying value of the Group’s biological assets AEEBEYEENREE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEETIT
At the beginning of the B E )
financial year 11,406 20,722
Increase due to purchase and B B & 8 & ¥ Ak #9111
breeding 11,680 8,211
Changes in fair value NEEEF) (5,989) 8,623
Decrease due to death or 2558 ol IR ML o 5 K B
defects (3,055) (9,170)
Decrease due to sale $HEE AR (4,468) (18,359)
Disposals through disposal FERLEMBATIMEE
of subsidiaries (9,574) -
Exchange realignment PE 5 A - 1,379
At the end of the financial year 7 8 L 4F [ 7K - 11,406
Analysed for reporting purpose B EFHZATESHT
As at As at
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
M20223H31H 1202143 H31H
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Live fishes R - 11,236
Live crabs A AR - 148
Live shrimps A IR - 22
- 11,406
Less: current portion B mEE D - (5,295)
Non-current portion MBS - 6,111




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group’s biological assets were valued by Shenzhen
Zhongkehua Capital Rating Co., Limited (“Shenzhen
Zhongkehua”), independent qualified professional valuers
not connected with the Group. The address of Shenzhen
Zhongkehua is Tiangong Security Market 9CF029, Niulangian
Industrial Building, Longsheng West Road, Longhua District,
Shenzhen, China. The fair value less costs to sell of biological
assets are determined with reference to the market-determined
prices of items with similar age, breed and genetic merit.

Changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets
include changes in the fair value of the aquatic products at 28
January 2022 and 31 March 2021.

Key assumptions and inputs

The major significant unobservable inputs to the valuation
of the biological assets include estimated market price and
breeding costs.

Set forth below are the valuation techniques, key assumptions
and inputs adopted in the valuation process to determine the
fair values of the Group’s biological assets as at 31 March

Annual Report 2021/22 “F 3k

22. £YEE &)
AFEHE

REBEEEEZEMR Shenzhen
Zhongkehua Capital Rating Co.,
Limited ([Shenzhen Zhongkehua)
hE HAEAEESEHENS
MEEBEREEMER o Shenzhen
Zhongkehua® 3 1iF & 71 Bl )% 3| B2 %
EEBPARFRAIIEAERS R
B3 T %59CF029 - =M B EM A TE
BEEXAD2EFK mERE

BEHEINER

TS TEEERE

H R B 2 TR A

BER202241 4280 k2021437
3NAKENRAFEE

FERRRBARE
EMEEMRENTEZERTAHE
WABBEBREAMBERREE

PR

T X HHAEEBTE P RN S E R
i TE2BELRHAERE  UETE
MR2021F3 A3 B AREB A EER

o

2021. AFAE -
As at 31 As at 28 As at 31
March 2022  January 2022 March 2021
20225 20225 20214
3A31H 1828H 3A31H
HK$ HK$ HK$
T BT B¥IT
Live fishes: ER
Per kg market price FFZT5E n/a (note i) 22 to 142 210178
TER (Ki) 22%Z142 218178
Live crabs: EEE
Per kg market price FRT5E n/a (note i) n/a 142
TERMA (Ba) TiE A
Live shrimps: AR n/a (note i) n/a 26
Per kg market price FRi%E TER (f i) TEHA
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22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 22. £MEE )
Key assumptions and inputs (continued) FERR R AEE (&)
Note: Htat -
During the year ended 31 March 2022, such biological assets were i. R E2022F3A31H EFE - 1t
disposed of through the Disposal (note 43(a)). EFEVEEEBALEEE (M

43(a)) MH & °

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated market price BEmMS HEAMERMGFEEXR
and the estimated production volume in isolation would BEF/ THREERNEMEERT
result in a significant increase/decrease in the fair value of the BAEEAR T -

biological assets.

The fair values of the Group’s biological assets at 31 March REEREMEEN20219F3H31H8
2021 are grouped into Level 2 of fair value measurement. BNAFESBERE_RATERE -
There were no transfers between any levels of fair value RERN FAAFEER 2EE
hierarchy during the year. i o

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value EMEEE S AFEAEERD
measurements of biological assets: EE R R AZE :

The fair values of fishes, crabs and shrimps are determined BEBREBEHNATENEATSL
using market comparison approach by reference to recent REAETE BT2ERAAAET
sales price of comparable aquatic products using market data BEBFEN AT BKERNTERE
which is publicly available. =

There has been no change from the valuation technique used HZE2021F3A318 IEFEFE AN
during the years ended 31 March 2021. In estimating the fair BERMEEZES G EMEEN
value of the biological assets, the highest and best use of the NEER  EMEENER KKE

biological assets is their current use. g aHERARE -
9
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23.

24,

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

23.
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BRAFTEHFAESENSH
BE

Unlisted equity investment in the PRC AR EIAR E TR E

As at 31 March 2021, the above unlisted equity investment
represents investment in 0.19% unlisted equity interest in
a private entity incorporated in the PRC. The investment
is measured at fair value using market approach based
on a valuation carried out by Graval Consulting Limited,
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Group. The above unlisted equity investment of
approximately HK$1,026,000 was disposed of through the
Disposal as set out in note 43(a).

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT 5T BEET T

= 993
M2021F3A31H » L3k MR A
WERR —EERBEMA AT

AEE0.19% FLMBEENERE -
REEFERAMHEEAFEFE
BEREANEEEEERENIF L
EEREXMAEMBEEXERSE
RABFETEOME - LAMAER
1,026,0007C M I E R AR E D B
BIEEA3FEM M EF AL E -

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS/OTHER 24. EMEREBE }s/ th iR
CURRENT ASSETS % BE
Other non-current assets HttERBEE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Club debenture R&E IS5 460 460
Other current assets HttREEE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Zero coupon bonds TELEFH - 43,927
As at 31 March 2021, the zero coupon bonds represented R2021F3H31H - S

two bonds issued by Windmill Street Development Limited
(“Windmill”), an indirectly held associate of the Company,
with carrying amounts of approximately HK$43,927,000
(equivalent to principal amounts, imputed interests and
overdue interests of GBP3,673,000, GBP345,000 and
GBP99,000 respectively) for financing the development costs
for the property to be developed by the associate.

EHRARQ T%z%ﬁm /NE]
Windmill Street Development Limited
(TWindmill }) ZTH MK ES &
EE 4 A& 78%43,927,0007T (HHE R
e HEMNE KRB ED R
#£3,673,000%% £ + 345,000% £ &
99,0002 #5) + AR A& A al ¥t
BMENRERNDIRBES °
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24. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS/OTHER

CURRENT ASSETS (continued)

The zero coupon bonds carried effective interest rates ranging
from 7.66% to 11.55% per annum and was redeemable
at specified redemption price from 31 May 2020 until 31
December 2020 pursuant to the bond agreements. Pursuant
to the bond agreements, if Windmill had not repaid the bond
on the last redemption date (i.e. 31 December 2020), interests
shall accrue on the any sum due and payable but unpaid by
Windmill under the bond agreement from 1 January 2021 up
to the date of actual payment at the rate of 10% per annum
compounded monthly. As at 31 March 2021, the above two
bonds were not redeemed by Windmill on the last redemption
date and was carried at 10% additional interests per annum
compounded monthly. During the 31 March 2022, the two
zero coupon bonds and the associated interest receivable of
approximately HK$44,452,000 in aggregate was redeemed
and fully repaid by Windmill.

The Group measures the loss allowance for zero coupon
bonds at an amount equal to lifetime ECL-not credit impaired.
No impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021.

The club debenture represents club membership in a private
club with indefinite useful life in Hong Kong and is measured
at cost less impairment. The directors of the Company consider
no impairment identified with reference to the second hand
market price of the club debenture as at the end of the
reporting period.

fm 3,5 L EJJ ﬁ F/ /)Ib
TES E#?ﬁiﬂﬁ’w.es%é
11.55% K EBREF X B - BIEEFH
s B20209F5A318 #£ H £2020
FNANAARETEREER -
RIEEH o HMWindmill R 512 &
[ B 58 (B2020F12A318) A&
BE% 0 BBWindmillRESHE T
FHREMERS A ZERNRIER
211 ABREEER N HE
LER10% 2 FH EZ A B R
B - RA202153A310  FitmER
FH P14 & B B H AR WindmilliE [@
BiZ10% 2 BEINFER RIZEABBE R
A B e 20223 A31H - M E
ZEEHFRABREWRFSE £LE
#44,452,0007T EWindmillfE [ 37 55
HIEE -

REBEABEERZBHEHREEREE -
RAERBEEENSHIAEETE
BEEHFMNBEEE #HE2020 K&
20213 A318 L FE W EERBIE
18 -

BLEE LR B —MLABLE
RERGFRFHNELBSELIE
RARRELE - KA EER?
R M - B B O
F_FhiGEEERRE -
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25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 25. EEMIEBEEE (BFE)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax assets TN AELEHIEEE (BE) O -
(liabilities) for the financial reporting purposes: LAVEBA T3R5 A i -
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BYET T BT T
Deferred tax assets BEBIBEE 11 806
Deferred tax liabilities ELEBIEARE (6,150) (9,747)
(6,139) (8,941)
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) RAFERBAFE EEROE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and ZREMIBEE (AR REZEHMN
prior years: N

Goodwiland ~ Allowance for
intangible impairment
Revaluationof  assetsarising ~loss of trade

Accelerated property, from receivables
tax Tax plantand  acquisition of and other
depreciation losses  equipment  subsidiaries receivables Others Total

WEHELE  EARMEE

EiEhx ELNOEER RAMEMSE
MEEENE  WERE MERRE  BVEE  NEERRG L4 i
HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSOOD  HKS'000 HKS000  HKSO00  HK$'000
RETR  RETR R¥Tn RTn RETR RETn RET

At 1 Apri 2020 202054818 (6,456) 50 (1,850) 413) 687 173 (7.809)
(Charged) credit o profitorloss~ (18) A%
(note ) re-presented) (Hri8) (& 25) (1,436) - - - - = (1,436)

Credit (charged) to profitorloss 2 IEEREEFA
in discontinued operation (Me)BaMmHY

(note 9) = = W3 133 (18) (63) 29
Exchange realignment i - - i 4 (24) 1 9
At 31 March 2021 R0N%E3A318 (189) 50 (1,579) (276) 645 111 (8.941)
Credit (charged) to profit or iA(E)B&

loss (note 8) (s 1753 (50) - - - - 1703

Credit charged) toprofitorloss 21 EREEA
in discontinued operation (M) BamY

(note 9) - - 208 1489 1505 (113) 3,089
Eiminated through disposal of BB ENBAR

subsidiaries (note 43(3)) B H340) - - 1,461 (1.213) 2.31) = (1,989)
Exchange realignment Epfx - = %) = 8 ) (1)

At 31 March 2022 H00E38318 (6,139) = = = = = (6,139)
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25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 25. FERIBEEE (BE) @)

(continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets for tax losses arising in the PRC of approximately
HK$93,187,000 (equivalent to RMB78,553,000) (2022: nil)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams that will
expire after five years from the year of assessment to which
they relate to. The tax losses of approximately HK$93,187,000
will expire five years from the year of origination. As at 31
March 2021, tax losses of approximately HK$21,499,000,
HK$2,586,000, HK$22,083,000 and HK$47,019,000 will
expire in years ended 31 March 2022, 2023, 2024 and
2025 (equivalent to RMB18,123,000, RMB2,180,000,
RMB18,615,000 and RMB39,636,000) (2022: nil). During the
year ended 31 March 2022, such tax losses arising in the PRC
has been disposed of through the Disposal (note 43(a)).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$23,505,000 (2021: HK$15,296,000) arising
in other jurisdictions available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$23,505,000 (2021: HK$15,296,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in the tax
losses of approximately HK$12,766,000 (2021: HK$3,898,000)
that will be expired after three years from the year of
assessment to which they relate to, the remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$10,739,000 (2021: HK$11,398,000) may
be carried forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately
HK$4,906,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB4,136,000)
(2022: nil) as the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. During the year ended 31 March 2022, such temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries have been disposed of through the Disposal (note
43(a)).

R20219F3A31H * REB W AR
R B EE A R TE B 1R 4078 593,187,000
T (B8 R4 A R #78,553,0007T)
(20224 &) MRIBELERRIEE E -
RAEAEEEEOIRFERLTA
& 1% B HR 09 2R 3R A7 /9 71 ] 788
M o F IA E5 18 49 74 #593,187,0007T
BRREEFERTAFER R
202143 A318 ' BIEEBEEN B
21,499,0007T * /& #2,586,0007T *
75 #22,083,0007T & 75 #47,019,000
7T (2 Al AR E N A R #18,123,000
7T AR #¥2,180,0007T * A R
18,615,0007T & A R 39,636,000
JC) & HA20224F ~ 20234 ~ 2024F K
2025F3A31HIEFEEERM - REZE
2022F3A318IEFE  RHPBIESE
MEBKEBERESALESEM
& (BI5E43@)) °

MR2022%F3A318  KEBAEHM
RAERREANASAREEE
#) 7% #23,505,0007T (20214F : /&
#515,296,0007T) AT A 1 4K 45 K 2R
i == 9 N I R N I =
B -t 40 78 23,505,000
7T (20214 : & #15,296,0007T)
RELEHEEE -HEBESLY
7B 12,766,0007T (20214 : B
3,898,0007T) i 7= 18 B8 51 7 F 2
R=F®IE HHRBEEBEBIED
7 #10,739,0007T (20214 : B #
11,398,0007T) A] £EPR Hi 4542 o

BB FEMEHE - B2008F1 A1
B #E Bt P B B 8 2 7] AT B BN A9 i A
FTE RS BUWTEINH - 26 0
BHMERW AP B R R R A
F 49 7 #54,906,0007T (FEE R L A
K #4,136,0007T) (20224 : &) 5|
B ERNERBELELERERE
19 R A 52 (B B S 1 ) 4B [ B B 2 58
ZEER MERZEA TSN
T8 R R B - RELZE2022F3 A31
BLEFE FBENBEAAZ Bt
FIFEMEMNZEEREREDEBL
EEE M E (iE43G)) °



Annual Report 2021/22 %R 177

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 25. EEBIREE (BE) @)

(continued)

At 31 March 2021, the Group had deductible differences of 2021638318 - AEE A AT
approximately HK$5,862,000 (2022: nil). Deferred tax asset of T T8 7 58 4978 #5,862,0007T (2022
approximately HK$645,000 (2022: nil) had been recognised F:|) BREMBEBEEHNSEK
on temporary difference of approximately HK$4,398,000 645,0007T (20224 : %) B HER Y
(2022: nil). No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the 7= F8 #4978 #4,398,0005T (20224
remaining deductible temporary difference of approximately ) o ERFIR AT IR E R EEL
HK$1,392,000 (2022: nil) due to the unpredictability of future 78 #1,392,0007T (2022 : &) #ER
profit streams will be available against which the deductible BEFRIBEEE - TR R SR =
temporary differences can be utilised. During the year ended B8 1% AT FB PA AR K 71 A ERD R A T
31 March 2022, such deductible temporary difference has RIRFTE - REL 220223 831H 1E
been disposed of through the Disposal (note 43(a)). FE - ZEANREREZEDER

& F | & (P E43@) -

26. INVENTORIES 26. &

2022 2021

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Raw materials and supplies JRM R A FE - 913

Finished goods B &h = 29,345

- 30,258
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the inventories were REE2022F3A31BEFE  FE
disposed of through the Disposal as set out in note 43. B FE B 43 E A B E FEm

e
27. TRADE RECEIVABLES 27. ES BWRIA

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Trade receivables B 5 YRR 100,896 147,849

Less: allowance for impairment loss OB EBEREE (2,117) (5,191)

98,779 142,658
At 1 April 2020, the carrying amount of trade receivables was 202064718 - B 5 FE W RIE K

approximately HK$150,693,000. BREE A &7 1150,693,0007T °
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. REEM B ZE AR E EAE
A e
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27. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 27. EZ BWRIE &)

For construction services, the Group does not have a
standardised and universal credit period granted to its
customers, and the credit period of individual customer is
considered on a case-by-case basis and stipulated in the
project contract, as appropriate. For “Breeding, sales and
trading of aquatic products and related services”, the Group
allows an average credit period ranging from 90 days to 180
days. The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables,
presented based on the certified report or dates of delivery
of goods which approximates revenue recognition date at
the end of each reporting period, and net of impairment loss
recognised:

RBERBEME  AEBMEZE
LERMEERRTERT - @R
EEPREEHHESRAEREZRER
BEAKHTRE (WMER) - BLAKE
EE HERBSULEBERSE M
= ASEAFNT0RE180H M
FHEER - BIFRESREBARK
HERAHBEENRERSIRE
HHZ7IME S ERIENRER S
T IR EERAREESEB) T -

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

0 to 30 days 0%30H 33,423 107,712
31 to 60 days 31£60H 35,696 28,506
61 to 90 days 61290H 12,845 3,648
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 5,379 647
181 to 365 days 181£2365H - 1,682
Over 365 days 365H LA E 11,436 463
98,779 142,658

During the year ended 31 March 2022, trade receivables
related to Breeding, sales and trading of aquatic products and
related services were disposed of through the Disposal as set
out in note 43.

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses
on trade receivables are estimated by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry
in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date.

MNEE202263 8318 IEFE - Bk
EEE HERESRBEBERES
RAH)E 5 FE W E O B B MY 5143
HOEEEEmMHE -

AEEZAEFRE2HEREERE
ME BT EE S RUFBENERE
w-BHERERENBHREREESR
T2 ZEBABEE DR LY
BB ARRITRI BN DT
et YREHBANBERE &
BARERMETENERBEENRR
K& B E R RIERGOR T
AE AL A -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

27.

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments in the segments of “Foundation and
other civil works”, “Tunneling works” and "“Breeding,
sales and trading of aquatic products and related services”,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group's different customer bases in

the corresponding segments.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the current reporting

period.

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based
on individually significant customer or the ageing of customers
collectively that are not individually significant by using a

provision matrix.

Annual Report 2021/22 “F 3k

25 EWRRIE @)
ARAEENBEEEBEBERT
KRBT EREM AT - [BE
IRIRDKESHE HERE S
RABRE | TREE S BEREA
TREBEHR  EREE RN E
BRETEE—SNAEEEBES
HOTRBCHZEESD

U BERWHEER

AN
B -

7N 5 BRI (8 B E K& P 2k IR 1 Bl
EREPZEAKRKREABRERER
BREIRURENEPEHREE
B8

Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
19
BREEE KREAE HFREEE KREFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2022 R202243A31R BETT B¥TT BETR
Current (not past due) BNER (R H) 0.05% 81,781 37 81,744
More than 6 months but less % HAiRiB61E A
than 12 months past due BOR1218 A 63.6% 450 286 164
More than 12 months but less #1232 81218 A
than 24 months past due B2R24(E A 100% 1,397 1,397 -
83,628 1,720 81,908
Individually assessed EhlREe 2.30% 17,268 397 16,871

100,896 2,117 98,779
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z2022F3A318IEFE

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 27. EZEWRIE®
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount  allowance amount
¥

BHERE KELE BRERE KEFE
%  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

As at 31 March 2021 R2021%38318 BETT A%TrT BT
Current (not past due) BIEY (R HR) 0.03% 140,158 39 140,119
Less than 3 month past due B R3ME A 1.82% 379 7 372
More than 3 months but less  # £ :B31E A

than 6 months past due 1B R6{E A 11.23% 316 35 281
More than 6 months but less % Ei#8:8618 A

than 12 months past due BLm1218 A 50.05% 3,776 1,890 1,886
More than 12 months but less  #1 2A#8:8121& A

than 24 months past due BOR2418 A 100% 1,759 1,759 =
More than 24 months but less 3 £ 8241 A

than 36 months past due 1B > 36(E A 100% 1,419 1,419 =
More than 36 months but less  #1 #3836/ A

than 48 months past due B R481E A 100% 42 42 =

147,849 5,191 142,658
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27. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 27. E S EWRFRIE @)
The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of trade B RBAIEREEERZRENES
receivables is set out below: T :
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
1 April 4H1H 5,191 4,004
Allowance for impairment loss VERENEiEE = 10,795 815
Eliminated through disposal of FREERBAR
subsidiaries (note 43) i 58 (A7 2743) (13,869) =
Exchange realignment I X R - 372
31 March 3HA31H 2,117 5,191
The following significant changes in the gross carrying REZE2022F3A31BEFE - BH
amounts of trade receivables contributed to the loss allowance JEWAEMNREESBENUATELKR
during the year ended 31 March 2022: SBRBRER
—  increase in days more than 12 months but less than 24 —  #HERE12{E A B D R241E A
months past due resulted in an increase in loss allowance B R SUE 0N - BEUE B E I
of HK$1,397,000; and Ny #51,397,0000T ¢+ &
- eliminated of loss allowance amounted to approximately — BRNEFEMEENEER
HK$13,869,000 through the Disposal (note 43). #0576 %13,869,0007T (Bt £
43) o
The Group writes off trade receivable when there is EEGEEBERERAERBEENE
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial W35 A R 3R B A R B R - fl
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. MESABBEESNEATERFF
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has B 5 EUWGRIA S B G DA Ry (A
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade REHAEERE)  NEBHMEE

receivables are over 2 years past due, whichever occurs earlier. SRS o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

28. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLE 28. EWERKREWFE

2022 2021
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Fixed-rate loan and interest receivable & U & E R &2 K&
JFE U B 19,256 11,312
Less: allowance for impairment loss OB EEIEEE (835) (559)
18,421 10,753

As at 31 March 2022, included in the loan and interest
receivable was principal amount and interest receivable of
approximately HK$18,000,000 (2021: HK$11,104,000) and
HK$1,256,000 (2021: HK$208,000) respectively from a related
company, which was unsecured, carried fixed interest rate of
6.0% per annum and repayable three years from the date of
drawdown of the loan.

The Group measured the loss allowance for loan and interest
receivable at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. As at 31
March 2022 and 2021, in determining the expected credit
losses for these assets on an individual basis, the directors of
the Company have taken into account the financial position
of the counterparty, considering various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information, as appropriate, in
estimating the probability of default of each of these financial
assets occurring within their respective loss assessment time
horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of loan
and interest receivable is set out below:

MN20224%3A318 BN E K M E
I F) BB 4 e Wk — B Bt R B A0 2R
& K F B 5 Bl 4 7% #18,000,0007T
(20214F : #111,104,0007T ) K 75 #
1,256,0007T (20214 : # #208,000
TC)  ZEREAEET  FREXA
6.0% HEEZRIENH PR =F

B2 -

AEBRAENRI2EABHEEE
BNt sRKERLERE
B 518 B4 - 720224 20214F3 A
31 RERBHETHEEENTER
EEEEE  ARREEARRSH
HFEHOPHERR - EESEIND
KIENER RIER&EEER (1B
B #tmEsrtSEemEERSE
B R R L B R &0 B 3 A B B0
E o ARREEBERNENEL -

FE g 5 30 M 1 9 A
MEBBIIMT

2022

HK$°000

BET T

1 April 2020 2020F4H1H -
Increase during the year FRIE N 559
31 March 2021 202143 A31H 559
Increase during the year F AL 276
31 March 2022 202293 H31H 835

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during both years in assessing
the loss allowance for loan and interest receivable.

R G EEER LA ENEIERE
B it MEFEAMGRITRE
RRFHEZ(L -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z=202243A31HIEFE

29. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

(@) Contract assets

Annual Report 2021/22 “F 3k

29. EHNEEREGNAERE
() GREE

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Analysed as current: DHBRE :
Retention receivables of BESNEBRE S
construction contracts (notea)  (Hiita) 92,697 86,239
Unbilled revenue of construction #EZEA X7 RBEEE 2
contracts (note b) Wz (Bt 7tb) 15,182 29,134
107,879 115,373

Notes: Wt -

(a) Retention receivables included in contract assets represent @) HAANEEY ERFEESE
the Group’s right to receive consideration for work REEMDELY TRKELE
performed because the rights are conditional on the TREF EE 2R ZE%;
satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a = ERA KR T — o B
certain period as stipulated in the contracts. The contract BEEEE R G Sk S e
assets are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights 2 o (A KB B R R SR
become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry date S| (A AN £ B of AN £ @ B
of the period for the provision of assurance by the Group on ERE TR REE 2R
the service quality of the construction work performed by the HRyHEESEE) &8
Group. The due dates for retention receivables are usually SECEBEE S ERZIE -
one to two years after the completion of construction work. EWRES F RS AR

HTRTIR—EMF -
(b) Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the o) HAANEE ABEE I

Group's right to receive consideration for work completed
but not yet billed because the rights are conditional upon
the satisfaction by the customers on the construction work
completed by the Group and the work is pending for the
certification by the customers. The contract assets are
transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional, which is typically at the time the Group
obtains the certification of the completed construction work
from the customers.

mIEA KB E TR IE MR B
REZ TRKEBREZER
RERBAENBFEPEHA
SEMERERTRERTME
BAOFEERRBITIREARE
PR o i AR
RS (B AR ERRTEC
ERRETERGERR
) ANEESEBBEERS
YRR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #£2022F3A31HItFE

29. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

29. EHNEEREGHNERE®

(a) Contract assets (continued) (a) EHNEEME)
Contract assets are included in current assets as BHNEERRBEENIIR -
the Group expects to realise these within its normal REAAEBEHNETEE
operating cycle. BEAANBRZEEE °
The recovery or settlement for contract assets pursuant 720224 K202194F3A31H
to the terms of contracts as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 EREERE S HERA K E
is as follows: SEEFENT
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within one year —FR 95,188 107,725
Over one year HBIA—F 12,691 7,648
107,879 115,373
The Group measures the loss allowance for contract REBZBSNE2HEHER
assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. At 31 March EENESETEANEEEE
2022 and 2021, the Group assessed the impact of B E - 1020224 K202146F3 A
loss allowance for impairment of contract assets was 318 AEBFBFENEER
insignificant. BrEERENTEBETERX -
(b) Contract liabilities (b) EHEE
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Sales of aquatic products SHEKE (Hita)
(note a) - 5,722
Note: Hiat -

(a) Contract liabilities include advances received from customers
before delivery of aquatic products.

(8 AHNAEEBRERIMNKERNK
MEPHFRMNK
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z=202243A31HIEFE

29. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 29. EHNEERGHAER®

LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Contract liabilities (continued) (b) EHEEE)
Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March R2021F4818 - REHE
2022 that was included in the contract liabilities as at BRI 2 B £20229F3A31
1 April 2021 is approximately HK$5,722,000 (1 April AEFE®RAOWE/BE
2020: approximately HK$21,206,000). There was no 5,722,0007T (202044718 :
revenue recognised in the current year that related to #)75#521,206,0007T) ° AFE
performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior WEBERAEEN L —FEEE
year. BRI BAEFRUE
During the year ended 31 March 2022, contract liabilities MBE2022F3HA318 £
were disposed of through the Disposal as set out in note B &HAaEEEBWTA3A)
43(a). PREMHEFRMEE -

30. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 30 RE -FANREBERHEME
RECEIVABLES/PLEDGED DEPOSIT WIE BIEBER
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables RE > ANRERHEMERKIE
The following is an analysis of deposits, prepayments and RERERR - e BEFER
other receivables at the end of each reporting period: HAib BRI DA T

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Other receivables B fE W kIR 5,083 11,438
Loss: allowance for impairment loss B OREE B R (156) (112)
4,927 11,326
Deposits B 10,361 13,092
Long term deposit RHZE 12,929 7,118
Prepayments for suppliers HERENTENRIE 4,835 26,413
Prepayment for acquisition of an L B 4 2 EE RO TR SRR
intangible asset - 7,414
Prepayment for acquisition BB ATEN I
of a machinery - 26,099
33,052 91,462
Amount shown under FRBEEBR RS
non-current assets (12,929) (40,631)
Amount shown under current assets ~ REVEEIE T RNE 58 20,123 50,831
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

30. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES/PLEDGED DEPOSIT (continued)

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
(continued)

The Group measures the loss allowance for deposits and other
receivables at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. There has
been no change in the estimation technique or significant

assumptions made during the current reporting period.

The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of

deposits and other receivables is set out below:

30.

BE BANRERHME
WKIE, R AER @
Be - BARARH b ERRR
()
AEBEASER1200 A HBEER
BN S EAH R RS REMEKRA
B - NARE R - AR
Mk A B W (L -

o 5 8 MR O 0 L 5 9
BOBBMT

2022

HK$°000

BET T

At 1 April 2020 72020F4 A1 H -

Increase during the year F RGN 107

Exchange realignment ME H, 58 B 5

At 31 March 2021 7202143 H318 112

Increase during the year F g AN 489
Eliminated through disposal of subsidiaries % i@ & & [} B A &) i £ £

(note 43) (H1it43) (445)

At 31 March 2022 202253 H31H 156

At 31 March 2021, prepayments of approximately
HK$26,099,000 (equivalent to RMB22,000,000) (2022: nil)
and HK$7,414,000 (equivalent to RMB6,250,000) (2022: nil)
was made to suppliers for acquisition of machineries and an

intangible asset respectively.

Pledged deposit

Pledged deposit represents deposit pledged to borrower to
secure facilities granted to the Group. Deposit amounting
to approximately HK$30,870,000 (31 March 2021: nil) have
been pledged to secure long-term borrowing amounting to
approximately HK$30,870,000 (31 March 2021: nil) and are
therefore classified as non-current assets. The pledged deposit
carried fixed interest rate of 5.25% (31 March 2021: nil) per

annum.

2021538318 » 2 Bl 5t b8 & #
WMEEREERNHEREDEMNK
T8 #)7% #26,099,0007T (8% B A
R #22,000,0007T) (20224 : &)
N 757,414,000 (FHE K AR
6,250,0007T) (20224 : &) o

2EFER
EERFFRREERTERAND
TR UNEREBESHRE - 05
#30,870,0007 (2021434318 :
) MEREERTANESYBE
30,870,0007T (20214E3 8311 : &)
WERHEE AUSEAERSE
E-DHEBEGRNETFENEA
5.25% (202143 A318 : #) o
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31. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 31. RITERKRS
Bank balances earned interest at floating rates based on daily IRITHEBRES A RITERA RIR
bank deposit rates which range from 0.01% to 1.2% (2021: FENF RN FFFE001%E1.2%
0.01% to 1.2%) per annum. (20215 :0.01% &1.2%) BEFIE °
32. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES 32. EZENRERENRES
The following is an analysis of trade and retention payables at RERERR BEHRNKRBRE
the end of each reporting period: HIRESH T :
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade payables =E) AR 44,267 110,215
Retention payables FERRE & 27,281 27,612
71,548 137,827
The average credit period on purchases of goods is from 30 to HEEme FHEERA30£180H
180 days (2021: 30 to 180 days). The Group has financial risk (20214 : 30E180H) - REE T
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are 5] 51 7% @ B B IR BUR LAME (R FT B &
settled within the credit timeframe. The following is the aged NHREREEPRRAES - KBS
analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date HAR BHREMNFIERER QB
at the end of the reporting period: BHRERSTAT -
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
0 to 90 days 0£90H 43,565 92,157
91 to 180 days 91£180H 72 8,303
181 to 365 days 1812365H 538 4,277
Over 365 days 3658 A 92 5,478

44,267 110,215
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33. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 33. EstERAREMENARE
2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT IT

Accruals fEst B 14,874 24,224

Other payables (Note (3)) H b A R IE (F7 52 (a) 10,138 12,013

25,012 36,237

Note:

a) As at 31 March 2022, included in other payable of approximately
HK$8,897,000 (2021: HK$7,591,000) is payable to a director of
a subsidiary of the Company, which is unsecured, non-interest

bearing and repayable on demand.

Hrat -

a) 72022438318 © 4975 8,897,000
7C (20214 : % ¥7,591,0007T) By H
fh N RIB R EEIEE - N ERE
T Bk (8 2 /0 B AR B — K
RAEIZ—BREBMFIEA -

34. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 34. RITRHEMEE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Bank borrowings, guaranteed (note (i) R1TIEE - BIER (H17%0)) 27,950 133,682
Bank borrowing, unsecured (note (i)  RITIEE - EIEK (H1770)) - 1,186
__Totalbank borrowings RiTEER® 27950 134,868
Other borrowings, guaranteed HMEE - 2 5=R (W Z36)
(note (ii)) 30,870 12,335
Other borrowings, unsecured HmEE - \E| O a200))
(note (iii) - 6,628
__Total other borrowings AfefeEes 30870 18,963
58,820 153,831
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34. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 34. BITREMEE &)

Based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the BERERHEMHTEEERAE
loan agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment on I 2B LA (] 42 2 KB R G R0
demand clause as follows: TE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Within 1 year —F R 21,818 97,263
Between 1 and 2 years —EWE 28,662 19,938
Between 2 and 5 years —EhRF 8,340 36,630
58,820 153,831
Carrying amount of bank borrowings — H 7B ¥} & B KL
and other borrowings that are not —FRNEENRITEE

repayable within one year from the REMEERTE -

end of the reporting period but M ERERKEERK

contain a repayment on demand

clause 12,760 28,961
Carrying amount of bank borrowings 7B ¥ &5 AR BT —

and other borrowings that are FNEEREE

repayable within one year from the RERERGRN

end of the reporting period and RITEBERAMEER

contain a repayment on demand ZIRHEE

clause 15,190 48,105
Carrying amount repayable within one —FRNEZRTEE

year and do not contain repayment RERKER GRS

on demand clause BRmEE 6,628 49,158
Carrying amount that are not BAR—FNEER

repayable within one year and do TEEREXEER

not contain repayment on demand BRI BREE

clause 24,242 27,607

58,820 153,831

Amounts shown under current REEEEBE TR

liabilities C7feag= (34,578) (126,224)
Amounts shown under non-current FEmEBBEETIR

liabilities M &R 24,242 27,607
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34. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(i) The bank borrowings of approximately HK$27,950,000 (2021:
HK$77,066,000) were denominated in HK$ carrying interest at
variable-rate with an interest rate of 3-month Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 2% t0 2.75% (2021: 1.6% to 2.75%)
per annum, guaranteed by the ultimate holding company and its
subsidiaries.

As at 31 March 2021, the secured bank borrowings of
HK$28,003,000 (2022: nil) carried fixed interest rate of 4.35%
to 8.64% (2022: nil) per annum and HK$28,613,000 (2022: nil)
carried floating interest rate of Loan Prime Rate (equivalent to
approximately RMB23,605,000 and RMB24,120,000) (2022: (nil
and nil), guaranteed by the vice chairmen of the Group and the
subsidiaries’ credit were used for oversea trading and daily operation
respectively.

As at 31 March 2021, unsecured bank borrowing of approximately
2021: HK$1,186,000 (equivalent to RMB1,000,000) (2022: nil)
carried floating rate of Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) plus 0.6% per
annum.

(i) As at 31 March 2021, other borrowings of HK$11,500,000 (2022:
nil) and approximately HK$835,000 (equivalent to RMB704,000)
(2022: nil) are guaranteed by shareholders of a subsidiary of the
Group and carried fixed interest rate of 10% and 5.88% per annum
respectively.

As at 31 March 2022, other borrowings of HK$30,870,000
(equivalent to RMB25,000,000) (31 March 2021: nil) are secured
by deposit of approximately HK$30,870,000 (equivalent to
RMB25,000,000) and carried fixed interest rate of 8% (31 March
2021: nil) per annum.

(i)  Asat 31 March 2021, unsecured other borrowings of approximately
HK$6,628,000, (equivalent to RMB5,587,000) (2022: nil), carried
fixed interest rate of 4.79% to 8% (2022: nil) per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group obtained
new borrowings of approximately HK$62,562,000 (2021:
HK$87,597,000). The proceeds were used to finance the
Group's operations.

34. BITREMEE &)
Hiat -

(i) 497 #27,950,0007T (20214 : B #&
77,066,0007T) B8R 1T & B LA S ¥ 5
B R=EANBSHERITAERFE
([BERETRAERE]) NEFXR2%
£2.75% (20214F : 1.6%%2.75% )
RZEAIRET B - HREEBRARR
HMBRARER -

R2021F3A318 AEEEEFE &
MEAREEMERNGIEMRT
& &5 #28,003,0007T (20224 : )
(FR[E & F| R4.35%%8.64% (2022
F ) B) R B%28,613,0007T
(2022%F + &) (IRERZEEF X
BFBAETE) (HERHARE
23,605,0007T & A R #624,120,0007T)
(2022F - (BERE))  DRIARE
ISR ATEE -

M202143A318 » EIKPRITEE
#4975 %1,186,0007T (FHE RN AR
1,000,0007T) (20224 : %) IR EH &
BEAMNE((ERZEEANR]) 0F
B AR NG FIE0.6%t 2 ©

(i) M2021F38318 HMEEBEK
11,500,0007T (20224 : &) K 4781
835,000t (8 1 A K #704,0007T)
(02F - ) AAEE—HHBA
RAIM AR BRIE(R - Y5 BIRE E F F) R
10% 5% 5.88%t & °

MR2022%3F318  Hi &%
#30,870,000C (FHE RN AR
25,000,0005T) (202143 A318 : &)
fh #) 75 130,870,0007T (FHE R A E
#25,000,0007T) B 17 SRAEE R - W0
% E T F F E8% (202143 A318
)RR °

(iy  F20214F3A318  EMEERES
#4975 #6,628,0007T (HER AR
5,587,0007T) (20224 : &) 12 [E T &
=4 79%ZE8% (20224  E) 518 »

HE2022F3A31HILFEER » A&
B 1S 18 B 478 %62,562,0007T
(20214 : ##87,597,0007T) ° AT
BRIEAERIEEEERE -
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34. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 34. BITREMEE &)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has the following undrawn 202263 H318 » XEBEBUATR
borrowing facilities. RERHEERE -
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Floating rate expiring within one year ~—F RN E|HIZ ) F B F K51 B 172,241 155,738
As at 31 March 2022, the Group'’s banking borrowings with R20229F3A310 » AEEKmERE
carrying amount of HK$27,950,000 (2021: HK$77,066,000) 475 #27,950,0007T (20214F = & #&
are subject to the fulfillment of covenants relating to certain of 77,066,0007T) ] $R1T & B 72 8 ~F 62
the Group's financial ratios. If the Group were to breach the AEBETHBLEBEBANZHER
covenants the drawn down facilities would become payable EoMERAEEHERLERZ® B
on demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with MR ESE ABREERERE -
these covenants. Further details of the Group’s management AEEBFTHENEE P ELHE
of liquidity risk are set out in note 40. As at 31 March 2022, MR BRAEEEERES
none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had [, B & 3 — 25 SF 1B H A BT 5240 0 R
been breached (31 March 2021: nil) 20223A31H - HERBEHRAH
MR Ea I EE & (202193 A31H ¢
") -
35. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) JOINT 35. B () e % — B
OPERATIONS/A RELATED COMPANY B8 E N B K IE
The amounts due from joint operations were trade nature, EREEXBFREBESHE - &
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. EH - THEREEREE A&
The Group allows an average credit period of 180 days to its EHFEALERISOBNTFHEER
joint operations. 5 -
The amount due to a related company was non-trade nature, JEN—HEEARRIBEBIEEZE S
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. B IR NE R NRIRESRKEE -
The controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr. Jim Yin RARERBRRERBFEEREE
Kwan, Jackin, has beneficial and controlling interest in the NaEBE & RIERER -

related company.

The Group measures the loss allowance for amounts due AEBUESRN2EABHEES
from joint operations at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. B EA RIS EEBRIEN
The management considered that the amounts due from BlEEE - EEERAE BKEE
joint operations to be low credit risk and no recent history of X¥BRIENEERRBRIE - BifH
default, and thus no impairment losses recognised during the I HEIE L8R - B R E = 202243

year ended 31 March 2022. AMBIEFERT EERREESE -
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36. DEFERRED INCOME 36. IEEW A

HK$'000
BT T
At 1 April 2020 2020418 25,248
Additions during the year FRRE 2,103
Credited to profit or loss ST AEZE (4,575)
Exchange realignment ME W, S 2,070
At 31 March 2021 202143 H31H° 24,846
Additions during the year FARE 5,042
Credited to profit or loss A (4,978)
Exchange realignment PE W A 856

Disposals through disposal of FiRHEEEM LS
subsidiaries (note 43(a)) (B15#43(a)) (25,766)
At 31 March 2022 202293 A31H -

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, subsidiaries
in the PRC received subsidies from the government of the PRC
for financing research projects on aquatic products. Deferred
income is credited to profit or loss (i) when the subsidiaries
incurred expenditures and recognised them as expenses
on these projects and (ii) on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the assets related to the government
subsidies received. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
such deferred income was disposal of through the Disposal
(note 43(a))

37. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS
Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group
is obliged to make lump sum payments on cessation of
employment in certain circumstances to certain employees
who have completed at least five years of service with
the Group. The amount payable is dependent on the
employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group's retirement plans
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group. The
Group does not set aside any assets to fund any remaining
obligations.

37.

H E2022F K2021F3A31H IEF
& BB A E U B & BT
BB KEMRIEL - BEEKRAR
AT BREET ABREONMBRRE
EHRTUKERRAZEEEBNH
SCRF s BB B2 FT UK BY O BT 43 B
EHEMEBEEMNAFEAFHANZRSR
FEEaEEARE - RE 22022
FIANBILFE BRETKRAL
AL EEE (M5E43() ML & -

RBBRBEEE
REFEREGRD  AKEAES
THRATHELERRARSASET
RELAFRBOE TERESN—
EFRE-BNRARFZERED
REFE MRS FHME - LR
BAREEBERARGTE R ANREHRR
ENFER - AKBAUEBETM
BEUREABTEETREES -
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37. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 37. REBRBEELE @
(continued)
Movement of present value of provision for long service FERBSEANBHERAEZ SN
payment obligations is as follows: T ¢
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At 1 April R4H18 583 516
Charged to profit or loss EECEEN]CS 90 67
At 31 March M3H31H8 673 583
Movement of present value of defined benefit obligations is as ATEMNEENREZEBHNOT
follows:
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT
At 1 April iy = 583 516
Charged to profit or loss EEisE=lS 90 67
At 31 March M3A31H8 673 583
The provision represents the management’s best estimate of BiEREEENBRERREAEE
the Group’s liability at the end of the reporting period. As at B EMN REMET ° 20224 %2021
31 March 2022 and 2021, the amount is calculated based on #3310 @B HBRBE TR EZR
the principal assumptions stated as below: RETH
2022 2021
Salary inflation rate HFoERE 5% 5%
Discount rate PR E 0.87%-2.09%  0.09%-3.22%
The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of ATEMNETCRENKTHBER
the defined benefit obligation was carried out as at 31 March BEREECEBABAR R AR2022
2022 and 2021 by Graval Consulting Limited. The present FR2021F3R8318#ET - AEED
value of the defined benefit obligation of the Group was Al ErREERBEENE

measured using the projected unit credit method. FLUERTE o
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38. SHARE CAPITAL 38. lRA
Number of
shares  Share capital
BHEE ;&N
HK$'000
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &R EE % #0.01TH
ZER
Authorised ZEE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 R2020%F4 818 ~ 20214
and 2022 N2022%3H31H 1,560,000,000 15,600
Issued and fully paid EBTRHE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 20204818 - 20214
and 2022 202293 H31H 500,000,000 5,000
39. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. EXEBERE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank and other
borrowings disclosed in note 34, lease liabilities disclosed in
note 16, bank balances and cash disclosed in note 31, and
equity attributable to the owners of Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on the recommendations
of the directors of the Company, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

AEBMERERN BEAKENE
BEAKELE ARBEBEILLE
15 R R AR K SR AR B Bl R AL
AEENBEBRBEEEZFEARTT

ieh
= °

REEHE RSB B IEN T34
BRRTEREMESR 16T R
BEMHEERE WEMRENR
THBERAS URARBHEEB A
FEiGtEsm (RIED BITRARFME)

ARREZBYFENELARE -
EREEHN—HD ARBESF
EREARAREZREAREHR
Rk REARAEZTHEZR X
SEGEBERRMNERE  BITH
P& 17 Ko 1B B AR 1) LA Ko B AT B 15 3K
BOREEH TOERBEARARSE -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 40. €@ T A
Categories of financial instruments SRITENSE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT IT
Financial assets cREE
At amortised cost (including bank — LA# $#4 5K 751 7R
balances and cash) (PRERITESRRE ) 348,099 407,778
At fair value through profit or loss BAFEABR - 993
Financial liabilities =R
Financial liabilities stated at ABESH R AN 1R )
amortised cost cRbaE 155,380 337,742
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERKREEEERBR
The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include unlisted TEENFZEsRHEERBERE
equity investment, loan to an associate included in interest in RAIE - m— R RARERN
an associate, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, BERGIAR— g s MiEzs)
loan and interest receivable, bank balances and cash, trade and E 5 EWFRIE - 1R & E ith & WK
retention payables, accruals and other payables, amount due B EBRERREWRRE - RITHE
to a related company and bank and other borrowings. Details HREBES - B 5 EMNRERERMNR
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. & EFERARHEAMENRIE -
The risks associated with these financial instruments included FEAT — B A R RIE LA RERIT R
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and HMEE ZEeMIANTER
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are HERTPRE -BZEemMIA
set out below. The management manages and monitors these B RRBET SRR (B =R
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented kFERR) - FERRBRERSES
on a timely and effective manner. [2 B o 40 fa]RR % 55 R B A SR &

RTIX - EREERRERZEM
T R B L B - DA B AR K B I DA B AR
TRBITREENR -

Market risk e

(i)  Currency risk ()  EXmEE
Each individual group entity has its own functional BEEENEEERIEED
currency. Foreign exchange risk to each individual group WL EHE - RN HER
entity arises when future commercial transactions or SO RN EENBEIAE
recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a ERGEEENEEAER
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. EEEERSESIINERRE -
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong, the People’s REBEFEEERL HEAR
Republic of China (the “PRC") and the Philippines. AR ([E ) RIFEELE -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Market risk (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

40.

E@MIA %
MEERETERERKE (&)

5 ()
() EEELE &)
REEBH  AEEAINEE

denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are BENEBEEMNRBERNT :

as follows:
Assets
BE

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

uss$ ETT - 279

GBP ES7 12,391 65,504

RMB AR 895 244

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to US$, GBP and RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2021: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$ against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2021: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items, and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2021: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates.

A positive (negative) number below indicates an increase
(a decrease) in post-tax profit where HK$ strengthen 5%
against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of
HK$ against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss.

A& E B AT SN O I
ReAm BEEESEZEINE
R\ fx - A& R B E B
ERINE R o

BURE DT
AEBETEERET RER
ARE R BERE -

TRFINAREBE B LB
HNEE I 10 K2OR 5% (20214F ¢
5% ) KIBURKE © 5% (20214 :
5%)JhAEREBEEE A B R
2 HINES [ B BF BT {5 PR ) SRR
LE 2 - 155 1R [E Y SNE [E R 1Y
AIBATREE L 2 5T - BURE
AMEBREREENINEGE
EW¥IEE WARSREHRFIN
#E [ K& 5% (20214F : 5%)

e =
MEHBE -

THHER)BFRIEEL
RS THES % B B R R
B OB D) ° a7 5 1E B
E¥RES%  eHBEaE
EHREFNEREE -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

(i)

Annual Report 2021/22 “F 3k

.EFRT AR

HMEEREERERBEEE)

Market risk (continued) B R (E)
Currency risk (continued) () EEEEE)
Sensitivity analysis (continued) BRRE DT (8&)
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Effect on post-tax profit R HE N2
us$ ES - (12)
GBP g (517) (2,735)
RMB AR (37) (10)
Interest rate risk (i) FEmE

(if)

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate lease liabilities, pledged deposits
and bank borrowings (see notes 16, 30 and 34 for
details). The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider other
necessary action when significant interest rate exposure
is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowing (see notes 31 and 34 respectively). It is the
Group's policy to keep its borrowing at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR").

rEERHEEEEHES
&  BERERRRITEE (5

5 R M EE16 - 30%34) A F
B ERER - RSB B fiE
FIRE R - A - EIR/E
EEEFIRER - WAERTER T
IR B K 5 3 e R 2 e A 4%
LRI -

REENNEGEEBRITESRK
AN ﬁETT{ﬁEE}]EEQ/mEﬁJ\ B
R (5 Bl R FE31%34) °
%lﬂ’]ﬂlﬁ)’ﬂ%%ﬁcmﬁg
EEREQAFEFERRE -

AEEHBEHTREBMNEE
BREFAR AN TR E SRR
EE-f - AKENEERE
MERREBETNRELBRT
RZEHRE (ERBBRTEER
B RKE -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(ir)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 basis points (2021:
10 basis points) increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points (2021: 10
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 March 2022 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$86,000 (2021: HK$66,000). This is
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowing.

40.

€T A
BEERKRTERERRE (&)

5 ()
(i) FEE R (&)
BURE D

TS EE DT TR RE
X#ﬁilﬂmﬂzﬂﬁﬁ
DT TR AR TR & HA R 14
*iﬁm@mzﬂm¥m¢g
MAXN BERFEEBEE
A B 145 F & & b B 3 101
E2H (20214 - 10fEE2h) 3840
SR THIEEEE YR R
AR T REZ BB AT o

i F & EF T BR10ME & 2
(20214 - 10{E &%) BFATA
HMBERFETE AAEH
HE2022F3831HILFER
Br R 18 05 B R 3 &Y
75 #586,0007T (20214 : B
66,0007T) c EF ERHARA

SEMEERRITERLTBIRTT
fEEHFXER -



Annual Report 2021/22 4%} 199

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

40. €I B @)
HERBETERERKE (&)

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk EE R

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to AP EA2FT R B - 7A202243 A31
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due H AEBENKAEERR (X8
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and BN RGBFRBEITEMR
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from the carrying RASBIREERMERTFIEL)
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated REHZETBEMRAKRMAAEZERR
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the cREENRESEREAXRSEMR
amount of contingent liabilities in relation to guarantees issued BHEREENSABESE -

by the Group is disclosed in note 42.

REEERBREERE AEEE
BEECZKEREEEEEREE
EREHEEMERERF AR
PRERER A 45 36 e @ 380 R B 755 - AUtk
ME ARFAEERRAKEEE
RBREXBREL -

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

RESRUREAREGHNEEMS -
AEBECDRBEEMHEREELF
SEH AR HRMEEEE
AEERBEE - AKRERTFEEK
ERNEFPERETRBEEER -

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL
on an individual basis for customer with significant balances
and/or collectively by using a provision matrix, estimated based
on historical credit loss experience, as well as the general k/ZERNBLEEBEBREBRUK
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors B ALEMETEMNEBLER
operate. SRR BB B T AET -

shA B R B Y B SOA KB
ERLERANEME  AEBRE
BECEERERREBALER
BRATEN —REEMRR - HFEBE
EERETEREE M AR
BREREMRBRSTREESH
A E Y DAREGR 3E T A MR B 2 B
AHE R SHREEE

For loan to an associate and loan and interest receivable,
the Group determines the ECL on an individual basis,
estimated based on historical credit loss experience, as
well as the general economic conditions of the industry in
which the debtor operates. In addition, the Group reviews
the collectability of zero coupon bonds at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts.

Hie@MEENEERRERA
BREFEE AKEZT S EREH
RAFENHEMEREENRER
IR K B B BMEE B R R

IR A EERBRAMIER - Bl m
FEOARREERALAKEZEER

The credit risk of other financial assets is managed through an
internal process. The Group closely monitors the outstanding
amounts of other financial assets at amortised costs and
identifies any credit risk in a timely manner in order to reduce
the risk of a credit related loss. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.

Rk E AfREE -

HRRXZHFRAGEREENR
BEBEENSEESFRRT  BOR
BESHNEERRER °
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

Category
Epel)

Description

s

ERIEm
MEERETERERKE (&)

EEmAE (&)

72 B [ i 1 1= BB
AEERREERRERERERE
AR :

Basis for recognising ECL

BIAFAHMFEBERNEE

Performing

Rif

Doubtful

Default

[holt
28

Write-off

For financial assets where there has low risk of
default or has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition and that are
not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

RENRRNBDAERREERRRBEANE
MEFEEERENEREE (BRAE—HER)

For financial assets where there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but that are not credit impaired
(refer to as Stage 2)

BUREREEFERBEAEEANEMEIFEER
BENeMEE(WAE_MER)

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

E-ENZHEEMHHEENMGTARARREREE
ETFEER - eREENTGEAEERE (B
REZMER)

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

EORKRABHABARENGTHRE - AmA
SR ERIBEN R ERTE

12-month ECL

12{8 A FEMEEER

Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired

EHEHEEER -EEERE

Lifetime ECL — credit impaired

E2HMEHEEEE - HREERE

Amount is written off

OB 2 5
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. TR T B ()

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (continued)

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets, contract
assets and financial guarantee contracts, as well as the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk grades
are disclosed in respective notes.

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial asset at FVTPL
as disclosed in note 23 best represents its respective maximum
exposure to credit risk. The Group holds no collateral over the
balance.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 16% (2021:
30%) and 65% (2021: 68%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group'’s largest debtor and the five largest
debtors respectively.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is in Hong Kong, which accounted for 100% (2021:
57%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2022.

HMEEREERERBEEE)

EEmAE (&)

AEEE G a1Z B AR ()
AEBNEREE ANEENRM
BRERAENNEEEERE  URAEAK
BizEERRERNRAERRR
RAAREMT P IR EE -

I 23 E  AEEEATE
AAABRENEREEMNRE(EREE
REREZENEKREERR A%
%) 3 B B AE BR A A (T o

FR16% (20214 : 30% ) &65%
(20214 : 68% ) MNE 5 EWR AR
B RIEBAEERKERAR
AAREBEANKE WASEHEAE
EREERR -

AEEZECEE HHNEERR
EFREF  HR2022F3A31H
E 5N RTEEEE100% (20214 -
57%) °
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. €M T A @)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowing and obligations under finance leases and ensures
compliance with loan covenants.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021 the Group had not breached
any of the covenant clauses of its borrowings (note 34).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights within one year after the
reporting date. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derive from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

HMEEREERERBEEE)

mBELEE

EERRDECRRE AKEE
EPEBEEERRENNRE M
BeEBEY URKEEMNEKE
HES YWHERSRERIOE
Z - FEEERRITERNERR
MEMEEEFE UYHARETERZ

At
7 °

20224 N202143831H * A"EE
WiEERERENEE (FE34) 89
ZAEFR ©

TRFMAEEC 15 E EE FKD
FTEERABEREEABHNRT
BABIHA - ZRBEA K E A
ERTMNNZFERREBEER
BRRRERERR -ABNE &
BRITAAREERNRE QMK —
FRITEEERN  HEREREE
BHEFORITEEDHEAKFTNE
R -ZXBERENEEASRESR
E-RBREAR - WABRERZF
B K AIRIBRSBREBN R
=
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. €@ T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and policies HMERREEEERBEK(E)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBE LA (E)
Within Total
1 year or on 1to 2to More than  undiscounted Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
15/, AERRS
Liquidity table THESR REX 122F 1558 BRSE V€L BEf

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
BRTR BRTR BRTR BRTR BRI BRI

At 31 March 2022 R2022%38318
Trade and retention payables BARITERERRES 71,548 - - - 71,548 71,548
Accruals and other payables st R RN TR 25,012 - - - 25,012 25,012
Bank and other borrowings (note ) RITREMIEE (#/z2) 31,390 2410 2,337 - 66,197 58,820
Financial quarantee contract HBEREN 50,790 - - - 50,790 -
178,740 2,470 32,337 - 213,547 155,380
Lease liabiltes HEak 27,610 33,264 95,763 159,799 316,436 237,067
At 31 March 2021 R2021$3A318
Trade and retention payables BARMNTRERERNRES 137,807 = = = 137,807 137,827
Accruals and ofher payables i ERARAMENRE 36,237 - - - 36,237 36,237
Amount due to a related company BT —FAEH A RIZUR 9,847 = = = 9,847 9,847
Bank and other borrowings (note )  $R47 R M EE (#:2) 129,067 4630 25,653 - 159,350 153,831
Financial quarantee contract BBERAL 47,795 = = = 47,795 =
360,773 4,630 25,653 - 391,056 337,78

Lease liabilities HEaE 15,548 16,328 45,133 105,287 182,29 138,735
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Notes:

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “within one year or on demand” time band in
the above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2022, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amount of the bank borrowings amounted
to approximately HK$27,950,000 (2021: HK$77,066,000). Taking
into account the Group's financial position, the directors of the
Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The directors of the Company believe that the bank borrowings will
be repaid by monthly installments after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal
and interest cash outflows will amount to HK$28,910,000 (2021:
HK$79,053,000).

ii. The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest
rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

The amounts included above for guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the Group considers that it is more likely than not that no
amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this
estimate is subject to change depending on the probability
of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by
the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

40. €I B @)
HERBETERERKE (&)

B EZEE (F)

Bt

MAEREREGEEERNRITEER
REXEHASMTERAFIAT—FR
iR Bk W fE B - R20224F3 3
318 RWITEEZRUBR A B
#4976 #27,950,0007T (20214 : & &
77,066,0007T) © & & B 7 & B & B
BRI - RAREEL TR BIRITA
REITHEEREREZRENEEE &
ARIEEHERITEEBKRBER
BEMHTEEERRRERERR
BEADHEE - ER ASREK
B E w8 A7 %28,910,0007T
(20214 : 8 %79,053,0007T) °

18577 B 1 2 B9 BB 90 45 MR T
BRI E AR AT A 3EhT
A RABHIBHELASEN
gHE -

AEREFREOFTANESESRE
FHHREREERAKEREL
BHEAENZBERNESTE R
BRESHRNER ~KERA
RATEBARB LM EASHE
AR R GFRFEF HRIEE
RIBHBRMOAEEMETE @ MU A
MBI REERUFIAFEDN
TRELAFASGERZEEBEN

Eo
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. €M T A @)

Fair value measurement objective and policies

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices
or rates from observable current market transactions as input.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the management
establishes the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurement.

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period for recurring measurement, grouped
into Level 1 to 3 based on degree to which the fair value is
observable in accordance to the Group's accounting policy.

RFEFEEREREX
TREERERBENAFEIR
BAREEBRA REEMREBRNK
ABRBEMERXZMERE AR
BENMBARSRESNMETE © H
BRAESS —MBARE AR
JB3& A E M fh BB R AR
AERFE-

BEBEEUNFEISTEZEZHE
EZRFHE

TREHREBRTE 2O HiEH
REUEAEREBSHRZAFE
AR YRBASESHABRKER
NFEABRIEEDRRE N
EE=MHK-

31 March
3A31H
2022 2021
Level 3 Level 3
BE=M E=4
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial asset at FVTPL BRATEFABEN
SEEE
Unlisted equity investment PEIJE ETRIEIRE

in the PRC - 993
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. €M T A @)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the directors of the Company
determined that, for the unlisted equity investment in the PRC,
valuation under market approach to determine the fair value
was considered as more appropriate method to reflect the
latest financial performance of the unlisted equity investment
in the PRC. Hence, there had been a change in level of fair
value hierarchy from level 2 to level 3 in that year.

The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value
measurement of the financial assets on a recurring basis are
set out below:

RAFEFEEERBER(B)

BEERENUNFHEGTEZZHE
EBEZRFHE(E)

MR2021%F3A31H * R AR EZRTE
AR ELEMREREMS @ BT
MHEEETHEUNEBE R FERKSR
AREPEIEETRERE &R
FHERENESEBE R LAt A
TEERRZTFERE-_RERE
Y

TREJIUAREMEEEAESHME
EZRAFEMERZGETERE
ABE

Relationship of key
inputs and significant
Financial Fair value Valuation technique  Significant unobservable inputs to
instrument Fair value as at hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs  fair value
TERAMBREX
ERARTE EXTUEER TIRRBAUER
$BIA RTSIBHZATE ATESR BWAHE BARE DYEZEHBE

31/3/2022  31/3/2021
HK$'000 HK$'000

BETn BBt
Unlisted equity N/A 993 Level 3 Market approach-by () Enterprise value (i) The higher the
investment TER E= applying market multiples  { EV")-to-eamings EV-to-EBIT ratio, the
in the PRC from comparable before interest and higher the fair value.
B EmkE companies and adjusted taxation{ EBIT")ratio () MEEELR SHA
RE by marketability discount ~ of 39.5; and EfRm ATER
w5 HA ) CREE(CXE Be
~BRERATELR B SR RAEN

RAMTEEERER  (BREFARML () The higher of
BELITRELRE EH395: R marketability discount,

the lower the fair

(i) Marketability discount value.
of 15.8% (i) mERALERER
(i) mERBEEBEE & ATEAE
15.8%
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. €M T A @)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below had been determined based
on the exposure to unobservable inputs at the end of the
reporting period. For sensitivity analysis purpose, the sensitivity
rate is increased to 10% in the year ended 31 March 2021 as
a result of the volatile financial market.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, if the EV-to-EBIT ratio
of the unlisted equity investment in the PRC had been 10%
higher/lower, profit for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$94,000 while total equity would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$94,000 as a result of the
changes in fair value of financial asset at FVTPL.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, if the marketability
discount of the unlisted equity investment in the PRC had
been 10% higher/lower, profit for the year would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$18,000 while total equity would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$18,000 as a result of
the changes in fair value of financial asset at FVTPL.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial
assets and financial liabilities on recurring basis are as follows:

RAFEFEEERBER(B)

BEZBELNFHESEZEHE
EZRFE(E)

HE DT
TXHHEBRED>NIERREHR
AR B ABUER R METE -
ABRELNTMES BRER TS
BB BBURRE L RN A E20214F3
A31BIEFEEAZE10% -

HE2021F3A318 IEFE i =
FLETRERENCEBEYRE
RAAFLEEEATHI0% A
REAFEFABEZZEREEZ
N EESE - HEREF A5
4975 #594,0007T - T 48 1 25 15 1%
hn,E A 497 94,0007 ©

HE202153A31HILEE - &
B3 E AR B M B 8 1 I R
#0580 10% - R IE A FER
ABEZERMEEZ AFEZE
BUE N s R SR 1K
18,0007T * M 48 A% 78 #5360 >,/ 38 A
%75 %518,0007T °

NEEUEEERE=RAFEFE
ZETRMEERSRAMGEIHERNT -

Unlisted equity
investment in

the PRC

FEFELT

BERE

HK$'000

BT T

At 1 April 2020 M20206F471H =
Transfer into of level 3 EEFE = 1,012
Changes in fair value through profit or loss FABREZATEEY (102)
Exchange realignment ME W T 83
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3A31H 993
Disposal through disposal of subsidiaries BREEHBEATIMEE (1,026)
Exchange realignment PE 5 2 33

At 31 March 2022 202293 A31H =
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. €M T A @)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (continued)

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets, and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their fair values.

RAFEFEEERBER(B)

BEZEEUNFHEHISEBZEZHME
EZRFHEE)

ARBEERG NEEMBHRE
NILBHRARAROEM SR EE
ke@ABEMNREESRELAFER
=,

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had provided
the following guarantees:

41. COMMITMENTS 41. AP
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT TT
Capital commitments contracted for LA T S BERE A B
but not provided in the consolidated ¥R 2 5 1B R B EH
financial statements in respect of: B AR
— Acquisition of investment — R EY
properties 39,452 —
— Acquisition of plant and — YR B K A
equipment 1,758 -
— Acquisition of an intangible asset — iR EE - 4,449
41,210 4,449
42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42. RAREE

RBEHR  AREELATE
xR

2022 2021
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Guarantees in respect of performance FLBXEHFNEEF
bonds in favor of its clients BXm AER 50,790 47,795

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, it was not
probable that a claim would be made against the Group
under the relevant financial guarantees. The directors of
the Company have performed impairment assessment, and
concluded that there has been no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition of these contracts. Accordingly,
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12
month expected credit loss which is insignificant at the end of
the reporting period.

ARAREERL REMVBYHE
RAREEEHPARNAEETK -
ARREECETRENE LR
REVRERZEAHNUAER  EE
[ B I 4R R E IR 0 o H U RRE
R - ZBEERN2EANEREE
BRSHEENBRBEREN -
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(@)  Asreferred to in note 9, on 28 January 2022, the Group
discontinued its aquatic products business at the time
of disposal of BGI Marine Group. The net assets of BGlI
Marine Group at the date of disposal were as follows:

43. HEH B E
(@)  FRANFT FFOFT At - A202241 A
280 REER B EEXGF
EEBRIEKEER - FEXF
HEERNHEBBNEEFE

NN
Consideration received 2R E
HK$'000
BT
Cash received (equivalent to BUWIRE (BERLD
approximately RMB85,831,000) AR #85,831,0007T) 105,021
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control HAEZHENEERAEN
was lost: DR
HK$'000
BT T
Property, plant and equipment Wz - MR RF 97,108
Other intangible assets Hmhmp&E 1,736
Biological assets EYEE 9,574
Financial asset at fair value BAFER ABZES
through profit or loss TREE 1,026
Prepayment for acquisition of WHEIERB B ER
non-current assets TEfT5RIE 33,513
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 515
Deferred tax assets RERRIBEE 3,450
Inventories T8 5,144
Trade receivables Z S WA 32,669
Deposits, prepayments and other Re - BANRER
receivables H A fE W 3R IE 27,888
Amount due from an associate FE Bt 2 A R 5RIE 10,737
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RIS 18,456
Trade payables B S EMNFIE (24,100)
Contract liabilities aHaE (7,176)
Accruals and other payables FEET B N H A S 5RE (16,887)
Bank and other borrowings RITRHMEE (73,670)
Lease liabilities HEAE (663)
Tax payable FEFRIE (6,072)
Deferred income JEIEUR A (25,766)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIEAE (1,461)
86,021
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. HEM B A @)
(@)  (continued) (ay (#&)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB ARk :
HK$'000
BT T
Consideration received 2R E 105,021
Less: net assets disposed of B NENEEFE (86,021)
Add: non-controlling interests o IR i 56,254
Add: reclassification of foreign e ANERBE RENET S8
currency translation reserve 2,692
77,946
The gain on disposal is included in the profit for the year NP ORI - HEWEE
from discontinued operation as set out in note 9. BRERERIEEBNFER
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARNBESRANFEE
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration RENRE 105,021
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of Jil : HERRITESR LIRS (18,456)
86,565
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022,the Group (b) MEZE2022F3A318 It5F
disposed its entire interest on a subsidiary, /F3I|ZE /G4 & B AEBHEENRHERF
BIRATI("EFHEE"). The net assets of ZEFHEat the FIEFHEBRAR ([ES
date of disposal were as follows: HED N2 EiERE - EFHE

REEHHEMNEEFENT
Consideration received 2R E

HK$'000
BETT

Cash received (HK$1 rounded to zero) BUIRE (BEITUERAAAS) -
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. HEME 28 @)
(b)  (continued) by (&)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control HALZEHENEERAEBY
was lost: DHT
HK$'000
BT T
Inventories TE 15,694
Trade receivables Z 5 FE W RIE 8,590
Deposits, prepayments and other e BRNRIER
receivables H h fE U IR 4,443
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRS 877
Trade payables =) ANk (31,277)
Accruals and other payables FEET & A R H fh fE /1A (2,634)
(4,307)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—REMB RTINS :
HK$'000
BT T
Consideration received BRRE =
Less: net liabilities disposed of B EHENAEFE (4,307)
(4,307)
The gain on disposal is included in the profit for the year ANt EE10FT A HEWRD
from discontinued operation as set out in note 10. BREREEIEEFHFERT -
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBLATNRERE FE
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration ReRE =
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of & @ & HIRITE R LIRS (877)

(877)
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44. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option schemes of the
Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a written resolution of the Company
passed on 25 November 2015 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives to directors and eligible employees,
and will expire on 24 November 2025. Under the Scheme,
the board of directors of the Company may grant options
to eligible employees, including directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant
share options to outside third parties for settlement in respect

of goods or services provided to the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue during any 12-month period, without prior

approval from the Company’s shareholders.

Options may be exercised at any time during a period as the
Board may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from
the offer date subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof, and provided that the Board may determine the
minimum period for which an option has to be held or other
restrictions before its exercise. The exercise price is determined
by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of

grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

No share option has been granted since the Scheme has been
adopted. As at 31 March 2022, there are no outstanding

share options issued under the Scheme (2021: nil).

4. URODBERNINRS

ARNA T BB AL SR IR T E

AARR BT S ([ZatE) Ty
R #% AN A R2015%F11 8258 £
EZRMEERAERESIREER
BRENEERAERETEML R
202511 A24H 2 8 - 1R & 3% &t
g - ARREEEMEERKESR
(BREARAREMBRARES) K
LR A RIB AR B o HLt
KRR A TR EINEE = F IR E
A& A LAE 1 M) AR A B A B M sk
AR 7% -

AR RBBIRE LI E  RIRE
ZAt A RE R B AR RO A2
BIBBBERARFRNEMRKRE %
TTIRIDENI0% - REARBMIR =
SR REFMFREREMALE
R ATRER H M BB AR B T
B TETBROBME NMEFEEALRF
PAERN12{E A R 2 TR EI1% o

BREATRESSREETH M
RERBEITE ETBBBEELN
HEAREET T F (A2 B G UR AT &
Ib) RS EES A ETEREET
FRIAERZEN RS E MR
IEERARRESETE  BAE
BRUTEREE )RR ARGODRE
HBEBOWTE: (RO EER
) B HA AT AL A 3 B A FH U (E
iR R R R D B EE ©

HRZAEE RS MERHE
A% #E o FR20229F3 8318 » RiE %G
S ED BT RITE 2 B
(2021%F : &) »
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45. BHA RSB
(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial (a) BRERE MBI E AT I
statements, during the year, the Group entered into FRAE N - AN B F A B R
transactions with related parties as follows: FEIMN TR 5
2022 2021
Related party Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
)bl REME BET T BT T
Hong Kong Qing Chuang Limited Loan interest income
(note i) &GSV ON
BERBRIBRDA (Brati) 1,048 208

Guangzhou Qingchangshe Shangye Expense reimbursement
Operating Management Co., Ltd. B R4

(note i)
BMBAIHERELERE
AR AR (H72i) - 2,729
Windmill Street Development Limited  Interest income on bond
EEVSCION 621 7,274
Yee Hop — Amain JV Service income
AR A A 1,493 -
Pioneer National Development Limited  Depreciation of right-of-use asset
(note (1)) EREEENE
HEERBRLOR (H:20) 1,247 995
Interest expense of lease liabilities
MEAENNSRX 55 37
Asia Time Development Limited Depreciation of right-of-use asset
(notes (i) and (i) EREEENE
BRERBR QA (B0 %)) 544 -
Interest expense of lease liabilities
MEABENHNSRX 31 -
Rental expenses (classified as
short-term leases in years
ended 31 March 2021)
MeM% (HE202143A31H
FFEESEREHEE) - 540
Hilton Development Limited Depreciation of right-of-use asset
(notes (1) and (i) EREEERE
SBERERRR (HZF0LEG)) 915 -
Interest expense of lease liabilities
HERENHNBRX 52 -
Rental expenses (classified as
short-term leases in years
ended 31 March 2021)
e (B%E202143A31H
EFEENRARYEE) - 912
Land Treasure Development Limited Depreciation of right-of-use asset
(notes (i) and (ii)) FRAEEENE
MBBERER DR (WE0)R(0)) 799 -
Interest expense of lease liabilities
HEAENHERX 46 -

Rental expenses (classified as
short-term leases in years
ended 31 March 2021)
BeM% (BE202143A31H
HFEENBEREHEE) - 804
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 45. BB AR5 (&)

(a) (continued) (a) (&)
Notes: At -
i. The above transaction was conducted at terms determined i. b A7 5 4R A o [ B e O
on a basis mutually agreed between the Group and the A 13 & < £ 4 7 TF & i FOE
related parties. The directors of the Company have control T RRBIESRN LA s
and direct beneficial interest in the above mentioned related HEERREEEwER -
parties.
ii. The above tenancy agreements were renewed on 1 April i i A8 & 1 A B0 AH B 2021
2021 for further 3 years lease terms. Details were set out in FAANBE—FBEE3F-F
the announcements dated 1 April 2021. BB EN B A202144A8
1HHRE -
(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) FEEBAENFHMH
The directors of the Company consider that they and RRREERR/BER—BE
one employee are the key management personnel of the BRAEENEIEEEAER -
Group. Other than remuneration paid to the directors PR AP R 1 1P R S 15 T A
of the Company as disclosed in note 11, the Group NAEBESENHM 2 AEH
paid significant compensation to one key management RE 220224 k2021463 A31
personnel during the years ended 31 March 2022 and BIEFERM—RETEEREAE
2021, details of which are disclosed in note 12. SENESEE-A T = 4N

71120




Annual Report 2021/22 4%} 215

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A831HIEFE

46. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 46. R KE R 5 &

Defined contribution plans REMREE

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees KEBARBEMBGEKEER
in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately VoREEE A FEEEEAE
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of BESHTFE BIFEAZEGHE
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, SEE ASEHZEBERILEXNEH
capped at HK$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which 5% (LR %S A B %1,5007T) M58
the contribution is matched by employees. BestEEEf - miESMER

Lo R IRARE]

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities in the BEFEEHAERNMRTE  ~EH
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group in this country participate PN B & B B A B 2 B4 FE BUT iR
in respective government retirement benefit schemes (the RERMEE (TRHED - &k - KB
“Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to NARIAERGEIHTK  BEEREER
contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of BRARBRIREES - HEIHRTY
the eligible employees. Contribution made to the Schemes is 1R 3% B 22 SKOFT R RE B9 3 AR 3 B K
calculated based on the certain percentages of the applicable AHETEALFE - KEEHF
payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements in the g —EERBEEINFHE
PRC. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the PR B R

Schemes is to pay the ongoing required contribution under the

Schemes.

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities in RBEFEEFAERNMBRTE AK
the Philippines, the subsidiary of the Group in this country ERAEMHB AR EEELE
participates in respective Social Security System (the “System”) RESBX(BRD Bt WEBLQ
whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute to the RIAMBRER  REERKEEDN
System to fund the social security benefits of the eligible HEREBRREHES BRHX
employees. Contribution made to the System is calculated TIRIBSERE E KRR HE A F
based on the certain percentages of the applicable payroll M A ETEDLFTE - AN&EH
costs as stipulated under the requirements in the Philippines. HEZNE—STEBRBEEREIN
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the System is SEFT R MK o

to pay the ongoing required contribution under the System.

The total cost charged to profit or loss amounted to HZE202263A318BILFEE - Ri8
approximately HK$9,402,000 (2021: HK$10,128,000) of z FBR B9 48 5K 78 49 75 #69,402,0007T
which approximately HK$997,000 is from discontinued (20214F : #%10,128,0007T) @ Erf
operation for the year ended 31 March 2022. The payment #)75 #997,0007T R B B AR IE %7 -
represents contributions payable to these schemes by the ZEREAAEER AT EIMEE
Group in respect of the current accounting period. (R L0k /4

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group PREZE20224F 202193 H318 IEF
has no forfeited contributions from the pension schemes B AEBTEREERSFTEN
(i.e. contributions processed by the employees who leave the R (BIR T2 F B2 Al
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contribution) available BERFTEIMEBMEAMNERT) A
to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future BB L>ERKRKRFERRKSEE
years. R o
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 47. 7R 7)Y B IS AR R 3R
THE COMPANY

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENBERARKRE 14,808 14,808
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UL B B A R FIR
(note a) (Kiita) 112,720 113,932
Prepayments TERTFRIE 133 148
Tax recoverable AT 4 B 74 18 - 17
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 173 475
113,026 114,572
Current liabilities REaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries (note a)  FETBHE A RIFIAE (f7ta) - 870
Other payables and accruals HEMENFIAERERTER 875 1,456
875 2,326
Net current assets REBEEFE 112,151 112,246
Net assets EEFHE 126,959 127,054
Capital and reserve EAXR#EE
Share capital [N 5,000 5,000
Reserves (note b) 1 (W1 7b) 121,959 122,054

Total equity R 126,959 127,054
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

47. 7D BB B AR R 3R ()

Notes: Htat -
(a)  The amounts are unsecured, non-interesting bearing and repayable (a) ZELBERAEER THERRKREX
on demand. B -
(b) Movements in reserves (b) f#EEE2H
Share Merger  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R AR E EOtEE RitEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T AT T BT BT
As at 1 April 2020 202054 A 18 112,583 14,808 (5,234) 122,157
Loss and total comprehensive FAEERZERZEE
expense for the year - - (103) (103)
As at 31 March 2021 M202143HA31H 112,583 14,808 (5,337) 122,054
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZERSEE
expense for the year - - (95) (95)
As at 31 March 2022 M202243A31H 112,583 14,808 (5,432) 121,959
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48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 48. AATREEKMBE QA
COMPANY
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 720224 2021638318 * XA F]
and 2021 are as follows: MEBARFEHIINT
Place of
incorporation/  Place of Issued and fully paid share capital/ Percentage of equity interest and
Name of subsidiaries establishment  operation registered capital voting power attributable to the Company Principal activities
AL/
HWEARAR RN Beny BRTRMERA/ZREL KAREERERRAEEAL E2:3 3]
2022 2021 2022 2021

Direct  Indirect Direct  Indirect
i Gk E# 3

Yee Hop Engineering Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Engineering and construction
HK$14,800,001 HK$14,800,001
HAIE & & vt vt - 100% - 100%  IEREE
14,800,0017C 14,800,0017C
Yee Hop Construction Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Construction contracting
HK$1,000 HK$1,000
RREE ¥ Eit ERRETL000T  ERRER0007 - 100% - 100%  BEER
Y H. Foundations Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares = 100% = 100%  Engineering and construction
HKS$1,000 HKS$1,000
ERiE Bt £33 LRRAEKI000T  EBRAK00T - 100% - 100% IRREZ
Full Tech Equipment and Machinery Inc. Philippines Philippines Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Provision of logistic services to
PHP21,250,000 PHP21,250,000 construction and mining sites
Full Tech Equipment and Machinery Inc. f2e34 Fl23-1 £ER21,250000  £ER21,250,000 = 100% = 100%  ABRERFBMERENE
FRELZ FRELZ TR

Shenzhen BGI Fisheries Sci & Tech Co., Ltd.* ~ PRC PRC RMB 100,000,000 RMB 100,000,000 - - - 70% Investment holding, research and

RIERGHRRER A note 0) (note (d) development and breeding,
sales and trading of aquatic
products

RIEREHRERAE (H0) 41 hE AR100,000,0007C AR 100,000,007 - - - 0% RERR REREE HER

(Wi(e) BEKER

Zhenjiang Kehua Fishery Development Co., PRC PRC RMB 10,000,000 RMB 10,000,000 - - - 70%  Breeding and trading of aquatic
U BIREREEEERAA (note (d) products
(note (¢)

BTHERXBRARDA M) EF hE ARH100000007  ARH10,0000007 - - - 0% EEREEKER

(Wit)
Hainan BGI Marine Sci & Tech Co,, Ltd.* PRC PRC RMB 10,000,000 RMB 10,000,000 - - - 46%  Research, breeding and trading of
BRENGFHRER R Anote 0) (note (d) (note (3) aquatic products
EHENETHRARDA (H20) 41 hE ARH100000007  ARH10,0000007 - - - 4%  HE EEREEAER
(W) (Wity)

BGI Aquatic Product (HK) Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS$ 1,553,860 HKS$ 1,553,860 - - - 70%  Trading of aquatic products
(note (d)

ERKE(BR)BRAA B B EB1553860T 1,553,860 - - - 0%  BEKER
(Wite)

BGI Academy of Marine Sciences* PRC PRC RMB 1,000,000 RMB 1,000,000 - - - 70%  Research and development on
RYTEREERER Mote (0) (note (d) breeding and cultivation of

aquatic species

RITEREERRR Wio) EP HE AR¥1,000000T  ARH1,000,0007 - - - 0% EEFRREEKENE

(W)

Zhenjiang Huayou Ecological Agriculture PRC PRC RMB 10,000,000 RMB 10,000,000 - - - 70%  Breeding and trading of aquatic
Sci & Tech Co,, Ltd.* (note (d) products
BILREERUMRERAR
(note (c))

FIERERRRNRERAA W) +E HE ARK10000000  AR¥10,000,0007 - - 0% BEREEAER

(W)
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48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 48. AR EEM BT (@)
COMPANY (continued)

Place of
incorporation/  Place of Issued and fully paid share capital/ Percentage of equity interest and

Name of subsidiaries establishment  operation registered capital voting power attributable to the Company Principal activities
AL/

il Pk RIMEH BEnY BRTRARERA/HREA EAABERERRAEE AL ITEH

2022 2021 2022 2021

Direct  Indirect Direct  Indirect
BB 6 i B

BGI Zhenjiang Detection Co., Ltd.* PRC PRC RMB 4,199,000 RMB 4,199,000 - - - 70%  Provision of laboratory test services
BITLXRAFR A note () (note (d) and sales of aquatic products
BIEARAERAR W) HE HE ARMB4199.000  AKH4,199,000 - - - 0% REARIFREREE
(Wit) KER
Jiangsu Yihua Food Co., Ltd.* PRC PRC RMB 10,350,000 RMB 10,350,000 - - - 70%  Processing and trading of aquatic
LA a%RAAR A note () (note (d) products
TERERRERAAHit0) HE HE ARE10350000  AR%10350,0007C - - - 0%  MIREEKER
(Wit)
Hainan Haichang Prawn Breeding Co., Ltd.*  PRC PRC RMB 2,550,000 RMB 2,550,000 - - - 35% Breeding and trading of aquatic
BEEEHTEEAR A note 0) (note (d) (Hi) products
BEEEHREEERAAWH0) HE HE ARM2,550,0000  AKH2,550,000 - - - 3% BEREEKER
(Hit) (Hit)
Guangzhou Qingchuang Heaven and PRC PRC RMB 20,000,000 RMB 20,000,000 - 63% - 63%  Sub-leasing of premises
earth Commercial Operation
Management Co., Ltd.*
ENEARNEXELERERAA
(note (¢)
BMNBEIRMEEELERERAA & HE AR%20,000,000T  AR™%20,000,0007C = 63% = 3%  ARME
(Wit)
Guangzhou Qingchuang ideal Commercial PRC PRC RMB 15,000,000 RMB 15,000,000 S 70% = 70%  Sub-easing of premises
Operation Management Co., Ltd.*
ENEAREEEELERERAA
(note (c))
ENBARERXELERARAR ik HE ARH15,000000  ARH15,000,0007C - 70% - 0% HENE
(Hit)
Notes: Bit
(@) The subsidiary is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of BGI Marine with (@ MWEBRARAEXNEIIZEHANW
effective equity interest attributable to the Group of 46%. BAR HEAKRERLEERRE
46% °
(b)  The subsidiaries are non-wholly owned subsidiaries of BGI Marine by MBRARAERESFIEZEHEGMH
with effective equity interest attributable to the Group of 35%. BAR HMAEANEERELERRE
35% °
() These entities are registered as a private limited company under the (0 ZEEBRBETEZEIZEZLALA
PRC law. BRAT -
(d)  These entities were disposed of on 28 January 2022 following the (d) ZEEENEEEEERT202F1A

Disposal. 28HE ©
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48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 48. KRR EEM B A T (&)

COMPANY (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

* Translation of Chinese name for identification purpose only.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other
subsidiaries that are not individually material to the Group.
The principal activities of these subsidiaries are sales of
aquatic products and investment holding. A summary of these
subsidiaries are set out as follows:

ARABEERR ERIIHAEE
MHBRAREEREAEENEE
KEERAB - ARAEFRAR -
REE KB QR B S
BILE -

* R TR B R E R -

RBEHRR  AEEHREGHAKE
= @B TERNEMMBAR -
ZEMBRAAMEIEEB R EK
EmhREERERK- - ZFWE QM
RSN

Number of subsidiaries

MEARHE
2022 2021
Principal activity  Principal place of FTEE I
business
FEEK
Investment holding - Hong Kong — B 3 2
KEER — The British Virgin —RBEZRHS
Islands (the “BVI") ((EBELZES])) 8 8
Inactive - Hong Kong — B 4 4
G —The PRC —HE 2 4
~The BVI —REBELES 1 1
— Vietnam — B 1
— Australia — BN - 1
- Laos —ZB - 1
19 21

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
subsisting at the end of both years or at any time during both
years.

BEMERIMFEAREAER - M
BRAAMERTENTENELRE
=
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48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group that has non-controlling interests that are

material to the Group:

Place of incorporation/
establishment and

Proportion of ownership interest

Proportion of voting power

Annual Report 2021/22 “F 3k

48. AATFTEME QT (&)

TRINTHEBEAEEMSBEK
BB RENAREFZENE
NEZFHIE

Loss attributable to

Accumulated

Name of subsidiary principal place of business held by non-controlling interests  held by non- controlling interests non- controlling interests non-controlling interests
ETAWE A FERERREN FERBEREN
HELARER BREZEXHE fadRELA RE&LH FERESRLEEE ZiEERER
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
% % % % HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
A8Tn  aeTR | MR %R
BGI Marine The PRC - -
(note i) 30% (note ) 30% (21,091) (10,254) - 44,859
ERE% i - -
(i) (Wi
Individual immaterial The PRC
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interest N/A NA N/A NA (1,556) (193) 838 1,851
ERFARERNENE  HE
EXNEAR TER TR TER TER
(22,647) (11,047) 838 46,710
Note: Hiat -

BGI Marine was disposed of on 28 January 2022 following the

ERGHFRNEEFEIERTE202291 A

Disposal. 28H F A -

2022 2021

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BT T BEET T

Non-current assets EMEEE = 104,051
Current assets MBEE - 176,857
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE - (52,453)
Current liabilities mEN A E - (144,274)

Equity attributable to owners NATHER AEEERS

of the Company - 39,322
Non-controlling interests* FEVEAR A - 44,859

221
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48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 48. AATEEMB AT (&)
COMPANY (continued)
Period ended Year ended
28 January 31 March
2022 2021
BZE HZE
20224 20214
1H28H 3A31H
IEFE WFE
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue Wz 92,048 192,588
Expenses = (186,135) (223,380)
Loss for the period/year HIAFREE (94,087) (30,792)
Loss attributable to owners ARREE AEREE
of the Company (72,996) (20,538)
Loss attributable to non-controlling IR S PR B 1B
interests* (21,091) (10,254)
Loss for the period/year BN, FAEE (94,087) (30,792)
Net cash inflows from operating KEEBRBRESRAFE
activities 24,445 1,083
Net cash outflows used in investing WEEB AR F8E
activities (10,637) (21,675)
Net cash inflows/outflows from mEESEE, (FTA)
(used in) financing activities WERA R R (5,700) 27,607
Net cash inflows BWEMAFHE 8,108 7,015
* The amounts included net assets or loss attributable to E ZEBEBBEEXNEFEWE QR IEE

non-controlling interests of subsidiaries of BGI Marine. s FEEREE -
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49. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 49. i ZEE 4 vEBYE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRENWAEBRETHELE LB
arising from financing activities, including both cash and EEPHFE RERASRERSE
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities FoMEITDEECEBBERBAL
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will HROBERNGEEHRERNERS
be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as HAREBTHRERNZEAE -

cash flows from financing activities.

For the year ended 31 March 2022: B E2022F3A31HLLFE :
Non-cash changes
FRe49
Financing Finance Newlease ~ The Disposal Exchange
1141201 cashflows  costsincurred  arrangements (noted3())  realignment 31/3/2022
WNE FELRE HESE NE
4B1R  HERERE BE TRERE (H¥3E43(a)) EX®E 3A31H
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

BNT T BRI BRTT BRT BNTT ENTT BNT T

Bank and other RITRAMEE (W54

borrowings (note 34) 153,831 (21,341 - - (73,670) - 58,820
Interest payable JERTIE G AR B

(indludedin Accruals R ERFE)

and other payables) 2,898 (10,191) 7293 - - - -

Amount due toa JER—RHBAR-%
director of asubsidiary SR (G A ezt
(included in Accruals BRREMEMNFE)

and other payables) 7,591 1,306 - - - - 8,897
Amount due toarelated  FER—F BB A FIZE

company 9,847 (9,847) - - - - -
Lease liabilities HEaR 138,735 (8,319) 3781 104,414 (663) (881) 231,067

312,902 (48,392) 11,074 104,414 (74333) (881) 304,784
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49. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 49. i Z8E4 B BYE

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued) (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2021: BHZE2021F3A318 LFE ¢
Non-cash changes
FREEY
Financing Finance New lease Net-off with Exchange
11412020 cashflows  costsincurred —— amangements  rental deposit realignment 317312021
20205 MELHE ik 1%
4N HERERE R HEERR ol i 3f31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AETT AT BT BETT ST BT AETT

Bank and other BORAMER W4

borrowings (note 34) 196,018 (46,289) - - - 4102 153,831
Interest payable RS GIAE B

(included in Accruals R ERFE)

and other payables) 1,748 (8,666) 9,816 - - - 2898
Amount due toa ER-AHBAR-%

director of asubsidiary ~ EFHIFE (F AT

(included in Accruals BRREMEMNZE)

and other payables) 5,485 2,106 = = - - 7,591
Amount duetoarelated  JENT —TEEB A AR
company - 2,129 - - 718 - 9,847
Lease liaiiis BERE 8398 (6457) m 136,168 - 28 13873
211,649 (56,577) 10,158 136,168 7118 4386 312,902
50. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 50. T EFHERS
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered REE2022F3A31B LFE A%
into new arrangements in respect of office properties and BEmmAMERAET LT -
motor vehicle. Right-of-use assets, investment properties FRAEEE BREWELRHEESE
and lease liabilities of approximately HK$9,786,000 (2021: o B4 &5 #9,786,0007T (20214 :
HK$1,311,000), HK$94,628,000 (2021: HK$134,857,000) and 75 #1,311,0007T) -~ /& 94,628,000
HK$104,414,000 (2021: HK$136,168,000) respectively were 70 (20214 : /& #134,857,0007T) &
recognised at the commencement of the lease. 75 #104,414,0007T (20214 - B
136,168,0007T) B 7 1 & 7 1A s 7
R
During the year ended 31 March 2021, a rental deposit of B E2021F3A31HLELFEE  —H
approximately HK$7,118,000 (equivalent to RMB6,000,000) A AREXRAEESIMHEHESES
(2022: nil) was paid by a related company on behalf of the #)75%7,118,0007T (1HE KN AR

Group. 6,000,0007T) (20224 : #&) -
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hFHBEHSE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS P
For the year ended 31 March HZ=3A318IEFE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BB BB BETT BETT
(Re-presented)  (Unre-presented)  (Unre-presented)  (Unre-presented)
(EF25) (LEEH2H) (UREFZH) (LESHE25)

Continuing operations BEREEY

Revenue Wz 736,003 863,865 980,053 600,288 539,295
Cost of revenue W B A (632,069) (764,088) (870,409) (484,009) (452,802)
Gross profit ES 103,934 99,777 109,644 116,279 86,493

Gain from changes in fairvalue ~ £MEELFEZSH 2
of biological assets less costs to Weas A & AR AR

sell - - 13,196 410 -
Other income and gain = NS € 9,597 40,829 45,803 1,933 1,896
Administrative and other expenses T & E At 52 (66,087) (68,592) (110,389) (65,583) (51,372)
Selling and distribution expenses ~ $5% % X (223) - (21,177) (1,286) -
Impairment losses of financial SREEREEE
assets (2,437) (559) (1,996) - -
Share of result of an associate At —ABEAREE 3,574 19,024 1,175 (@) 76
Finance costs BB KA (7,101) (4,804) (7,576) (1,548) (1,173)
Profit before taxation BRI 41,257 85,675 28,680 50,201 35,920
Income tax expense FrEfims (8,251) (7,012) (6,174) (10,481) (5,768)
33,006 78,781 22,506 39,720 30,152
Discontinued operations BAIEER
Loss for the year from BERIEBZEA
discontinued operation e (16,141) (40,511) - - -
Profit for the year FRE 16,865 38,270 22,506 39,720 30,152
Other comprehensive income FREMZENR
(expense) for the year (F%) 0 17,815 (12,016) 4,079) 3,792
Total comprehensive income for ~ FR2E K AE
the year 16,955 56,085 10,490 35,641 33,944
As at 31 March M3A31H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’OOO HK$’OOO HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Non-current assets ERBBE 486,640 505,172 299,638 264,863 108,104
Current assets REEE 391,231 460,793 495,096 403,921 278,820
Current liabilities ik JE=NIt (149,467) (328,957) (372,311) (268,980) (99,588)
Net current assets mBEEFE 241,764 131,836 122,785 134,941 179,232
Total assets less current BERBRLE
liabilities =L 728,404 637,008 422,423 399,804 287,336
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (254,226) (193,199) (37,373) (41,312) (6,556)
Net assets BEFE 474,178 443,809 385,050 358,492 280,780
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In this annual report (other than the Independent Auditor’s Report
and Financial Information), unless the context otherwise requires,
the following expression shall have the following meanings:

“2022 Financial Year”

“2021 Corresponding
Year”

“AGM”

“Articles”

"BGI Marine”

“BGI Marine Group”

“Birmingham Property
Project”

“Board”
"BV
“CG Code”

“Company”

“connected person(s)”

“Controlling
Shareholder(s)”

"Directors”

for the year ended 31 March 2022

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Annual general meeting of the Company

the Articles of Association of the
Company, as amended from time to time

Shenzhen BGI Marine Sci & Tech Co. Ltd,
a company incorporated in the PRC and a
former indirect subsidiary of the Company

BGI Marine and its subsidiaries

a project for the development of a
residential property which consists 304
apartments situated at Windmill Street,
Birmingham, the United Kingdom

the board of Directors of the Company
the British Virgin Islands

the Corporate Governance Code

Yee Hop Holdings Limited, an exempted
company incorporated in Cayman Islands
with limited liability, the shares of which

are listed on the Stock Exchange

has the meaning ascribed to it under the
Listing Rules

has the meaning ascribed thereto under
the Listing Rules and, in the context of
the Company, means each of Mr. Jim,
Mr. Chui and JJ1318

the director(s) of the Company
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“GBP”
“Group”

HHK$N
“Hong Kong” or “HK"

“JJ1318"

“Listing”
“Listing Rules”

“Main Board”

“Model Code”
“Mr. Chui”

“Mr. Jim"”

“PHP"
“PRC"

"Prospectus”

"RMB”

“SFO”

British Pound, the lawful currency of UK
the Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC

JJ1318 Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI, is wholly
owned by Mr. Jim and is a Controlling
Shareholder

the listing of the Shares on the Main
Board on 18 December 2015

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

the main board of the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming (#REVAR), an Executive
Director and a Controlling Shareholder

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin (E#Ef), an
Executive Director and a Controlling

Shareholder

Philippines Peso, the lawful currency of
the Republic of Philippines

The People’s Republic of China

the prospectus in relation to the Shares
Offer of the Company dated 8 December
2015

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong)

Annual Report 2021/22 “F 3k
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“Share Option Scheme”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Shares”

“Shares Offer”

"Stock Exchange”

“Yee Hop
Construction”

“Yee Hop Engineering”

“YH Global”

“YH Global Group”

the share option scheme adopted by
the Company pursuant to the written
resolutions of the Shareholders of the
Company passed on 25 November 2015

holder(s) of the Shares of the Company
from time to time

Shares issued by the Company, with a
nominal value of HK$0.01 each

the public offer and placing of totaling
125,000,000 new Shares of the Company
at the offer price of HK$1.00 under the
Prospectus

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Yee Hop Construction Company
Limited GREEEAFMRAF]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company

Yee Hop Engineering Company Limited
(EATREARRAA), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company

YH Global Trading Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company

YH Global and its subsidiaries and
associates (other than members of BGI
Marine Group”
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